

#### WestminsterResearch

http://www.westminster.ac.uk/research/westminsterresearch

Islam and Democracy. Prospects and Possibilities. A Critical Analysis of the Theory of the Religious Democracy of Dr Abdulkarim Soroush

#### Aminullah Habibi

Faculty of Social Sciences and Humanities

This is an electronic version of a PhD thesis awarded by the University of Westminster. © The Author, 2011.

This is an exact reproduction of the paper copy held by the University of Westminster library.

The WestminsterResearch online digital archive at the University of Westminster aims to make the research output of the University available to a wider audience. Copyright and Moral Rights remain with the authors and/or copyright owners.

Users are permitted to download and/or print one copy for non-commercial private study or research. Further distribution and any use of material from within this archive for profit-making enterprises or for commercial gain is strictly forbidden.

Whilst further distribution of specific materials from within this archive is forbidden, you may freely distribute the URL of WestminsterResearch: (<u>http://westminsterresearch.wmin.ac.uk/</u>).

In case of abuse or copyright appearing without permission e-mail <u>repository@westminster.ac.uk</u>

# **Islam and Democracy Prospects and Possibilities**

A Critical Analysis of the Theory of Religious Democracy of Dr Abdulkarim Soroush

## Aminullah Habibi

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirement of the University of Westminster for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

January 2011

### Table of Contents

Acknowledgement	1
Synopsis	2
Introduction	
Methodology	
Chapter 1	
Islam and Democracy: Plausibility and Challenges	
Chapter 2	
The Iranian Islamic Revolution	
The Islamic Government	65
Challenges of the Iranian Islamic System	77
Chapter 3	
Soroush and Islam	
A Thorough Analysis of Soroush's Religious Beliefs	
Soroush and the Prophet	
The Qur'an as the Direct Words of God	102
The Student of Ghazali but a Follower of Balkhi (Rumi) (Conflict of Rea	
Mysticism as the Only Religious Sanctuary Left	
Chapter 4	
Soroush and his Theory of Religious Democracy	127
The Status of Soroush's Theory	130
The Religious Theory	136
The Religious Society	
Conflict Between Faith and Jurisprudence	
The Ideology of Soroush's Democratic Religious Government	161
Soroush's Political Theory on Trial	165
Conclusion	

Notes	190
Bibliography	211

#### Acknowledgement

I would like to thank all those who helped me conduct this research over the years, from my family and friends in Iran, who provided some of the sources for my thesis, to my supervisor and colleagues and staff at the Centre for the Study of Democracy of the University of Westminster. In particular, I wish to offer my regards to Professor Bhikhu Parekh for his scholarly advice, and to Professor Roland Dannreuther, Head of the Department, Professor Simon Joss, Research Director, and Mike Fisher, the Academic Registrar's Manager, for their support.

My sincere and deepest gratitude goes to my supervisors Professor John Keane, Dr Maria Holt, and Professor Ali Paya, without whose scholarly guidance and critical feedback my thesis could not have been completed. Professor Keane shared his knowledge of the subject with me generously and the long discussions we have had during the years of my research provided food for thought to enrich my thesis; thank you Professor Keane. Dr Holt and Professor Paya helped me at the last stages of my thesis before submission with their scholarly feedback; thank you Dr Holt and Professor Paya.

#### **Synopsis**

This research is about Islam and democracy and the political theory of 'democratic religious government' of Dr Abdulkarim Soroush, an Iranian scholar and one of the leading figures in the debate on Islam and democracy in the Islamic world. The research endeavours to answer several questions: How far has the debate on Islam and democracy developed? Was the Islamic revolution in Iran an Islamic revolution and has it been a step forward for democracy there and an example of the compatibility of Islam and democracy? What are the specificities of Soroush's political theory and how far are they sustainable? Is he successful in offering, at least in theory, a political model that can accommodate Islam and democracy?

The research puts Soroush's political theory into context and begins by exploring the background of the debate on Islam and democracy and the debate concerning Shia political thought and the legacy of the Iranian revolution. My research finding in the first chapter is that the political challenges posed by democracy as a political system based on the rule of people, regardless of their faith or gender, have been the most serious challenges Islam and Muslims have faced, especially in the past few decades. It also demonstrates how immature the debate is. The second chapter reveals how the Iranian revolution puts Shia Islam on a new track so that it can neither go back to its isolationist position nor resist the trend of secularisation and democratisation. A religion that, I will argue, was an impediment for democracy and open society, has become a force for reconciliation of the faithful's spiritual needs and their human rights.

In the third chapter I explore Soroush's religious beliefs and development in his religious thoughts. I will try to establish in this chapter how he has found Islam to be exposed to scholarly debate and an easy target for modern Muslim scholars and intellectuals equipped with modern methodology to rehearse it, adjust it and rationalise it in order for it to become compatible with modern forms of life and human rights. I also demonstrate

in this chapter that whatever the contents of Soroush's political theory, he is a faithful Muslim and his religious beliefs do not support a democratic political system.

Soroush's political theory is the topic of the fourth chapter. In this chapter I have discovered how Soroush removes religious hurdles through his religious theory in order to present his political theory. It appears that Soroush believes what we have in the name of religion is nothing more than our knowledge and interpretations of religion. Since these are human understandings, they are like other human knowledge and, therefore, they are historical products that are timely and open to critical analysis and adjustable to humans' socially evolving demands. I also explain in the fourth chapter why Soroush feels the existence of religion in public life is under threat and therefore endeavours to reconcile religion with the realities of the modern era to secure a space for religion. In doing this, Soroush loses theoretical consistency because he makes every effort, though unsuccessfully, to become the champion of all across the political spectrum, whether religious or liberal. Soroush's contribution to the debate on Islam and democracy is significant, but he fails, as it will be argued, to offer a viable political theory on the compatibility of Islam and democracy.

The research concludes with an assessment of the prospects and possibilities of the ideas of compatibility of Islam and democracy and highlights the contradictions and challenges of the idea. The conclusion sets the steps and prerequisites for a serious debate on Islam and democracy and illuminates the tenability of the debate by raising serious doubts about the authenticity of the debate on Islam and democracy.

#### Introduction

The encounter between Islam and democracy has been one of the significant aspects of the encounter between Islam and modernity, despite the fact that it is quite recent, and, in the case of Iran's religious intellectual and clerics, as recent as after the Islamic revolution of 1979. The struggle for some form of broader political participation in Iran, mainly among the elite, dates back to the Constitutional Revolution of 1906–11, but the real debate on Islam and democracy is new and pioneered by Abdulkarim Soroush, the Iranian scholar whose theory of democratic religious government will be the topic of this research. In addition, the current Iranian constitution is the closest legal charter to democracy Iran has ever had.<sup>1</sup> However, the constitution was not written on the basis of compatibility of Islam and democracy and some structural elements of democracy such as universal suffrage were adopted without theoretical acknowledgement that Islam was compatible with democracy. In other words, it was not written following scholarly debates and consensus among the revolutionary elite that Islam was compatible with democracy. In a meeting with Iranian students and educators in Qom after the revolution in March 13, 1979, Ayatollah Khomeini said: "Don't listen to those who speak of democracy. They all are against Islam. They want to take the nation away from its mission. We will break all the poison pens of those who speak of nationalism, democracy, and such things."<sup>2</sup> Soroush recalls the time he was studying in London before the revolution when there were not only debates on democracy but democracy was even ridiculed by intellectuals as the system of imperialists and the dominant powers of the world.<sup>3</sup>

By 'democracy', in this dissertation, I mean a political system that is based on the rule of people, equal rights, individual freedom and rule of law or, as John Keane writes, has its "roots in popular consent."<sup>4</sup> The format and structure of this political system may be

different in different societies, as they are different in France and the United States, for instance, but the contents are the same everywhere: everywhere it is people as citizens regardless of their race, gender or faith who elect their rulers and hold them accountable. The principal element among all of them is that human beings are rational and can manage their affairs rationally and, in order to exercise their rationality, they should be free. A community of these rational and free individuals constitutes a people and it is the rule of this people that I call democracy, not the community of the faithful as we see in Iran today, or those of particular religious beliefs or social class. The American constitution begins "We the People of the United States ... do ordain and establish this constitution." It does not say we the Christian people, or the faithful or secular people of the United States, but rather, we the people of the United States, and that includes whoever are the citizens of the United States. The rule of people in this sense constitutes the definition of democracy in this research.

In Iran, however, the political reality has determined the terms of debate on democracy there. Due to intolerance and religiosity of the Islamic revolution, the debate started and evolved in the form of Islam and democracy, or, as Soroush describes it, "democratic religious government" by religious intellectualism in Iran, rather than explicit debate on democracy. As the Islamic government continued to become established without upholding the democratic rights of the Iranian people promised by the revolution, the discourse on Islam and democracy found growing support, mainly among religious intellectuals. In fact, it was Soroush who initially set the discourse on Islam and democracy in Iran.

Soroush was born into an ordinary Tehrani family in southern Tehran in 1945 on the day of Ashora and was named Hussein. He began his education at Qa`imiyyeh School and proved himself to be one of the bright students there. Soroush was privileged to be one of the students of the newly inaugurated Alavi High School that was established by a group of merchants including Asghar Karbaschiyan and Reza Rouzbeh, who were keen to promote understanding of both religion and modernity. It seems that Soroush's interests in modern science and religion and the relation between them evolved during this period of his education. Together with his school education, Soroush invested immense energy in learning about Islam and attended classes on Islamic literature and Persian poetry.<sup>5</sup>

Soroush passed the university entrance examination and studied pharmacy after high school and began to live an ordinary life. He served in the army for two years as part of his compulsory national service at the end of his university course. He also took a position after his degree as part of the Out of Capital Service, a national project that required university students to work for a period of time in the poorer areas of the country: Soroush worked as the director of the Laboratory for Food Products, Toiletries, and Sanitary Materials in Bushehr. That was followed by his job at the Laboratory for Medicine Control in Tehran fifteen months later. It was evident from this period of Soroush's life that his interest in science or rather modern natural science was determining the course of his life. Even when he moved to London, he initially chose to do an MSc in Analytical Chemistry.

It seems that Soroush's real aspiration for understanding modernity and modern philosophy was nurtured in London and after taking his MSc in Analytical Chemistry at the University of London, he entered Chelsea College to study the history and philosophy of science there. This period of Soroush's study coincided with the political situation in Iran gathering momentum that ended in the 1979 Islamic revolution. He became involved in ideological and political debates and in parallel with the atmosphere of his time and in line with what Dr Ali Shariati, the iconic Iranian scholar and mentor of Islamic intellectualism in Iran, was doing, Soroush became preoccupied with providing sound philosophical and their approach to Islam and, on the other, secured his position in the ranks of those such as Shariati and Ayatollah Motahari. His book *Dialectical Antagonism (Tazad-e Dialectic)* was the outcome of his lectures at the Islamic student centre Imam-barah in London.<sup>6</sup>

Soroush's next book, published soon after *Tazad-e Dialectic*, was *The Restless Nature of* the World (Nahad-e Na-Aram-e Jahan), aligned him with the spirit of the revolution and brought him a reputation among the revolution leadership. This book is about the Iranian Muslim scholar Mullah Sadra's theory of 'quintessential motion'. Soroush builds his understanding of monotheism and resurrection based on Mullah Sadra's theory. He was an ideological theologian during that time and had no idea what an Islamic government in today's world was like. He was also following in the footsteps of the Islamic intelligentsia elites such Dr Ali Shariati in Iran and Allama Iqbal Lahori in the subcontinent, who were modern, educated Islamic scholars and thinkers who endeavoured towards and believed in Islamic revivalism. What was evident during that time was that Soroush did not indicate himself to be a liberal Islamic thinker even in the form of an Islamic scholar, as he is today, and became one of the supporters of the Islamic revolution under the leadership of Ayatollah Khomeini. His other book, In Which World Do We Live (Dar Kodam Jahan Zendagi Meikoneim), is the manifestation of his revolutionary thought during this time and demonstrates his fundamentalist thoughts in line with the radical revolutionaries fighting for an Islamic government.

On his return to Iran from London during the revolution, Soroush was an alreadyrecognisable person or, rather, scholar for the revolutionary leadership, and played a decisive role in the regime's policy regarding the country's educational system, since the universities had been closed and there was pressure by some hardliners to keep them closed. The Cultural Revolution Institute (*Setade Enghelabe Farhangi*) was formed soon after the revolution to deal with the closure of the universities and Soroush was appointed as one of the seven members of this institute directly by Ayatollah Khomeini. This Institute soon urged Ayatollah Khomeini to reopen the universities, which he did, and it was evident that Soroush, as a bright academic, would have had a great impact in that decision. However, Soroush continued serving as a member of the Cultural Revolution Institute until it changed to the High Cultural Revolution Council (*Shoraie Aali Enghelabe Farhangi*) in 1983, soon after which he offered his resignation to Ayatollah Khomeini, disappointed with the course of the revolution. He has stayed out of official positions ever since and has worked as a lecturer with some universities in Iran, including Tehran University, on various subjects including two of his favourites: philosophy of science and Mawlana (Balkhi, Rumi).<sup>7</sup> His lectures on Mawlana that were broadcast on Iranian Television drew varied audiences and became very popular in Iran. Having the luxury of being broadcast on Iranian state TV was a sign that his honeymoon with the Islamic state was not over and that he still had a platform to advocate his views. Furthermore, Soroush gave a series of lectures on some subjects in *Nahjulbalaghah*, a book that is a collection of the sermons of Imam Ali at Imam Sadegh Mosque in northern Tehran, similar to Ali Shariati's lectures at Husseinieh Ershad Mosque in northern Tehran.

Soroush is neither a political figure nor a politician and the growing tension between him and the Islamic regime has not been for the reason that he has adopted a political stance against the Islamic state or rallied his supporters behind a political party; opposition to the current Islamic regime is in the nature of his theology, which has unfolded mainly after the death of Ayatollah Khomeini. It is a liberal interpretation of Islam or, rather, negation of the clerical understanding of Islam and politics. Publication of his book The Theoretical Contraction and Expansion of Religion, in which he discusses the evolution of religion and distinguishes between religion and our understanding, or knowledge, of religion, which is not sacred and subject to change, and also his articles in *Kiyan* monthly magazine, put Soroush under the spotlight as a figure of opposition to the Islamic regime. The above book and continuous publication of *Kiyan* became a forum for religious intellectualism to spread its liberal version of Islam and critique of the clerical Islam in Iran, which can be considered a mini-revolution in Iranian theologian debates. From the beginning of the 1990s, Soroush was considered the regime's main opposition, though not a political opponent but rather a figure that was undermining the religious legitimacy and authenticity of the Islamic regime.

Soroush's significance in religious and philosophical debate after the Islamic revolution has been due to two factors; first, he comes from inside the Islamic system and has had enough legitimacy and time to spread the seeds of critical rationalism gradually and steadily; in other words, owing to his legacy of being one of the supporters of the revolution, he has been tolerated by the regime. Secondly, Soroush has been the only intellectual inside the system that has put forward theoretical, theological and philosophical challenges to the clerics after the Islamic revolution, who have all the time claimed a monopoly on religious knowledge. Shariati's attack and criticism of the clerical establishment was mainly ideological and the clerics were not obliged or rather were not put under the spotlight to reply to those criticisms, due to the fact that those criticisms did not seem to have grave implications for clerics' traditional power base. The situation has been different after the revolution, since on the one hand the clerics are in charge and expected to deliver solutions to the emerging challenges that need to be Islamic as well as democratic, and on the other the clerics must be able to preserve their moral high ground and show that they possess the theoretical upper hand. Yet they have been critically challenged by Soroush, who has been not just a political opponent, but rather an Islamic scholar and theologian refuting the clerical political philosophy and has drawn a significant amount of support for his position. In addition, democratisation in some sections of the clerical system, part of which was embodied in the reformist movement headed by the former president of Iran, Mohammed Khatami, owes a great deal to the legacy of Soroush. It is fair to say that Soroush is the father of the debate on Islam and democracy in Iran.

Soroush's contribution to the debate can be seen within the context of the Iranian Islamic revolution. He acknowledges that democracy was not a matter of debate for Iranian intellectuals, including religious intellectuals before and during the revolution. The debate is quite recent and came into being as the Islamic system failed to meet the political demands of Iranian people. Soroush is the product of the Iranian revolution and its challenges. The revolution was not only a great step away from religious conservatism in Iran, but also a great force for secularisation of Iranian religious intellectualism. Soroush's political theory of democratic religious government can be interpreted in the context of this secularisation process, the process by which not only the Iranian people,

especially the middle class, but also religious intellectuals are becoming increasingly critical of the religiosity of the political system.

Secularisation is an unintentional social process and as Olivier Roy explains, it is:

a social phenomenon that requires no political implementation: it comes about when religion ceases to be at the centre of human life, even though people still consider themselves believers; the everyday practices of people, like the meaning they give to the world, are no longer constructed under the aegis of transcendence and religion, smoothly and gently accomplished (Europe, for example, experienced a decline in religious observance throughout the nineteenth century). But secularisation is not anti-religious or anti-clerical: people merely stop worshipping and stop talking about religion: it is a process.<sup>8</sup>

It is illuminating to see the history of secularisation, whether in Europe or elsewhere, as a process that is not imposed on people. On the contrary, it has taken place, in some cases, with challenges as we see in the contemporary Islamic world. I am aware of the diversity of opinion on secularisation and the shape and form it has taken in different societies. However, secularisation is viewed as a process throughout this research in which religion simply ceases to determine the human course of action anymore and becomes gradually insignificant without any political pressure and coercion.

The question is why is Soroush significant enough in the debate on Islam and democracy to be the topic of this research? ? Soroush is a modern, educated scholar, a mystic and a theologian who is called the 'Luther of Islam' (*The Guardian*, 1 February 1995; *Los Angeles Times*, January 1995) in the West or the 'Erasmus of Islam' by the Erasmus foundation when he was awarded the Erasmus prize in 1994. He was also nominated as one of the top 100 intellectuals whose works and intellectual endeavours had a transforming role in the world by *Time* magazine in 2005. As yet, there is no substantive research, on the one hand, into his religious and political beliefs and, on the other, into

the topic of an Islamic democracy that has made him an international figure. Soroush is an exceptional case in the debate on Islamic democracies, since he has a legacy in the Iranian Islamic revolution and revolted against the Islamic regime there, claiming to offer a new theory that can uphold both Sharia and democracy. Is Soroush really offering a new model that is different from the Iranian Islamic political system or he is rephrasing the same system based on Sharia law rather than a democratic system? Moreover, will putting so much hope and expectation on somebody whose entire theory, religious and political beliefs are not explored (and in fact, is offering yet another copy of the current Iranian political system) not bring the debate on Islam and democracy to a stagnant position? This research is going to take the debate on Islam and democracy one step further by offering a balanced assessment of Soroush's accounts of the debate.

Soroush's theological and political accounts needed to be fully researched for three reasons; first, because his political beliefs have been dismissive of secular interpretations of Islam and politics and have been a boost to the dominant religious definitions of politics in Iran. Second, his political theory is offered more credit and attention than it merits in Western secular academia where it is understood to be a revolutionary secular approach to Islam and politics, while in fact, as it will be argued, it is a similar version of the Iranian Islamic system. Third, he is wrongly understood as the 'Luther of Islam' in the West as what he has offered is not a reform in Islam but, rather, he is applying modern methodology to justify the same beliefs to modern audiences as the clerics do in their madrasas (religious schools) to their traditional followers. The lines between the real efforts for democracy, human rights and centrality of human beings on the one hand and centrality of God, Sharia law and religious interpretations of politics on the other should be identified in order to move towards the establishment of real democracies in the Muslim world.

Soroush might have a point in claiming that Islamists are on the rise in the Muslim world and that talking about secular democracies in these countries seems absurd in the current political climate.<sup>9</sup> Islamist is a term that represents a broad spectrum of Islamic movements, scholars and intellectuals, from Hassan al-Banna, the founder of Islamic Brotherhood in Egypt in the 1930s and Abul-Ala Maududi in the subcontinent, to Ayatollah Khomeini, Ali Shariati, Soroush and Jihadists in the past few decades. In other words, Islamists are those who consider Islam as an ideology as well as a religion, or see a significant role for Islam in politics. Soroush is a moderate voice in this spectrum.

Soroush's political theory is caught up in the above political fever and, under the influence of his view of the current international political climate, he argues that "religious governments are returning and religions are gaining power everywhere and that liberalism will not be sustained as it is any longer". Soroush's religious political theory seems to be a reaction, in his view, to the re-emergence of Islamic governments and to Islamists gaining power. As it will be argued, he could be a powerful force for democracy in Iran and in the Islamic world in the long term if he looked for secular interpretations of politics in Islam. He has not contemplated a secular democratic system in the Islamic countries, whereas the issues of compatibility of a secular system with religiosity of the people, which is his main concern, could be handled by consideration of the proportionality of the secularity of each society. For example, a secular political system in a Muslim-majority country, depending on the secularity of that society, will be bound by the value systems of its people while the official legal and political systems are not religious. Certainly a law that recognises equal rights for gay people will not and cannot pass in the parliament of an Islamic country with a secular democratic political system, at least in the near future, and the secularity of the political system there will be adjusted by the value systems and mindsets of the people. However, out of fear of secularism, introducing an ideological government in the name of religious democracy and binding this democracy to Sharia law, as Soroush is doing, might not produce democracy.

Despite the challenges Soroush's religious political theory is facing in reconciling Islam with democracy, and regardless of the amount of success he has had in delivering a viable theory, he has been, as a matter of fact, the driving force behind the contemporary

deliberation on reform in Islamic thought and compatibility of Islam with democracy in Iran. He pioneered the debate and dialogue on religious reform and democratisation of Islamic political thought in Iran since he was part of the system and was not considered to be an outsider. He also believes in a religious system and has not rejected the entirety of the Iranian Islamic political system. Soroush's affiliation with the Islamic system has given him a platform to steer the debate on religious reform and religious democracy. This has produced a great amount of literature in Farsi by Soroush and other Iranian intellectuals about Soroush and his thoughts. However, due to Soroush's preoccupation with the level of tolerance in the Iranian Islamic system and promotion of a somewhat similar religious political system, his writings have mainly remained attractive to Iranian religious intellectuals and been limited to within the borders of Iran. Apart from his book Reason, Freedom and Democracy in Islam, which is translated into English, and some articles addressing, directly or indirectly, his views, there is no major research on him. Soroush is a religious intellectual and the majority of those who have written and commented on Soroush are of the same belief circle. He belongs to the religious intellectualism in Iran that predates the Islamic revolution of 1979 and is championed by its iconic figure Ali Shariati, and has been a great force for reconciling Islam and tradition with modernity there and has produced a much more moderate and tolerant version of Islam than the clerical narrative. Soroush has been the leading figure in this movement, since the revolution and the literature produced by this movement has not gone beyond Soroush's understanding of religion and politics.

Moreover, Soroush's views and political theory have not attracted a broader audience beyond religious circles and the reason that he has become well known in the West is mainly due to inadequate understanding of his beliefs or, rather, lack of a perception about the entirety of his religious and political beliefs as well as his opposition to the Islamic regime in Iran. What I am going to do in this research is to, on the one hand, make sense of Soroush's accounts of a religious democracy and the debate on Islam and democracy as the main product of the religious intellectualism in Iran and, on the other, highlight the failure of the religious democracy debate, mainly for the audience unfamiliar with the logic of religious political debate in Iran.

Soroush has been living in exile for several years now, due to intolerance of his reformist thoughts by the Iranian government. Despite the evolution we notice in his theological and political thoughts since the beginning of the revolution, from a religious fundamentalist believing in a God-centred world to a moderate scholar advocating for democracy and from a theologian campaigning for a democratic religious government based on Sharia law to a thinker being indirectly critical of the role of Sharia law in governance, we have not seen him distancing himself from the views and theories he was preaching in Iran, such as compatibility of Islam and democracy and the role of religion in politics. The political constraints in Iran were thought to be determining the extent of his liberality and the content of discourse he was representing. Within those constraints and context he took important steps from the radical and hard-line position of his younger days to a more settled critical view of the Islamic political system. The growing secularity of religious intellectualism in Iran that is evident in Soroush's political thoughts, for example the way he describes the specificities of his political theory at different times, raises the expectation that the discourse on religious democracy will evolve into a discourse on democracy. Despite being in exile and with much less emphasis on the religiosity of democracy by Soroush, he has not been openly critical of his religious political theory. In a lecture and question and answer session of an hour and 44 minutes on November 2010 on "theoretical obstacles to democracy in Iran", he talks about the challenges Iranians have faced for establishing democracy in their country, but he does not use, even once, the terms religious democracy, Islamic democracy, or 'democratic religious government'.<sup>10</sup> His silence seems to be indicating he is distancing himself from his theory of religious democracy, but he is not negating the notion of building a democracy on religious principles, including Sharia law.

The implications of the findings of this research will reveal the logic of the project of religious democracy and will illustrate that despite the great step that the project can be towards democratic political systems in the Muslim countries, in terms of offering theories of democratic religious governments, it will complicate the process further and cannot offer a breakthrough for the establishment of democratic systems. The research will explain how ambivalent the project is: on the one hand it unveils a compelling need for a rational approach towards democracy and the plight of people in terms of political rights; on the other, it cannot come to terms with the lack of relevance of religion in its normative form to modern humans' democratic sociopolitical aspirations, and acts like a political movement with a religious ideology rather than an epistemological movement that is seriously heading towards removing the theoretical obstacles to democracy in the Islamic world. What the research is highlighting is not why Soroush is a liberal figure, as he is known to be in the West, but, rather, why he is advocating for a religious system in the name of democratic religious government.

I begin my research with a brief look at the background to the debate on Islam and democracy and the evolution of democratic thought, and also the Iranian revolution as an unprecedented event in Islamic history. The encounter between Islam and modernity and democracy as a modern political system has raised numerous challenges for Muslims, especially in the past few decades. The political challenges posed by democracy as a political system based on rule of people, regardless of their faith or gender, have been the most serious ones. Although there is a great deal of literature on compatibility, or contradiction between Islam and democracy, the debate needs to be explored further. The first introductory chapter will look at the challenges democracy has faced during its evolution process and the debate on Islam and democracy.

The second chapter investigates the Iranian Islamic revolution and tries to discover the effects and implications of the revolution in Shia thought in Iran and Shia communities around the world. The chapter will also examine whether the revolution further secularised Iranian society and was unintentionally a force for open society or reinvigorated religion and prevented spread of secularisation in Iran. Additionally, I try to explore in this chapter whether this revolution was really an Islamic revolution and established an Islamic government.

The Shia clerical establishment has not been ideological and has not had a specific political agenda for gaining power and, for the first time in history, Ayatollah Khomeini broke this rule and provided a political theory for establishing an Islamic political system, despite the reservation of nearly all clerical establishment elites. A religion and establishment that had its own territory and area of influence and was not fully engaging with society at large; in other words, the establishment that was a government inside the Iranian government has become exposed to modern interaction and transformation. The Ulama (the clerical elites) and the clerical establishment had mainly been isolationist and their minimal interference in politics had been demonstrated when it was in line with the Iranian civil right movements. All that they expected from the governments had been to respect their area of influence and be mindful of the Sharia law.

This chapter also looks at another major topic: the religious content of the Iranian Islamic revolution. Soon after the revolution, the protection and welfare of the state were the highest priorities for Ayatollah Khomeini. The Islamic revolution took place alongside Iranian civil right movements and, on this occasion, Islam became instrumental for the Iranian civil and national aspirations. The Iranian system has observed all aspects of Iranian nationalism; except for the supreme leader and a few other positions, being Iranian is not a requirement but, in practice, a non-Iranian cannot be elected to these positions. It is as difficult for an Afghan Persian-speaking man to marry an Iranian as for a French man, according to Olivier Roy, the French specialist in political Islam.<sup>11</sup>

The Iranian Islamic revolution seems to have transformed the Shia discourse on politics and while it meant to establish an Islamic system, it has, though unintentionally, become a force for democratisation and secularisation in Iran. The clerics, who were resisting modernisation of their societies and provided religious arguments to oppose the products of modern civilisation like democracy, human rights and equality of rights for men and women, had to adjust themselves to the modern demands and aspirations of the Iranian people. Religion, once the possession of the clerics and a prohibited zone for the academics and wider public, has become the subject of debate and is in a position to deliver solutions to the emerging challenges, and, if it fails to deliver, further secularisation will be the outcome.

I am also going to demonstrate that the level of interest and attention paid to Soroush's reformist position is not merely a personal triumph for him. He was a supporter of the revolution and held a senior position in the Islamic system but later became the critical voice of the Iranian Islamic intellectualism and challenged the clerical narrative of Islam and politics. Soroush has enjoyed the platform that the revolution offered him and scholars like him, in terms of putting religion in a debatable position and making it a subject of critical analysis. Taking advantage of the position offered by the revolution and spreading critical debate and analysis of religion, or rather legitimising critical analysis of Islam under the ruling of clerics, might be one of Soroush's biggest achievements.

The chapter also investigates the numerous channels to the debate on Islam and democracy opened by the Iranian revolution. On the one hand, it placed Shia Islam on a new track so it can neither go back to its isolationist position nor resist the trend of secularisation and democratisation. That is why scholars like Soroush have been concerned with the continual existence of religion in public life and therefore endeavour to reconcile religion with the realities of the modern era. The discourse on Islam and democracy and compatibility of Islam and democracy in the wider Muslim world, particularly in Iran, owes a great deal to the Iranian Islamic revolution that moved the debate a great step forward from a context of general debate on Islam and modernity or tradition and modernity to an explicit debate on Islam and democracy.

On the other hand, the revolution exposed Islam to a scholarly debate and made it easy for modern Muslim scholars and intellectuals equipped with modern methodology to deconstruct it, adjust it and rationalise it to become compatible with modern forms of life and human rights. "Muslims are not supposed to walk on their heads while rational people walk on their feet",<sup>12</sup> as Soroush has said, which means that if the rational people

of the world have found rational and better ways of managing their affairs, the religious people should do the same and not oppose them simply because they do not match their religious understandings or they are introduced by non-Muslims. Religion that was an impediment for democracy and open society has become a partner for reconciliation of the faithful's spiritual needs and their human rights, including their political rights.

Before entering the debate on Soroush's theory of democratic religious government in the fourth chapter, I try first to establish his religious beliefs in the third chapter. Soroush is not only a Muslim, but also a Shia Muslim, who is devoted and faithful to Islam. As it will be argued in this chapter, he was a fundamentalist Muslim during his younger years, who believed in the literal wording of religious messages and absolute righteousness of Islam over all other schools of thought. I begin with looking at his intellectual life during his younger period when he was a follower of Islam, which he believed to be a superior belief system and also believed that all those who were not followers of Islam were going astray. Even our humanity, in his view, was not complete if it was not directed by the direct order of God. I then examine the reasons why Soroush claims to have relinquished the type of religious belief he was advocating and whether he really distanced himself from those views or has pioneered a smarter method to redraft them to serve modern audiences. The question that this chapter answers is: how genuine and sustainable is his current approach? Is it a cosmetic transformation or a revolution in content in his intellectual life? Is he the same Soroush that has deployed modern methodology and terminology to sell his religious beliefs and dogmas to a modern audience?

There is a great deal of literature regarding the encounter between tradition and modernity, especially in Iran, such as *Modernity and Critical Thought* by Babak Ahmadi, and *Tradition and Secularism* by Soroush, and many more books and articles created by Iranian scholars since the beginning of the twentieth century. Modernity is considered to be, in this dissertation included, a cultural and philosophical movement in the history of Europe that has brought human beings at the centre of this universe to rationally comprehend and interpret it, It is also understood to be anything new, man-made, and

scientific. Soroush endeavours to find a space for tradition and religion in the light of modernity. Indeed, the political theory of Soroush's 'democratic religious government' is not the main component of his intellectualism, though the political nature of the theory and his innovation of a new and modern model of government to be on the one hand Islamic and on the other, modern has posed a direct challenge to the position and authority of the conservative establishment in power in the Islamic Republic of Iran. Moreover, whatever the depth and authenticity of Soroush's contribution to the debate, his mere involvement in this debate has highlighted the significance and seriousness of the modern challenges Islam and the Islamic countries are facing today.

What I hope to ascertain and illustrate in the third chapter is that despite the fact that Soroush has contributed more than anyone else to the debate on liberalisation of Islamic thought in his country, he has nonetheless offered too little and has not gone far enough to significantly differentiate him from his radical younger position. In other words, Soroush's religiosity and interpretation of Islam is not much different from his younger radical resolve. Ultimately, one cannot be very different if one defines oneself as being in a particular religious structure, since, whatever the difference, you are in that structure anyway and constrained by that: the structure that has its boundaries and red lines already set. In effect, we cannot have an Islamic liberalism. In other words, the extent of liberalisation of Islam is limited and bound by the religious texts and the Prophet's sayings and deeds and, indeed, Sharia law.

With a thorough analysis and understanding of Soroush's religious beliefs achieved, I move on to his political theory. In spite of the fact that the third chapter addresses Soroush's religious beliefs, I begin my investigation in the fourth chapter with a look at the elements of Souroush's religious theory that seem to be the basis of his political theory. The theory of 'democratic religious government' and his efforts to find some form of compatibility between Islam and democracy have been among the most controversial parts of his intellectual career, while in fact they are the natural product of his religious theory. Soroush's definitions of Islam and democracy are very diverse and,

depending on the occasion and audience, inconsistent; therefore, it will be immensely exigent to conclude a monistic understanding of definitions of the concepts. Soroush is a master of hermeneutics and has endeavoured to open a vast theoretic area of manoeuvre, where he can inject modern spirit into religious concepts, challenge the clerical establishment with sound knowledge of modern methodologies and apply modern logic and rationalism into the debate on religion and understanding of religion.

Rational choice, reason and rationalism are familiar concepts in the Islamic and Persian mystical literature, especially among modern intellectual circles. There is a broader consensus on the definition of reason and everybody would agree with what Alexander Jamieson said two centuries ago that: "Reason is the faculty by which we are acquainted with abstract or necessary truth; and enabled to discover the essential relations of things".<sup>13</sup> It is this very basic human specificity that is causing challenges for religions and has been considered as a rival for religions. The status of reason is accepted in Islam but only as an instrument to understand the intentions of God, the Prophet, the Qur'an, and Sharia and not as a sovereign power of intellect that is capable of discovering the truth independently. By reason in this dissertation, I mean this independent status of mind and rationalism and faith in the capability of reason, as "an approach to life based on reason and evidence" that encourages people to think for themselves.<sup>14</sup> Rationalism is often considered to be anti-religion and the majority of rationalists are either atheist or agnostic. The religious views of rationalism are well defined by George Park Fisher who says "rationalism is a term often used to designate the position of those who disbelieve in revelation and suppose that whatever knowledge we have in religion is derived from unassisted reason."<sup>15</sup> However, rationalism is not supposed to be necessarily anti-religion but invites human beings to rehearse, redefine and re-examine any human affairs, including religion based on reason and human understanding, rather than adhering to prepacked and prescribed models of life offered by religions.

My intended meaning of religion in this research is mainly the functional definition and meaning of religion and its role in society, whether through engaging in politics or its

application as a political tool by the religious groups, like the use of religion as a political means by the minority conservative clerics in Iran. Religion is a set of principles and a system of thought that is based on a belief in God, and feelings, rituals, dogmas and practices that are considered divine and defines the relation between the faithful and God; it is a source of identity and claims to have the absolute truth, is prejudiced and often has a sacred book revealed to a prophet directly, in the case of Islam, by God. Religion, as Allama Iqbal Lahori defines it, is "description and interpretation from the whole existence of a human being",<sup>16</sup> or as Andrew Greeley puts it; "a system of narrative metaphors that gives meaning and purpose to life, that answer questions about tragedy, suffering, death and about happiness and ecstasy."<sup>17</sup> The essence of religion, epistemologically, as Mircea Eliade explains, is to be understood "first and foremost as belief in a realm of supernatural beings."<sup>18</sup> However, regardless of the abstract definitions of religion, the best functional articulation of religion that can represent the premise of this research is what Emile Durkheim has said:

the real function of religion is not to make us think, or enrich our knowledge, nor to add to the conceptions which we owe to science ... but rather, it is to make us act, to aid us to live. The believer, who has communicated with his god, is not merely a man who sees new truths of which the unbeliever is ignorant; he is a man who is stronger. He feels within him more force, either to endure the trials of existence, or to conquer them.<sup>19</sup>

Soroush believes that what we have in the name of religion is nothing more than our knowledge and interpretations of religion and, since these are human understandings, they are like other human understandings and knowledge and therefore, they are historical products that are not eternal facts, but knowledge at a particular time and open to critical analysis. Treating religion as the knowledge of religion, on the one hand, puts religion in an insecure position and, on the other, paves the way for adjusting religious understanding to socially evolving human demands. In order to introduce his political theory, Soroush removes the religious opposing elements through his religious theory.

The resentments against his political theory by the conservative clerics come mainly from the challenges posed by his religious theory.

The other important element in Soroush's political theory is that religious society is the precondition for a democratic religious government and, in such a society, no other form of government can be democratic except a religious government. Religious society is the only condition that Soroush considers to be required for a democratic religious government on all occasions. He fails to clarify his position as to what the specificities of a religious society are. Is it a society in which only religious people live, and, if so, do they all have the same religion? Is it possible to have a society where only people from the same religion and with the same interpretation of that religion exist? If not, what happens to the followers of other religions and minorities and those who do not believe in any religion? Soroush also believes that a democratic religious government is a government like any other democratic government and being religious does not differentiate it from other forms of government. If there is no difference between religious and nonreligious democratic governments, why is it that a democratic religious government can only take place in a religious society?

Democracy seems to have some preconditions such as that the people who cast their vote are rational and do so according to their own reason and understanding and have the choice to vote based on their understanding, reason and interests. Without such individuals we might not have democracy and, with such individuals, a society with one collective belief or religion sounds difficult to conceive of. Establishment of a democracy is linked to various other social developments such as education, economic progress and cultural tolerance. Once the fertile ground for the emergence of individuals who think that they can choose based on their own understanding and interests is generated, the establishment of democracy may be facilitated.

#### Methodology

Investigating Islam and democracy and Soroush's theory of democratic religious government required an in-depth study of Islam, particularly Shia Islam, on the one hand, and democracy on the other in order to set the discourse. Without an in-depth study of Shia Islam and the evolution and establishment of the clerical system in Iran and the history of the relation between Shia Islam and politics, writing about Islam and democracy was not possible. Despite the different political experiences among the Sunni and Shia Muslims, Islamic literature, as a whole, is not rich on the compatibility of Islam and democracy and the debate is new, though the challenges Islam has faced from modernity have existed for centuries. I have endeavoured to investigate the debate on Islam and modernity as well as democracy so as to establish how mature the debate is and what the potential is for Islamic democracies and what the position and contribution of the Iranian Islamic revolution are in this debate. I have also made an in-depth investigation of mysticism in Islam and Persian culture to establish its role, on the one hand, in the crystallisation of the anti-rational approach in life and politics and, on the other, its relaxed approach to religiosity and anti-Sharia spirit, and I have assessed its effects on the definitions of the concepts and formation of the political views of Muslims and Soroush.

I have tried to provide definitions of the key concepts such as democracy, modernity, rationalism, religion, and secularism in the introduction so that I can use them in the main debate unhindered, with the awareness of the fact that these concepts are contested and the definitions provided in this dissertation are demonstrating the intentions of the thesis of the concepts. In this essay, I have also looked at some of the parallel literature available such as the writings of John Esposito and Olivier Roy, in order to establish the legacy and effects of the Iranian Islamic revolution on the debate in general and on Soroush in particular. Establishing a sound picture of the Iranian Revolution due to its

complexity and a balanced assessment of the religious and political aspects of the revolution has facilitated putting Soroush's theory and the debate on Islam and democracy into context.

Soroush's views are not straightforward and through my research I noticed that I had to read his works and listen to his speeches for different occasions and audiences in order to have a balanced understanding of his theory. For instance, all that he tries to prove, when he talks politics, is that the democratic religious government cannot be established based on jurisprudence and it has to be based on religious faith and nonreligious rights of people. He even said in an interview with the BBC Persian Service that "if we raise the light of some of the Sharia laws' lantern, they will put the whole house on fire".<sup>20</sup> He also says that the religious government has a duty to protect religion and application of Sharia law strengthens these democratic religious governments. I have tried to discover, through sequences of events, audiences Soroush has addressed and timings of his speeches, the dominant thoughts in his works.

In addition, the main body of Soroush's books is formed by the texts of his speeches and I have endeavoured to see where and under what constraints he has spoken and compared his views expressed inside and outside Iran. Moreover, not all of his books are listed on his official website, especially those that were written when he was younger and while he was expressing his radical and fundamentalist Islamic views and revolutionary ideology. I made every effort and did extensive research in Iran; it is extremely challenging even for a Farsi speaker who is not familiar with the mindset of religious intellectualism in Iran, let alone for a non-Farsi speaker, to gain access to those sources that are not available in the market anymore. Soroush does not talk about that part of his life and the revolutionary Islamist views he had at that time but it was extremely important for my research to find out about the roots of his religiosity and establish his ideological approach and links, on the one hand, with the mainstream religious intellectualism championed by Ali Shariati, and, on the other hand, with the Islamic revolution and Ayatollah Khomeini. Findings on Soroush's earlier religious and political convictions and tracing these convictions up to today has served to demonstrate the evolution in his intellectual life and to reveal whether he has distanced himself from those views or still expresses a moderate version of the same beliefs.

Furthermore, it is immensely difficult to have a clear idea of Soroush's religious and political intellectualism without a sound understanding of the Iranian religious intellectualism headed by Dr Ali Shariati. My detailed knowledge of Shariati's influential religious intellectualism, with its approach of declericalisation of Islam, put me in a better position to understand the ideological background of Soroush's intellectualism and the discourse his intellectualism adheres to. I have taken great advantage of my background knowledge and knowledge of the power structure in Iran and the long history of rivalries between the clerics and religious intellectualism there in order to read Soroush's works. Due to the complex political situation after the Islamic revolution of 1979 in Iran and the grip of clerics on power, Soroush became a master of hermeneutics. Resorting to hermeneutics was, on the one hand, negation of his younger absolute, ideological and normative understanding of religion, and on the other, a means of combating and challenging the dominant clerical understanding of Islam in order to open the space for dialogue on Islam and democracy. I have applied a great deal of attention to his craft of hermeneutics in reading his works and reaching my conclusions.

Moreover, since the main body of my research is on Soroush, many of his 25 books written in Farsi, including *Reason, Freedom and Democracy in Islam*, translated into English, have been investigated in the second and third chapters. I have also listened to hundreds of hours of his speeches on religion and politics. His interviews and website are other invaluable sources of his intellectual life that are examined. Soroush's encounter at the Centre for the Study of Democracy on 3<sup>rd</sup> November 2006 and his speech on 'Qur'an and Balkhi (Rumi)', at the Iranian Students' Islamic Centre in London, where I put some of my questions directly to him, were other points of reference. Soroush is a theologian and due to his circumstances even his religious accounts are political and in order to get to the bottom of his arguments a thorough investigation of his intellectual life has been

the target of my research.

In addition, despite the fact that I know Farsi, Soroush's first language, and have firsthand access to his writings, providing a fair account of Soroush's political philosophy has presented great challenges. I am fully aware that Soroush is taking advantage of his skills of hermeneutics greatly in his works and it is this methodology that has offered him the opportunity to open a space for intellectual debate and modern interpretations of Islam. In order to have a fair account of Soroush's theological and political philosophy, one needs to be aware of the tremendous skills that he has in reading and interpreting the religious texts and, therefore, my knowledge and familiarity with the Persian language and mystical culture has given me an important advantage in adopting a sound methodology of reading Soroush's works.

Additionally, I have also taken advantage of the Centre for the Study of Democracy's seminars, events and public lectures and the University of Westminster's libraries as well as the British, LSE and SOAS libraries. During the process of my research I have had the privilege of personal supervision by Professor John Keane, who himself is an outstanding writer and expert in political philosophy and the area of my research.

**Chapter 1** 

### Islam and Democracy: Plausibility and

### Challenges

Despite the initial appearance of the Islamic resurgence seeming to oppose democratisation in the Muslim world in the past half a century, these two have not only coincided, but also have supported each other; for example, Islamic resurgence helped democratisation in the form of removal of the authoritarian Shah regime in Iran in 1979, whereas democratisation opened a space for Islamists in the form of Islamic parties gaining power in Turkey. In other words, Islamic resurgence can be interpreted in the context of the democratisation process in the Muslim world as a social movement for broader political participation, though it does not mean that Islamists have fought for democracy, or established democracy once they are in power. The issue of compatibility of Islam and democracy (see, e.g., Beinin & Stork, 1997; Eickelman & Piscatori, 1996; Entelis, 1997; Esposito & Voll, 1996; Kramer, 1993; Salame, 1994), and others who find Islam and democracy at odds and contradictory of each other (see, e.g., Fukuyama, 1992; Huntington, 1984, 1991, 1996a, 1996b; Lipset, 1994).<sup>1</sup>

In spite of lack of democratic experiences in Islamic history and the fact that Islamic governments from the beginning ruled on the basis of religious legitimacy rather than approval of people, the Islamic literature is full of references that can be interpreted in favour of both views on compatibility of Islam and democracy. If we let Islam talk with the historical experiences of Muslims, then contradiction of Islam and democracy can be the dominant view, but if we try to provide liberal interpretations of Islam, we can find enough sources in the Islamic literature to justify democracy. However, it seems none of the views are investigating deeply into the Islamic history, theological literature, sources and the contexts those literature and sources were created and developed to find out whether Islam is compatible with democracy. Both sides' views are based on the manifestation of Islam as an ideology and on modern political Islam, often in the context of local cultures in the past half a century, rather than Islam as a religion. For instance,

the case of the Taliban in Afghanistan cannot be a good example of the incompatibility of Islam and democracy due to the fact that the the Taliban version of Islam was deeply influenced by their local tribal culture.

The majority of scholars finding Islam incompatible with democracy view Islam as a uniform ideology that is inherently against democratic and liberal values. Francis Fukuyama writes:

It is true that Islam constitutes a systematic and coherent ideology, just like liberalism and communism, with its own code of morality and doctrine of political and social justice ... And Islam has indeed defeated liberal democracy in many parts of the Islamic world, posing a grave threat to liberal practices even in countries where it has not achieved political power directly.<sup>2</sup>

Similar views are expressed by other scholars such as Lipset and Samuel Huntington who compare Islam with Marxism and find it an impediment for development of democratic ideals.<sup>3</sup>

The pro-compatibility of Islam and democracy scholars' main argument is that Islam and Islamic theological sources and scriptures are open to interpretation and there is no monolithic view of Islam. Based on the interpretability of Islamic theological sources and jurisprudential concepts such as ijma (consensus), shura (consultation), and ijtihad (informed, independent judgment), the scholars who believe in the coexistence of Islam and democracy find evidence in the Qur'an, Hadith (narrations about sayings and deeds of the Prophet Mohammed) and Sunna (sayings and deeds of the Prophet Mohammed) and Sunna (sayings and deeds of sources in the Qur'an such as Verse 2: 25 that say: "Let there be no compulsion in religion," and in the Hadith, for example, "Differences of opinion within my community is a sign of God's mercy"<sup>5</sup> and the above concepts. The political experiences of Islamic concepts and parties

engaging in democratic processes are empirical evidence that scholars think can demonstrate compatibility of Islam and democracy.

Both sides of the argument are confined to an essentialist view that democracy should be produced through Islam and, therefore, if they find Islam compatible with democracy Muslims will have democracy, and if they do not, democracy and democratic ideals will not grow in the Muslim world. The pro-compatibility scholars try to pick and choose the limited sources in Islam, in some cases out of context, to prove that democracy is compatible with Islam and bypass the abundant number of sources in Islam contradicting democracy. On the other hand, the scholars who do not believe Islam can accommodate democracy consider Islam as a monolithic religion that is invariably against democracy. They do not see the interpretability of Islamic concepts and diversity among Muslims in the form of different schools of thoughts and jurisprudential doctrines and some sources in Islamic scriptures such as verse 99 of Younus, 29 of Kahf, 28 of Hood and 25 of Baqarah that forbid the Prophet to impose his religion on others and give people the choice to become faithful or not as evidences of co-existence between Islam and democracy.

Moreover, what is missing here is the fact that religion is not the absolute determining factor in human life and behaviour. It is growing human needs and constantly changing demands that make religion reform and adjust and not the content and dogmas of a religion that define and determine the needs and form of life of people for ever. Some religious dogmas are like other obstacles to the establishment of democracy in human history and the liberal democracies of the world have not become established in a short period of time and without challenges. The fact of the matter is that the challenges for democracy in the Muslim world are similar to challenges in other societies in the history. The difference is the rigidity of cultural and religious mechanisms in the Muslim world that have made these challenges tougher rather than Muslims being a different type of people who are inherently against democracy. A study authored by Steven Ryan Hofmann from Indiana University to empirically examine the relationship between Islam

and democracy in eight countries and Muslims and Christians undergoing democratic changes indicates that the level of support for democracy among Muslims is higher than that among Eastern Orthodox Christians.

The question is: was or is democracy the first choice for human beings? Why did it take two thousand years to reappear and hundreds of years to establish, though with serious challenges? In fact, unlike Francis Fukuyama's vision of democracy as a first choice, <sup>6</sup> it has not been and will not be human beings' first choice if absolute power could be achieved, as in the past. Those in power have the tendency to hold more power and influence than they already have and democratisation has not taken place by rulers giving up their power voluntarily. Even in the intellectual realm, as David Held argues, "from ancient Greece to the present day, the majority of political thinkers have been highly critical of the theory and practice of democracy. A general commitment to democracy is a very recent phenomenon."<sup>7</sup>

In spite of the fact that democracy is a contested idea and political system; that there are numerous conflicting interpretations and definitions of its key terms, political participation and representations; and that democratic thought has expanded, in terms of its scope, the basic content of all definitions is the same. There is a variety of definitions of democracy such as: the rule of people, the rule of the majority, the rule of the representatives of the people, a multiparty political system. Soroush defines it as follows: "democracy is the way of governance that considers the rule of people as their human and non-religious right".<sup>8</sup> Whatever the definition of people, and the decisions taken based on their consensus or majority consensus. From Athenian democracy (where the concept of people had limited meaning and did not include women and slaves and when we had few advocates of democracy except those like Pericles, the Athenian politician who was quoted by Thucydides as saying in his famous funeral speech that "our constitution is called a democracy because power is in the hands not of a minority but of the whole people")<sup>9</sup> to the present day, the democratic literature and definition of

concepts such as democracy and people have expanded extensively; democracy is about people and protection and respect for the rights of minorities, individual rights and life style, and equality of rights before the law.

Samuel Huntington well summarises the scope of the debate on democracy in the twentieth century:

In the mid-twentieth century three general approaches emerged in the debate over the meaning of democracy. As a form of government, democracy has been defined in terms of sources of authority for government, purposes served by government, and procedures for constituting government.<sup>10</sup>

Huntington believes that the first two meanings are ambiguous and imprecise and the dominant approach became the procedural idea of democracy:

By the 1970s the debate was over, and Schumpeter had won. Theorists increasingly drew distinctions between rationalistic, utopian, idealistic definitions of democracy, on the one hand, and empirical, descriptive, institutional, and procedural definitions on the other, and concluded that only the latter type of definition provided the analytical precision and empirical referents that make the concept a useful one. Sweeping discussions of democracy in terms of normative theory sharply declined, at least in American scholarly discussions, and were replaced by efforts to understand the nature of democratic institutions, how they function, and the reason why they develop and collapse.<sup>11</sup>

There are some differences of approach and discourse regarding the debate on democracy in the developing Islamic countries like Iran and in the Western democratic countries. The predisposition of the Western scholars is not the definition of democracy in an idealistic, classic and normative type – for instance, whereby democracy is the rule of people or people are the source of authority for government. That people as citizens, regardless of their ethnicity and religious beliefs, are the sources of authority for government is taken for granted and what is at stake is the process of how the government is constituted and functions, unlike the Islamic countries where the challenges are basic and still trying to establish who should govern and who are the sources of authority. In other words, the scope of the debate in the Islamic countries is not about the nature and function of democratic institutions yet. Samuel Huntington elaborates:

[...] this study (*The Third Wave*) defines a twentieth-century political system as democratic to the extent that its most powerful collective decision-makers are selected through fair, honest, and periodic elections in which candidates freely compete and in which virtually all the adult population is eligible to vote. So defined, democracy involves the two dimensions: contestation and participation.<sup>12</sup>

The challenges of the debate in Islamic countries such as Iran is whether the people should rule and who are the people: are they the Muslims only, the Shia or Sunni Muslims only, the Arabs, the Persians or the Punjabis only. In other words, the debate on democracy is still a classic and normative pre-twentieth century debate that is struggling to come to a consensus on what groups constitute the people: are Baluch and Kurdish or Sunni people part of the Iranian people with equal rights like the majority Shia, or do Shia have any rights at all in Saudi Arabia? One of the implications of an Islamic democracy or religious democracy can be that this democracy assumes a duty, as Soroush puts it, "to protect religion".<sup>13</sup> In doing so, would this democracy apply measures to protect the religiosity of the government and would that entail infringement of human rights of those of other religions, nonreligious people, and those with other interpretations of the same religion? What can be the definition of people in such a democracy and it is self-evident that the debate on democracy should be centred on the sources and purpose of authority rather than the procedural aspects of the formation of government?

One of the other specificities of democracy is its strong bond with pluralism, human rights and justice and the fact that a political system cannot be called a democracy if it does not maintain basic human rights and diversity of faith and culture. According to Carol Gould:

the protection of individual rights as a requirement of justice and the protection of minority rights against the potential injustices of majority rule are seen to be essential constraints on democratic decision-making, constraints embodied in a constitutional framework and in the process of judicial review.<sup>14</sup>

Democracy, from the beginning of its creation as a political system, was accompanied by the above values and elements; in other words, pluralism, human rights and justice were entwined with the fabric of democracy. Pericles said:

When it is a question of settling private disputes, everyone is equal before the law; when it is a question of putting one person before another in positions of public responsibility, what counts is not membership of a particular class, but the actual ability which the man possesses.<sup>15</sup>

Evolution in democratic thinking and the emergence of new challenges for democracy has enhanced the flexible and responsive nature of democracy to adapt and accommodate the emerging modern democratic demands. David Held explains that:

for any engagement with the contemporary meaning of democracy has to explain additional questions – questions not only about the 'internal' or 'domestic' character of democracy, but also about its 'external' qualities and consequences. This is so because one of the most conspicuous features of politics at the turn of the millennium is the emergence of issues which transcend national democratic frontiers. Processes of economic internationalisation, the problem of the environment and the protection of the rights of minorities are increasingly matters for the international community as a whole.<sup>16</sup>

It is not only human rights and the rights of minorities at the national level that matter for democracies, but issues like environmental and human rights at large are also areas of concern and, accordingly, political systems that do not recognise these concerns, will lack the essence of democracy.

In addition, pluralism as a diverse and tolerant form of life is the essence of democracy and the pluralist conditions of democratic societies highlight the fact that the growth of reason has left little room for incontestable truths. The claim of incontestable truths and monopoly of those truths is an aspect of every religion and due to this nature, religions, as Soroush claims, cannot be pluralist because they all claim to have the truth, or rather, the absolute truth, though he claims that we can have religious pluralism.<sup>17</sup> Believing in plurality of religions entails accepting the relativity of truths, while the unmitigated claim of each religion is that only it holds the truths. Mohsen Kadivar, one of the other Iranian scholars says: "faith comes about when there is an unrivalled individual transcendent truth present. Lack of the possibility of distinction between truth and falsehood will be the logical conclusion of religious pluralism."<sup>18</sup> If a religion concedes that it does not hold the whole and absolute truth, then it has opened the gate for relativism. Despite the religions' claim to hold incontestable truths, the growth of reason and the practical necessity of modern life have enforced pluralism as a means of coexistence between people of different faiths and those without any faith.

Pluralism provides the necessary atmosphere in which competing groups and parties can interact without violating the rights of others. As William E. Connolly says, in the case of America, "pluralism portrays the system as a balance of power among overlapping economic, religious, ethnic and geographical groupings. Each 'group' has some voice in

socially binding decisions...<sup>19</sup> Democracy cannot sustain itself if it does not uphold and protect pluralism and with the existence of genuine pluralism, the concerns that facilitate the incentives for a 'democratic religious government', a government that claims to provide the condition where religion can function and exist and have a role in public life, will be isolated. According to Alexis de Tocqueville:

a viable pluralism encourages among its citizens a widespread participation in politics "which originate in the lowest classes ... and extends successfully to all ranks of society." Such widespread involvement is necessary because "no one will ever believe that a liberal, wise and energetic government can ever spring from the suffrages of a subservient people."<sup>20</sup>

Democracy has evolved through realisation of the fact that the number of human beings as individuals who would risk their life for freedom, equality and participation in power has gone up dramatically and gaining absolute power is impossible. The great sociopolitical changes that have established democracy and the above notion have occurred in England, the United States and France in the past few centuries, during which time, "the French Revolution had more impact on democratic ideas than any other single movement."<sup>21</sup> The French Revolution was the end of struggle for recognition or end of "the 'contradiction' inherent in the relationship of lordship and bondage", according to Hegel.<sup>22</sup> Modern liberal democracy that was institutionalised after the French Revolution grants this recognition as a universal value to all human beings and Francis Fukuyama explains how it does this:

[...] it does this by granting and protecting their rights. That is, any human child born on the territory of the United States or France or any of a number of other liberal states is by that very act endowed with certain rights of citizenship. No one may harm the life of that child, whether he or she is poor or rich, black or white, without being prosecuted by the criminal justice system ... And finally, when this child reaches adulthood, he or she will have

the right to participate in the very government that establishes these rights in the first place, and to contribute to deliberations on the highest and most important questions of public policy. This participation can take the form of either voting in periodic elections, or the more active form of entering into the political process directly, for instance by running for office.<sup>23</sup>

The historical evolution of democracy and the fact that it has been open to change and formed on the basis of flexibility to institutionalise this recognition is well defined by John Keane. He says:

the exceptional thing about the type of government called democracy is that it demanded people see that nothing which is human is carved in stone, that everything is built on the shifting sands of time and place, and that therefore they would be wise to build and maintain ways of living together as equals, openly and flexibly.<sup>24</sup>

Despite the fact that democracy has become a global feature, its history, as Keane puts it is "still being made"<sup>25</sup>. The challenges democracy is facing in the Islamic world are yet to emerge simply because, according to Keane:

democracy required that people see through talk of gods and nature and claims to privilege based on superiority of brain or blood. Democracy meant the denaturing of power. It implied that the most important political problem is how to prevent rule by the few, or by the rich or powerful who claim to be the supermen.<sup>26</sup>

Perhaps a good characterisation of why democracy has resonance for the people of the world is contained in the observation by the Nobel-Prize-winning economist Amartya Sen that democracy has become its own justification.<sup>27</sup> As Rorty thought, according to Keane, democracy is valued in all corners of the world "because it gives hope to human

beings that their lives can be freed from the course of violence and cruelty. Persuasion rather than force, compromise and reform rather than bloody revolutions, free and open encounters rather than bullying and bossing."<sup>28</sup> It seems that the Islamic world has remained not only unaffected by these changes in human history, but also, due to the dominance of religion, Muslims have been prevented from exercising their desires as natural beings, for instance, the desire for freedom. The human being as an individual has not been allowed to be born in the Islamic world – an individual that has the freedom to think and investigate and choose and agree or disagree with the dominant religious beliefs.

Islam as a social movement emerged in the primitive society of the Arabian Peninsula, initiated by an orphan from a strictly tribal system in Mecca fourteen hundred years ago (610–632 CE); an orphan who was not destined to be a slave, as the fate of a person of his position usually was. Through his travels, personal and spiritual experiences and insight, Mohammed felt that his religion and monotheism, in belief and in social life, was the answer for the scattered Arab tribes. The structure of Arab society before Islam was tribal and as Ebn-e-Khaldone says, "there was no central neutral power there."<sup>29</sup> Mohammed's movement began in Mecca, but it did not find favour there and therefore he migrated to Medina where he found strong support among the two main tribes of Aws and Khazraj who, as Max Weber argues, were mainly attracted to the conquest and booty collection of this movement.<sup>30</sup>

In Medina, he emerged as a charismatic leader who established a political system. For ten years of his life in Medina, he was a political as well as a religious and military leader, who actively participated in wars, while at the same time, he was the lawmaker. Together with the Qur'an, his sayings have been the sources of Sharia law in the Islamic world. However, after capturing Mecca and in the last two years of his life in this city (630–32), once the inter-tribal conflict was over, he finished his mission of establishing an Islamic state. From then on, the new Islamic state began challenging not only other powers but also other religions as well by claiming that it had the final words of God and therefore

no other religion, except Islam, was valid anymore.<sup>31</sup>

After Mohammed's death and following his shadow of legitimacy as a charismatic leader during the first four Caliphates, the Islamic political system changed to dynasticism and monarchy, which sought its legitimacy through religion. Islam, as a source of law, politics, faith, economy and every aspect of human life, has not left even the secret corners of personal and private life untouched ever since. Even in the realm of knowledge and acquiring knowledge, Islam has been a condition, which means that if knowledge is supposed to develop in the Islamic world, it should not contradict Islam and therefore should be compatible with it, as a result of which we have had Islamic philosophy, Islamic sciences, and Islamic astronomy and so on. The term 'Islamic' distinguishes the Islamic products, or anything to do with Islam – the Islamic community, the Islamic world, Islamic civilisation, culture, economy, banking and so forth – from other human communities and highlights the authority of Islam on anything that has happened in the Islamic area of influence. Moreover, the language of the Qur'an is that of guidance, obedience, collective address and collective punishment. God has sent Apostles for each people (Qawm) to guide them in the right path and those people who have not followed or obeyed their Apostles have been punished and destroyed by thunder, earthquake or other means.<sup>32</sup>

Indeed, demand for obedience is entwined with religions, which is based on the philosophy that human beings out of the remit of religion are spiritually weak and their reason is not sufficient to lead them to salvation without the guidance of God. Nonetheless, since human beings are weak and in need of guidance for ever, they should follow God, his Apostles and the authorities associated with them.<sup>33</sup> The Bible says:

let every soul be in subjection to the superior authorities, for there is no authority except by God; the existing authorities stand placed in their relative positions by God. Therefore he who opposes the authority has taken a stand against the arrangement of God; those who have taken a stand against it will receive judgment to themselves.<sup>34</sup>

In Islam, unlike Christianity, this anthropology has been institutionalised through Sharia law, as Sharia law has been the main legal system in the majority of the Muslim world, which has also shaped the political structure of these people. A rational, earthly and manmade alternative legal and political structure has not been proposed or even had the chance to emerge. That is why rationalism and human-centred institutionalism have been an alien phenomenon in the Islamic world. Human beings in the Islamic world have not dared to come out from the rubble of centuries of laws and regulations that constantly encourage them, in the name of God, to obey and tell them that they are weak and should be guided. They have not stood once as independent human beings, which does not necessarily contradict a belief in God: they have been just followers.

The fact of the matter is that if religion is so embedded in our personal life that it forms our course of actions, the scenario of a religion-free politics is not relevant anymore. Religion and the legacies of religion are there and, depending on the extent of religiosity of a society, they will determine the secularity of that society. Even the secular societies of today are not religion-free societies and their secularities are shaped by their religious literature. Bruce Ledewitz writes:

[...] the boundary between the political and religious life can be viewed in three ways: historically, theologically, and philosophically. Historically, many of the concepts used in politics are basically borrowed from older religious traditions; theologically, politics sometimes serves as the realm where different concepts of God, and the relation between God and man, are worked out; philosophically, political theory and religious insights can be seen as addressing the same basic questions of human life.<sup>35</sup>

In Carl Schmitt's words, "all significant concepts of the modern theory of the state are secularised theological concepts."<sup>36</sup> Therefore, the challenges of the idea of an Islamic

democracy are not that it will have Islamic concepts and values in its organisation, but, rather, that it is Islam as the official ideology of the state and application of Sharia law, for instance, that will contradict democracy. The turning point towards democracy in Western history happened when this transformation from following religious decrees to making rational choices took place. Charles E. Butterworth argues; "by the late fourteenth or fifteenth century, we Westerners began to turn away from the notion that political authority is divinely inspired."<sup>37</sup>

Democracy in the West has evolved and been accompanied by the struggle for freedom and humanism: religious freedom in the form of religious reformation and civil freedom in the form of the French Revolution. In his lecture on the history of philosophy Hegel highlights the Reformation as "the all-illuminating sun, which follows that daybreak at the end of the middle Ages."<sup>58</sup> Unlike this great experience in the West, the cloudy skies of Muslims did not allow even the moon to be sighted in the dark nights of the Muslim societies. Religious reformation has been one of the main factors of capitalism's development in the West and, as Max Weber argues, the majority of capitalists in Europe have been Protestant and the majority of economic development centres have been the Protestant areas.<sup>39</sup> The question is why there have not been any such movements in the Islamic world. Why is it that the humanism, rationalism, and independent reason that flourished during the Enlightenment in Europe centuries ago and spread around the world have not found ground to thrive in the Muslim world? The answer is exclusively, at least before the colonial period, the domination of religious beliefs, the belief system that demanded conformity in all aspects of human life with religious definitions of life and values and left no independent reason and humanism to emerge. Perhaps this could be mirrored from the earliest description of England by a Muslim in the eighteenth century, quoted by Bernard Lewis, who was astonished to see divine law was not the only law for human beings and people could make their law based on their reason and requirements:

The earliest detailed description of England by a Muslim traveller is a fascinating account by Mirza Abu Talib Khan, a Turko-Persian resident of

Lucknow who was in England between 1798 and 1803. He watched the House of Commons in action, and his comments are enlightening. The government and the opposition MPs setting on their benches facing each other across the chamber reminded him of trees full of parrots squawking at each other, a common sight back home in India. When he learnt that the purpose of the noisy assemblage was to make laws, he was shocked. The English, he explained to his readers, had not accepted a divine law and so were reduced to the expedient of making their own laws, in accordance with the experience of their judges and the requirements of their time.<sup>40</sup>

Domination of religious beliefs and divinity in the Islamic world and its close link with politics has prevented any form of humanism and, above all, freedom of belief in God and divine love. For example, the Persian mystic Mansoor Hallaj was executed by Abbasaid caliph Al-Muqtadir because he believed in the union with the divine; and Muslims are not allowed to convert to other religions and apostasy is punishable in Islam. Different interpretations of Islam, to some extent, have been tolerated, which has created different jurisprudential schools of thoughts, but not freedom of thought and belief in God that could challenge the official religion. That is why democracy is facing serious challenges in the Islamic world and freedoms of all sorts, such as freedoms of thought, expression, belief, and political activities, have been an alien phenomenon. Freedom in its modern sense, as Bernard Lewis explains, has had "only legal and social connotations, and meant simply the condition of not being a slave."<sup>41</sup> Perhaps this assertion from Rached al Ghannouchi – "man would not have obtained his freedom had it not been for the revelation, for man was not born free but to be free"  $^{42}$  – is the typical understanding of freedom in the Islamic world: to be free, not to obtain freedom. In this religious discourse, human should be and is set free by God, revelation, God's apostles, and those who inherit the authority from them, not by their own efforts and personal endeavour and reasoning, since humanity is not considered what Protagoras was claiming it to be 2500 years ago: that "human is the measure for everything."<sup>43</sup>

Nonetheless, it is the above concept upon which liberal democracy has flourished and has been established as a form of life during the process of democratisation. As James Davison, the American sociologist, argues in the case of the US: "public schools' curricula tend to reflect an emphasis on the individual as the measure of all things and on personal autonomy, feelings, personal needs, and subjectively derived values – all of which are independent of the transcendental standard implied in traditional theism."<sup>44</sup> Advocating for or even debating about democracy in the Muslim world has not been a welcomed phenomenon as the theoretical backbones of religiosity, its anthropology and philosophy of life have not been seriously challenged. Democratisation in the Muslim world is not taking place because of the prevention of liberalisation of thought and religious dogmas: it is more or less being imposed en masse in the streets and globalisation.

However, whether religious dogmas are challenged or not, since religions, especially Islam, are closely associated with power, they have no choice but to secularise. In other words, religions and religious people have no other options but to relinquish their practice of absolute divinity and accept a nonreligious arrangement of political affairs that can accommodate diversity of beliefs and political opinion. A good example of this is the Islamic Justice and Development Party (AK Party) in power in Turkey that has accepted the secular constitution of the country. Turkish democracy would not work if this party stuck to its Islamic identity and remained loyal to Sharia law, though probably it cannot remain loyal to its identity with the presence of the Turkish army as guarantor of the secularity of the political system. There is nothing wrong with the activities of such parties and in fact it would be undemocratic to prevent them from competing for power but only if they accept the democratic process, as in the case of Turkey. The challenge is that these parties remain committed to their religious identities and as soon as they come to power they might stop the democratic process. In fact, democracy in the Muslim world cannot be fully established if Islamic thought is not critically challenged and rationally examined. It will otherwise remain as a source of mobilisation of the mass and destabilisation of the democratic governments. Based on Islamic thought and Sharia law, as Fatima Mernissi puts it: "the regimes that draw their legitimacy from Islam (Saudi Arabia for example) brand their opponents who advance the cause of democracy unbelievers, infidels."<sup>45</sup>

One of the factors, perhaps, in the contemporary Muslim world that has had a devastating impact on democratisation and liberalisation of these societies has been colonialism, which drove people to stick to the very basic religious dogmas as their identities. Religion has been a source of identity as well as unity against the Western colonisers and occupiers. In most cases, as Mernissi argues, struggle for freedom of thought was sacrificed by nationalist politicians to save unity,<sup>46</sup> probably for the benefit of dominant religious beliefs. This has created a kind of culture in the Islamic literature that no independent rational movement has been innovated, and Islamic belief has found modern theorists and ideologues glorifying the religious obstacles of thought, while at the same time advocating for democracy in the past few decades. The project is doomed to failure, since it tries to build democracy on religious foundations. In other words, the project endeavours to convert democracy into Islam to adjust to the religious dogmas, while there are instances of conflict between Islam and democracy – for example, the conflict between Islam and the freedom that is enshrined with the very notion of democracy, which cannot be circumvented easily. Mernissi writes:

*Shirk,* "the freedom to think and choose a religion … or the opposite of *islam*", is the most appropriate word for translating the word 'freedom' in Article 18 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, which is posed as an ideal to be attained: "Everyone has the right to freedom of thought, conscience and religion; this right includes freedom to change his religion…" This article is the very definition of the *jahiliyya*, the chaotic pagan world before Islam … It is in that brief Article 18 and the concept of shirk that the conflict between Islam and democracy lies as a philosophical debate…<sup>47</sup>

She is right about the conflict between Islam and the word 'freedom' in the Universal

Declaration of Human Rights but there is little similarity, though, between freedom defined by the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the primitive tribal condition of Arabs before Islam.

It is illuminating when Paul E. Corcoran says that:

from the perspective of twenty-five hundred years of Western political thinking, almost no one, until very recently, thought democracy to be a very good way of structuring political life... [T]he great preponderance of political thinkers for two-and-a-half millennia have insisted upon the perversity of democratic institutions, the disorderliness of democratic politics and the moral depravity of the democratic character.<sup>48</sup>

However, this is not limited to Western political thinking. If a simple definition of democracy is to be the rule of people over their social and political affairs, then nowhere have the absolute owners of power surrendered it voluntarily to the people. It is not only the absolute owners of power but also some of the intellectual leaders of mankind who have not believed in democracy; or, as Karl R. Popper puts it in different words and in a radical way: "our civilisation has so often been betrayed by some of the intellectual leaders of mankind,"<sup>49</sup> some of whom, in his view, have been on the eternal offensive against freedom and reason.

Opposition to democracy has not stopped the struggle for it, and highlighting the contradictions of religion and democracy in general, and Islam and democracy in particular, would enhance the democratisation cause in the Muslim world, which in turn signifies the private and personal nature of religion as a way out of this contradiction. If we are not transparent and do not take the risk of stressing the contradictions of democracy and Islam on the one hand and do not have the courage to criticise and refute the dogmatic interpretations of the religious dogmas on the other, we will not be able to have a real debate about Islam and democracy in the Muslim world. It is the lack of a real

debate that has driven the modern intellectuals and thinkers of the Islamic world, the theory of one of whom will be the subject of this research, to close their eyes to those dogmas and contradictions and speak of liberal democracy but cover it with an Islamic veil, which further complicates the democratisation process. There is no religious solution, or, rather, religious defence for democracy, since there is no instance in Islamic history to provide a source of reference for justifying democracy religiously. Democracy should be defended on its own merits. It "is the world's new universal religion", as Paul E. Corcoran says, that has its own "dogmas of liberty, equality, self-determination, and human rights".<sup>50</sup> Certainly a real debate on democracy in the Islamic world needs to confront the religious dogmas, but surely it has to engage religion and cannot be a purely secular debate.

The debate on reform in Islamic thought and Islam and democracy in the Muslim world and world academia has not been serious to the extent that we experience today, as if a real encounter is emerging, on the one hand between Islam in its traditional form as a solid and frozen belief with its dogmas and Sharia system and Islamic modern intellectualism headed by scholars like Dr Abdulkarim Soroush, in the case of Iran; and on the other, the liberal way of thought and life. The importance of the event is that it is Islam that is on a course of transition, facing grave challenges internally and on the external front, following passively the debate on its core relevance to modern life and desperately endeavouring to catch up with modern debates on democracy, human rights, women's rights and so forth. It is not Islam or Muslims who have chosen the debate or the terms of the debate; it is rather modernity as a package that finds its supporters and speakers in every corner of the Muslim world. The issue of compatibility of Islam and democracy is in fact only one aspect and perhaps the most important aspect of the encounter between Islam and modernity or rational and secular interpretations of the universe. This inevitable encounter is also highlighting the absolute urgency of reformation and surgery in the Islamic thought that could facilitate the easy access of the coming generations to the real messages of Islam that, as Allama Iqbal Lahori has said, is nothing but "loyalty to God".<sup>51</sup>

Islamic fundamentalism and extremist views among the Muslim communities are nothing more than a panic as a result of feeling the danger of losing the battle – between Islam as a religion, a faith, and a form of life dominating Muslim societies in the past fourteen centuries; and modernity, secularism, and democracy with its secular characteristics trying to replace the Islamic way of life. The real messages of Islam are heavily entangled with the chains of dogmas and jurisprudence that cannot be opened with the inexpert hands of the new generations tempted constantly with modern products. Those who cannot get to the real messages of Islam, due to the complicated structure of the religion and in the meantime cannot cope with losing the battle, go to the extreme and become destructive. This volcano might not last long and could subside, especially after some of the political grievances are tackled. The real danger is the rigidity of an Islam that is not meeting the demands of the new generations and the bewildered Muslims exposed to the dominant assertive materialist liberal culture. Whether we find compatibility between Islam and democracy or not, democracy and secularism will make their way through and find their supporters in the Muslim world while, by not reforming the religion, we diminish its relevance for new Muslim generations and maintain religion as unfit for its confrontation with secularism.

## **Chapter 2**

## **The Iranian Islamic Revolution**

Revolutions have been the common themes of great political and social changes in the lives of nations, some of which, like the French and the American revolutions, have had wider global impacts. This method of political transformation became a stereotype for mainly developing countries with leftist predispositions in the twentieth century. What the world had not experienced in the past was an explicit religious revolution, or rather an Islamic revolution, despite the religious dimensions that existed in some other revolutions such as the English Glorious Revolution of 1688. The Islamic revolution of 1979 in Iran was a unique phenomenon in the modern era that was claiming to establish a political system based on Islam and the means of this revolution was not the clerical establishment only, but rather the Islamic intelligentsia and groups of urban citizens headed by clerics. This chapter looks at this revolution from different aspects: its possibilities and challenges in Shia thought, its effects on Iranian society and Shia communities at large and whether it was a blow to the process of secularisation in Iran or an unintended force for good for an open society.

Contemporary Iranian history has been entwined with religion, one way or another, especially since the Tobacco Protest of 1891–92. Historically, the Ulama (the religious leaders) have always been mindful of how state and political affairs are run in Iran. However, until the 1979 revolution, they had not attempted to establish an Islamic state. The Ulama and the Shia establishment have not had a political ideology or a closely defined set of political beliefs and philosophy and organisation for gaining power and the political theory of Ayatollah Khomeini was rejected by almost all the grand ayatollahs, for example Ayatollah Al-Khuie in Najaf.<sup>1</sup> The Ulama's engagement with politics has been minimal except in the Tobacco Protest and the Constitutional Revolution (1905–11) in which they had a significant role. All that they have expected from the existing governments has been that the laws and regulations not be opposed to Sharia. They have

been largely concerned with religious education, scholarship and religious guidance of the people and, periodically, had raised their voices when they received complaints from their followers regarding certain sociopolitical issues.<sup>2</sup> Even the religious guidance handbooks that each grand ayatollah authors for their followers and calls *Towzeh al-Masaiel*, *Explanation of Questions* have had no reference to politics or invitation to involvement in politics.

In addition, Iranian nationalism never accepted Islam in its entirety and in its Arabic context and identity. The Iranian sources of national pride come from its pre-Islamic era. The Ulama, especially before the revolution, have been significant mainly when their rare political religiosity had something to do with Iranian nationalism. They were not looking for some form of Islamic Ummah or Caliphate system, for instance, but, rather, they have been part of the Iranian civil rights movement's processes when engaged in politics, and otherwise stayed away from politics as a whole, like those of Ayatollah Mohammed Musavi Behbahani and Ayatollah Burujirdi.<sup>3</sup> As a matter of fact, Mohammad Reza Shah was not pursuing a pure secular system like that of Turkey before the revolution, nor was the Ulama demanding an Islamic government like the one after the revolution. A de facto area of influence was recognised by both sides; the government maintained a respectful position towards the Ulama and took their concerns into account and the Ulama was content with their apprehensions being noticed by the political elite. The Ulama had a firm belief that it was not their duty to establish an Islamic government since in their view it was only the twelfth Imam who is in occultation that can establish an Islamic government. They were of the view that they were not allowed to establish an Islamic government as they could not do it justice, given that they were not innocent and only an innocent person who was the twelfth Imam could found an Islamic system. Khomeini's innovation was in fact a deviation from the Shia traditional religious thought and did not attract the backing of the respected grand ayatollahs.

Indeed, Ayatollah Khomeini, despite his theory of Guardianship of the Islamic Jurists, or *velayat-e faqih*, did not advocate for an Islamic government led by the clerical

establishment. In his earlier writings, Khomeini was critical of the political system but he did not go as far as to condemn the monarchy as a whole.<sup>4</sup> Ayatollah Khomeini himself mentioned when he was in Paris that after the removal of the Shah he would return to Qom, where the Shia clerical establishment's spiritual and theological base is located, especially after the decline of the Najaf Theological Centre in Iraq over the past few decades. He reiterated to the then Hojat Al Islam Ali Khamenai, when he was elected as the Iranian president, that he would approve his presidency because there was no other appropriate person to run the government. The clerics were not supposed to run the government; all that they needed was the judiciary system, the system that the Shah modernised. Khomeini reiterated several times in France with *The Economist*, Reuters and other news agencies that the role of the Ulama after the revolution would involve guidance only and not running the government.<sup>5</sup>

The apathy of the Ulama regarding politics was not because they accepted the legitimacy of temporal political systems, but rather for the reason that they believed that nobody could establish a just and real Islamic government except the twelfth Imam, who will emerge one day from concealment to bring justice to the world.<sup>6</sup> This perception of the temporal governance had dominated the Ulama's understandings of politics and therefore they had not attempted to establish an Islamic government. Ayatollah Khomeini was initially reluctant to allow the clergy to be in executive positions in the government, since people expected the governments to deliver services and if they failed to do so it would reflect badly on the clergy: it was better that others be blamed for the failures. It was the modern Islamic intelligentsia led by Dr Ali Shariati who wanted Islam as an ideology and nevertheless advocated for the establishment of an Islamic government, though not one to be led by the clerics only. Ultimately, it was the modern Islamic intelligentsia together with the Hujatul Islams, as Oliver Roy puts it, and not the grand ayatollahs who supported Ayatollah Khomeini and orchestrated the revolution.<sup>7</sup>

The concept of waiting for the twelfth Imam to re-emerge and bring justice to the world and Shia communities had crippled Shia communities around the world. It was the political culture among the Shia communities that they were not supposed to attempt politically to bring justice, since they were not in a position to bring justice to their communities and partly because they had been minorities everywhere and preferred quietism for survival. In the case of Iran, the representation of the hidden Imam by the Ulama had been transferred to the kings under the notion of 'king, the shadow of God on earth'. Other rulers could not bring justice either and the injustices that have existed during the occultation of the twelfth Imam, not only in the Islamic world but also in the world at large, are due to the fact that the rulers are not deemed to be innocent. The rulers are influenced by greed, sin and self-interest; in other words, they are not innocent and could not bring justice to humanity. Shia were not supposed to attempt to seize power and establish political systems; they were, rather, content with the belief that they were not allowed to struggle for power and should have waited for the twelfth Imam to emerge and establish a just system and they even let injustices flourish since that was interpreted as the sign of the emergence of the twelfth Imam. This was the dominant perception among the Shia communities around the world and there was no sign of serious Shia movements for political participation before the Iranian Islamic Revolution. For example, despite the significant size of their population, the Shia of Lebanon were one of the poor and marginalised communities of that country inspired by the breakthrough offered by the Islamic revolution in terms of active engagement in politics and struggle for power. They are the dominant force in Lebanon now.

The theoretical basis of revolution and reform in Iran was mainly introduced by Islamic intellectuals led by Ali Shariati, who interpreted the concept of waiting for the twelfth Imam to introduce a revolutionary ideology against the injustices rather than waiting for his emergence. In his view, waiting was "the religion of protest" and "a philosophy of history where the unjust and discriminatory systems and class divisions will be destroyed". He thought that whenever the people revolt against injustices and fight for justice, then the Imam would emerge, not vice versa. In other words, the Imam is waiting for us rather than that we should wait for him.<sup>8</sup> Shariati dismissed the dominant perception that Shia were not supposed to struggle for power and maintained that in fact

it was their duty to struggle for justice. This was the attractive and dominant discourse among the religious intelligentsia and clerics like Ayatollah Khomeini and it was this discourse that changed the course of history for Shia forever and provided the theoretical basis of the Islamic revolution. Until then the clerical establishment believed in the concept of waiting and that was one of the main reasons why no political movement emerged among the Shia communities, especially among the clerical establishment.

Ayatollah Khomeini's struggle for political power and the Islamic revolution have made a great change in the system of Shia clerical structure, though this has been unwanted by the main body of the clerical establishment, especially the traditionalist clerical elites. Khomeini was not a prominent figure in terms of religious knowledge and influence compared to those such as Ayatollah Khuie in Najaf. His religious knowledge and skills of delivering speeches and presentations and publications was not even comparable to those of his juniors such as Ayatollah Motahari and Ayatollah Beheshti. Khomeini was in fact a rebel inside the clerical institution and changed the direction of the Shia clerical system for ever. Since he did not have the support of the clerical system dominated by the conservatives, Khomeini, did not favour the clerical institution and tried to break it.<sup>9</sup> The idea of establishing an Islamic government itself was a deviation in the thoughts and minds of the clerical conservative establishment and against the theory of waiting for the twelfth Imam to emerge and establish a just political system. Khomeini's concept of 'government of the doctor of law' was a revolutionary theory in the clerical system of thought and a negation of the Shia concept of waiting for the emergence of the twelfth imam to establish a truly Islamic government. His theory that there will not be an Islamic society without an Islamic state was very close to the feelings about and understandings of Islam by modern Islamic intelligentsias and their anti-clerical positions.

The modern Islamic intelligentsias were advocating an ideological Islam for a variety of reasons. Their aspiration for a just and Islamic society through democracy and a democratic society was not their ultimate goal indeed. They were not clear about the type of political system they wanted and, under the influence of socialist movements around

the world, the Islamic intelligentsias were pursuing an internationalist concept of justice in harmony mainly with the anti-imperialist movements of the world. Even Islamic concepts like Imamate and religious imitation were defined under the influence of antiimperialist revolutionary literature. (Shariati Ali, Writing collection (Majmoa Asar) No. 7, pp. 208–209, No. 9. p. 260, No. 19. p. 347) The concept of revolution had an attractive resonance for the Islamic intelligentsia and, like the socialist movements they embraced, revolution was regarded as an instrument for fundamental changes in their society. All the efforts of Shariati, as the iconic figure of the Iranian religious intellectualism, were devoted to sincere attempts at raising awareness among the religious intellectuals for justice and resorting to Islam as a revolutionary ideology to achieve that. What Iran lacked was a strong movement for the establishment of a democratic system before the revolution. Certainly the political system with which the Islamic intelligentsia wanted to replace the authoritarian regime of Shah was not a democracy. It can be argued that democracy was not yet a priority. The political system that was admired by Ali Shariati was a democracy that was committed to a revolutionary ideology that could come into power with a majority vote but could not be removed from power by a majority vote.

There are two kinds of democracy: liberal democracy and committed or guided democracy DEMOC ENGAJEE or DIREGEE. The non-committed democracy is a liberal government that comes to power by the votes of people and has no commitment except that the people deman from it, though with the existing traditions and values they currently hold. The committed democracy that is a government born by the majority vote but which cannot be removed by the majority vote is committed to achieving the goals enshrined in the ideology and not to approval of society ... If there are people who do not agree with this method and their behaviour and votes corrupt the society... those traditions and beliefs must be condemned ... This is the committed democracy.<sup>10</sup>

It seems as if a Marxist revolutionary figure is talking rather than a Muslim scholar and it was this revolutionary atmosphere that provided the necessary means for the Islamic revolution in Iran.

Revolutions are very complex events that gain momentum during a very long period of time but occur unexpectedly under the influence of various factors. In fact, revolutions have taken place in societies with capability for mass mobilisation, where the majority of people are deprived of their basic rights and in most cases they adhere to the ideology of a charismatic leader. Revolution is the highest demonstration of mass movements. The potential capability of mass movement among Shia communities remained unutilised and untouched before the Islamic revolution in Iran, since relations between the clerical establishment and the people was based on clerical religious influence, undefined and unregulated. In other words, due to the spiritual relations between the people and the clerics, especially the grand ayatollahs and *marjas* (sources of emulation) and the fact that the quality of this relation was mostly defined and judged by the clerics and not by the people, it was the clerical leaders who had influence on people and, vice versa, Shi'ism and its clerical establishment could remain a serious challenge for an open society. The relation between the clerics and the people has been that of guide and followers established and institutionalised over the centuries and mainly operated through decrees issued by the clerical leaders, such as that of Ayatollah Shirazi's fatwa against the use of tobacco, and a concession on tobacco granted to Great Britain by the Shah of Iran in 1890 that caused the Tobacco Protest at the end of the nineteenth century.

This relation between the people and the clerics and their religious influence could remain a challenge for democratisation in Iran, since on the one hand the clerical establishment would not reveal their potential political influence through attempting to gain direct overt political power, and on the other, the people could not have a sense of a cleric's holiness in running the government. In other words, by not playing politics, the clerics could stay isolated and out of the sphere of the government's influence, but with a big influence among the religious and traditional sections of society, who could be mobilised by the clerics against any development project as long as the people did not have an understanding of the clerical political system in power. This could remain a big issue for democratisation and secularisation in Shia communities for the near future. However, the Islamic revolution has revealed this potential by bringing the clerics into power and under the scrutiny and judgement of the people and, therefore, diminishing their mass mobilisation potential. This has made the prospects for a real democracy better in Iran.

In a democratic society, the relations between the people and its institutions, whether religious or secular, are regulated and bound by the rule of law. For example, the church in a Western democratic country like France cannot rally mass support for disruption of law and order based on their religious convictions against a law passed by parliament or a decision taken by the government since, on the one hand, the church is one of the democratic institutions and its functions are defined and predictable and, therefore, it would not act undemocratically. On the other hand, the people and the followers of the church will not act unlawfully, even if they are asked by the church to do so; as citizens of France, they would not recognise any role for the church above the law of the land. The religious and clerical establishment in Iran has now become politically and spiritually ineffective like a church in a democratic Western society, whereas it was above the law or potentially above the law of the land before the revolution. The clerics could obstruct modernisation of the country and challenge the democratisation and secularisation of Iranian society. The clerics kept their own constituencies that could be easily manipulated by a fatwa that, on the one hand, prevented the government bringing in reforms and being fearful of the reactions from the clerical establishment to any innovative and modern projects and, on the other, disrupt the process of law and order, and the government could do little about it. The Islamic revolution has changed the dynamics of the relation between the clerics, people and politics and initiated the process of integration of the clerical system into mainstream Iranian society.

Certainly the Iranian revolution was one of the intricate revolutions and puzzling in terms

of the sources of influence and role of the big powers in allowing the revolution to succeed. There are numerous unanswered questions concerning the revolution's origins. Iran was considered to be an island of peace and security in the region and evolved as a nationalist regional power with great oil and gas reserves and potential for growth. Iran was also a strong ally of the West especially the United States. It is a fact that oil has been the main driving factor in US foreign policy in the Middle East and, as Senator Gary Hart has said, "it is the American oil under their sand".<sup>11</sup> Was the Iranian revolution orchestrated or at least allowed to happen because of the control of energy reserves in the region? How can a cleric live in exile, from Turkey to Iraq and France, and return safely to Iran to lead and establish an anti-American revolution and system? Likewise, with all the complexity of the intentions behind the revolution that are mainly political, can it be academically considered an Islamic revolution? The answer to the last question is that the Iranian revolution was not a purely Islamic one and therefore we cannot explain it in an Islamic context only.

Despite the fact that Ayatollah Khomeini's theory of Guardianship of the Islamic Jurists (*velayat-e faqih*) was rejected by the grand Ayatollahs, it found support among the young clerics even if they were the followers of other ayatollahs and from other nationalities, such as Sheikh Fadlallah of Hezbollah in Lebanon, who was a follower of Ayatollah Al-Khuie. His voice was heard by all around the political and intellectual spectrums, including the Islamic modern intellectuals. However, Khomeini's Guardian Jurist (*vali-e-faqih*), as defined by Ayatollah Montazeri, is in fact an Islamic superman that in reality cannot exist. He is somebody who is equipped with all possible good qualities and talents of human beings such as, "being wise, just, aware of the political affairs, able to execute the law, believe in Islam and be more knowledgeable than others in Islam."<sup>12</sup> This superman has the absolute power and there is no sacred area and forbidden zone for the *vali-e-faqih*; he can suspend any practice of Islam or change any arrangement even if it was set up by the Prophet, if he considers that to be in the interests of Islam and Islamic government. The *vali-e faqih* can "suspend the Hajj pilgrimage, destroy a mosque or disregard the Islamic contracts between the people and the Islamic government."<sup>13</sup>

This theory left little space out of politics for the clerics, the space they enjoyed before the revolution and, for the first time in the history of Shia, the political aspects of religion acquired the highest significance and religion became a political ideology. Perhaps due to this transformation, Ayatollah Khomeini's political philosophy was admired by the Islamic intelligentsia and other political activists. Given the extent of power and authority that was recognised for the vali-e-faqih, there was no need to wait for the twelfth Imam anymore and the clerics were divided into two categories: the clerics that became secular with their professional duties and engaged with politics, and those who remained loyal to their traditional practice and have become insignificant. In other words, the position and amount of power that was predicted for the Hidden Imam was granted to the vali-e-faqih. If the vali-e-faqih can do everything that the Hidden Imam could then the notion of waiting for his emergence was not an issue anymore and with the level of power and resources the *vali-e-fagih* has had after the revolution, especially during the charismatic leadership of Ayatollah Khomeini, pro-political engagement has become the new approach for the clerical establishment and little influence has been left for the traditional clerics.

The modern Islamists in Iran affected by the Marxist ideologies and left-wing revolutionary sentiments in the third world had been fighting on two fronts. On the one hand they had to keep their distance from the very powerful Marxist revolutionaries, even the Islamo-Marxists, and on the other, they had to be critical of the clerical establishment's lack of revolutionary commitment and claim to have monopoly of Islamic knowledge. The Islamic intelligentsia in Iran has been defining itself as owning or rather representing the soul of Islam. This movement, initiated by Dr Ali Shariati, was the most outspoken and yet was ineffective in terms of political changes and the process of democratisation in Iran, simply because it lacked any form of political organisation. They were the masterminds of politicisation and turning Islam into ideology for political change and revolution but had not tried to gain the social and political leadership of the Iranian opposition.

The alliance between Ayatollah Khomeini and modern Islamists was an unwritten deal between the two; the modern Islamists found their ideologue and political leadership as well as a partner among the clerical establishment that was closer to them than the clerical system, and the clerics wanted the modern Islamists and their understanding of Islam for social mobilisation and establishment of their system. Dr Abdulkarim Soroush was one of the modern Islamists that joined the revolution and was appointed as a member of one of the undemocratic institutions of the revolution, the Cultural Revolution Council. However, the position of the Islamo-nationalists who were politically organised and experienced and led by Mehdi Bazargan, the first prime minster after the revolution, was different and their alliance with Khomeini was not to establish an Islamic system, but rather to create a democratic republic.<sup>14</sup>

As was explained earlier, the clerical establishment did not have political organisation and experience of governance. They were deeply troubled by the Shah and his modernisation programmes especially in the judicial system. The growing modern judicial system that was enhancing the civil rights of the people, especially women and ethnic and religious minorities, together with wider brutal political repression and gradual exclusion of clergies from the system, provided a great opportunity for Khomeini and his followers to rally support through their strong network against the Shah regime. Comparing Khomeini's position before the revolution – especially during the 1960s when he was appointed as a *Marja* by the seminary teachers of Qom and began challenging the Shah's regime on some very democratic steps taken by the government in the form of the white revolution that granted equal rights to women and political rights to the religious minorities and considered them un-Islamic – with his position after the revolution, when he sanctioned fairly democratic rights to the Iranian people in the constitution, it becomes evident that his concern had not been religion only, but rather political power.

Despite the fact that there were numerous reasons for the clergy to feel excluded and furious with some of the Shah's actions, like sanctioning the extravagant 1971 event of

the 2500 years Persian festival while Iran was suffering from drought and when the festival itself was considered to be an apparent disrespect to religion and the religious establishment, it was Khomeini who took a political stance against the regime, not the clerical establishment. Khomeini did not know that his actions would be self-destructive for the clerical establishment and would remove the religious obstacles of democratisation and secularisation, not only in Iran but also in the wider Shia communities.<sup>15</sup>

However, the clerical system was not considered as a political alternative after the fall of the Shah, neither by the Americans nor by the religious-nationalists, who believed Ayatollah Khomeini was one of their own. The nationalists that inherited the legacy of Dr Mohammad Mossadegh, the former prime minster of the Shah, who nationalised the Iranian oil industry, were of the view that Ayatollah Khomeini was a moderate religious person who could be contained by them after the fall of the Shah. It seems the nationalists' understanding of the situation and their view of Ayatollah Khomeini as a moderate person determined the thoughts and made up the minds of the Americans about the political changes in Iran.<sup>16</sup>

Nevertheless, regardless of the nationalists' understanding of Ayatollah Khomeini, the Shah was convinced that the Americans had decided to make alliances with the revolutionary Islamists in order to prevent the spread of communism and the former Soviet Union in the region. He was troubled by the remarks made by Zbigniew Brzezinski, the former US President Carter's national security adviser, regarding the threat of revolutionary Islam in the former Soviet Union due to the great numbers of Muslims living in its territory.<sup>17</sup> Ultimately, the Shah sensed the change of hearts and minds in the United States about his Government and therefore did not show any resistance to the demands of Sullivan and Anthony Parsons, the American and British ambassadors in Tehran, for not using force against the opposition.<sup>18</sup>

However, in spite of the outcome of the revolution and the complexity surrounding it,

there had been a common consensus that an Islamic government was not expected from the revolution. Although the influence of Ayatollah Khomeini in the establishment of the Islamic system was undeniable, it was the creation of all Islamists: clerical, modern and nationalist. Ayatollah Khomeini never ceased to be seen as the defender of the interests of the deprived people of the world and sounded like yet another third-world revolutionary leader rather than just anIslamist leader.<sup>19</sup> Ayatollah Khomeini's popularity and his position as the leader of the revolution was due to four factors:

- His personal courage and charisma, which no other opposition leader, religious or nonreligious, had before or during the revolution. From 1963, despite the fact that he was a junior member of the clerical establishment, he became well-known for being outspoken against the Shah's regime.<sup>20</sup>
- 2. The time and the social conditions of Iranian society were other conditions that made him the leader of the revolution; charisma only was not enough. Failure of the Iranian society in a safe transition to a modern society and the incompetence of the Shah's system to deliver and respond to the new demands of the Iranian people, such as democratisation of the system, created the conditions for the emergence of a great opposition leader in the eyes of the Iranian people. One of the obvious reasons for the Islamic revolution was the failure of the modernisation project in Iran and the intellectual reaction of all backgrounds against the westernisation and 'western intoxication' or acceptance of the West and modernity without critique and adoption of modernity with the Western culture. The Iranian revolution that was neither Islamic nor modern was the meeting point of the dichotomy characterised on the one side by the Shah regime and on the other the clerical establishment. The first one adhered to the Iranian nationalism rooted in the pre-Islamic history of Iran, ignoring the Shia Islamic and religious elements of the Iranian nationalism, and the second has promoted religion and overlooked the pre-Islamic Iranian heritage. Khomeini's main criticism of the

Shah regime was not because it was not Islamic, but rather because it did not serve the interests of the Iranian people, perhaps.

- 3. Khomeini's position to revolt against the political system as well as the clerical establishment had no precedence in the Shia clerical system in the past. Unlike the clerical establishment, he was not one to wait for the twelfth Shia Imam to emerge and establish an Islamic government. He was the product of his time or rather the Imam of his time.
- 4. Khomeini's representation of the Shia disposition of the dispossessed: all the glorifications of the Shia as a minority in the history of Islam who fought for justice and the rights of the dispossessed, by religious intellectuals like Ali Shariati, were unfolding through a charismatic leader. Khomeini did not only speak of the dispossessed people of Iran, but he was also claiming to be representing the will of the dispossessed people of the world.
- 5. Khomeini's alliance with the modern Islamic intelligentsia: those who were on the opposite side of the clerical establishment before the revolution.

However, modern Islamists like Soroush soon distanced themselves from the system and have been critical of the Islamic government, not because a political system based on religion cannot be democratic but rather because it was not Islamic in the way they expected and therefore they proposed other Islamic models. These Islamists that defined themselves in opposing and discrediting the clerical system ultimately became a tool for the revolutionary clerics. Whatever differences they might have with the mainstream conservative clerical establishment, the contents of the political system they want to deliver would also be a Sharia-based Islamic system. Despite the fact that people like Soroush have adopted the modern Islamists' traditional position of divergence with the clerical system, mainly with the section of the clerical establishment in power, they have suffered an identity crisis. Although they have been insisting on their divergence with the clerical establishment, they have been instrumental for the clerical system and have not yet been able to establish their credential as an independent movement significantly different from the clerics.

The Islamic intelligentsia as a whole acted as a counter-establishment against the clerical system and defined itself as purer, more genuine and more committed to the real messages of Islam. Although, the alliance between the clerical establishment and modern Islamists did not last long after the revolution, and some like Mohammed Khatami, the former Iranian president, and Mohsen Kadiwar have distanced themselves from conservative clerical interpretations of Islam and politics and have become closer to modern Islamic intelligentsia, modern Islamists have contributed to the clerical system through advocating religious discourses on politics, democracy and so forth. Given the fact that they were the only group of intellectuals tolerated by the clerics and bound by the red lines of that tolerance, they either did not want to or could not initiate critical rational debates on politics, religion and democracy. In other words, they filled the gap between the clerics in power, who did not know much about the modern politics, institutions and governance needed to establish their political system, and the people of Iran who wanted democracy and freedom.

The contention between the two and the demonising approach of the modern intelligentsia towards the clergies was initiated by Dr Ali Shariati, the most controversial modern Islamist that advocated for an Islam without the clerics. Shariati was the most radical critic of the clerical system and his outlook differed fundamentally from the clerical understanding of Islam. He thought that Shia were the real followers of the Prophet Mohammed and his son-in-law Ali after him, though a very small minority. They remained critical of the unjust Islamic Caliphates throughout the Islamic history. They were tortured and massacred by Islamic Caliphates but never gave up their wish for establishing a just Islamic system. This rebellious minority became polluted and corrupt when the Safavide Dynasty took over in Iran in the sixteenth century and spread Shia all over Iran. The pure rebellious minority became the ruler and created a clerical establishment like their counterparts in Christianity. Shariati tried all his life to be the just voice of that minority and revive it and therefore never recognised the clerical establishment as pure Shia or Alavite Shia, but rather the Safavide Shia. He differentiated the minority pure Shia from those of the Safavide Shia, represented by the clerical establishment and it became the topic of a series of speeches by Shariati. He termed these differences as Red Shi'ism (the religion of martyrdom) against the Black Shi'ism (the religion of mourning); that was the title of his article on this subject.<sup>21</sup> Shariati was in fact the ideologue of the Iranian Islamic Revolution since it was he who revolutionised or, rather, cracked the Shia understanding of Islam.

The political philosophy that dominated the Shia understanding of Islam throughout history – that during the occultation of the twelfth Imam nobody could bring real justice and Shia were not supposed to form a government and were advised to wait for the emergence of the Imam – had in fact, hindered a very potentially powerful revolutionary philosophy of martyrdom enshrined in the massacre of the third Imam, Imam Hussein, and his seventy-two family members and followers in Karbala by Yazid, when Imam Hussein refused to surrender and accept the legitimacy of his government. What the clerical establishment of Shia had been doing was to mourn that tragedy every year and shed tears for the sacrifice Imam Hussein made. This interpretation of the Karbala tragedy by the clerical establishment was under the influence of their passive understanding of politics and what Shariati did was to rediscover and revive the martyrdom philosophy of Imam Hussein's revolution as a modern ideology for the Shia communities, and inspired millions of young intellectuals and even clerics.

Shariati initiated a political culture, for the first time in the history of Iran, that religiously justified revolt for justice and as Mehdi Bazargan, one of the other Iranian scholars and the first prime minister after the Islamic revolution has said, Shariati had created all the pillars of the revolution. If we consider three pillars for the revolution as being martyrdom, religious leadership or Imamate, and struggle for the oppressed and poor, Shariati created all of these pillars, according to Bazargan.<sup>22</sup> However, Shariati's

contributions were never acknowledged by the leaders of the revolution due to his bitter anti-clerical approach.

Nonetheless, a more moderate approach has been introduced by Soroush after the revolution, though it is still identical to the pre-revolutionary mainstream modern Islamist position. For instance, one of Shariati's criticisms of the clerical establishment is that it is not financially independent and uses religion as a business for earning their livelihoods: "you want to know how he thinks? First see who feeds him".<sup>23</sup> This is still one of the outstanding charges that Soroush makes against the clerical system today in a very moderate manner.<sup>24</sup>

## **The Islamic Government**

The revolution in Iran was not a pure Islamic revolution generated in the thoughts and minds of the clerics and their establishment and was not even considered a welcome change by the traditional clerical leaders. However, regardless of what factors and parties were involved in establishing the Islamic system, what I am going to explore in the rest of this chapter is to firstly find out to what extent we can call the Iranian system an Islamic one, and secondly to find out how the modern religious intelligentsia convened a space for addressing their understanding of Islam and to see how different Soroush's model of a 'democratic religious government' is from the current Iranian Islamic Government.

The Islamic revolution has been a unique phenomenon with no precedence in Islamic history. It has been unique for a variety of reasons; first, it combined religion and state, which had been a taboo for Shia Muslims since the beginning of Islam. Second, it shared some characteristics with all other Iranian sociopolitical as well as civil movements in the past and therefore it was the means for ordinary Iranian people to gain a better life.<sup>25</sup> Third, like any other revolution, the Islamic revolution began to shift from its principles when faced with the practical difficulties of social and political management.

Soon after the revolution, Ayatollah Khomeini, who had already presented his ideal political system, which was more religious than political, in the form of *velayat-e faqih*, began to be a pragmatic political leader. For him, since the state was in their hands, it was the success of the state that mattered; in other words, religion should be sacrificed for the sake of the pragmatic requirements of the state. The Islamic government could decide what was Islamic and what was not in the light of new challenges. The Islamic government can destroy a mosque or suspend basic religious duties if it finds it is for the benefit of the Islamic state.<sup>26</sup> He was treading on a dangerous path that no other clergy dared to in the history of Shia Islam and made the sanctity of religion conditional to the requirements of political power.

Fourth, freedom and a democratic society have been a long desire for the Iranian people and since the beginning of the twentieth century they have tried on various occasions to achieve that, initially during the constitutional revolution, later during the national movement led by Dr Mohammad Mosaddeq and finally during the Islamic revolution of 1979. In the Islamic revolution it was Islam that became instrumental for this goal. Finally, despite the fact that in the Iranian constitution, being Iranian is not a condition for the supreme leader, the Islamic revolution has not ceased to adhere to the Iranian nation's state integrity. The Islamic revolution has observed all aspects of Iranian nationalism even more strictly than the previous governments. It is as difficult for a Persian-speaking Shia from Afghanistan to marry an Iranian as for a Frenchman, as Olivier Roy explained. For instance, Jalaluddin Farsi, one of Ayatollah Khomeini's closest followers, could not run for presidency because his father was born an Afghan.<sup>27</sup>

The components of the Iranian government are not Islamic with precedence in the past. The best attribution for the Iranian system may be what Olivier Roy termed "constitutionalist theocracy"<sup>28</sup>, a theocracy that has all the procedural elements of a liberal democracy though lacking the contents of an open society, mainly due to the totalitarian political Middle Eastern tradition than the Islamic aspects of the system. The

function of the Iranian political organisation is based on the constitution, and the divinity of the system is a complement to its function and not a determining factor. It is the state and constitution in Iran that define the position and role of Sharia and clergies and not vice versa; in other words, it is a secular system that takes the religious aspects of the Iranian culture into account.

Despite the fact that no caliph in power in the history of Islam after Ali was Shia and the Sunni caliphs, who claimed to be the embodiment of the Qur'anic verse: "O believers, obey God, obey the messenger and those in authority among you"<sup>29</sup>, had not practised their power on the basis of a written civil contract like the Iranian constitution, the Iranian model can technically be considered non-Islamic. The Iranian Islamic system is more or less the continuation of the same political tradition in Iran since the emergence of Islam, with the difference that this time it is practiced by the clerics, based on a fairly democratic constitution. The story is the same; what is different this time is that religion is destroyed by the clerics who claim to be the advocates of religion. The arrangement in the past was that the state and the religious establishment had their own principles and red lines that they would not compromise. The great change after the Islamic revolution was that the religious establishment was stripped of its authority for the benefit of the state; in other words, politics was favoured at the cost of religion via secularised clerics that would put Shi'ism in a completely new phase of political experience for ever.

Iranian society, like that of its neighbour Turkey, received modernity and modernism in a very active manner in spite of the challenges faced from the religious establishments. Iranian literature and social movements in the twentieth century representing modern civilisation had been impressive. Iran had one of the most sophisticated leftist movements after the former Soviet Union in the world. The Iranian intellectual corpus was not only open to modernity and modernisation, but was also critical of that and a force for nationalisation of modernity and modernisation as well as dismissing opposition to an open society.<sup>30</sup>

The Iranian revolution was supported by all sections of Iranian society from Islamists to secular nationalists and leftists. The revolution is called Islamic and it is often thought that it was a reaction of the Iranian society against the modernisation or rather secularisation of their country and is even considered to be a big blow to the trend of secularisation in Iran. This perception is indeed based on contemporary theories that in most cases are supported by the empirical realities that religious communities have not only survived but also flourished without feeling obliged to conform to the requirements of secular societies.<sup>31</sup> It is quite evident that religiosity and religious awareness is on the rise in the world, from evangelical Christianity in the US to Islamic communities in Europe, whether for spiritual reasons or as a means of identity. The Islamists are on the rise in the Islamic world too, especially in the Middle East and, following the Islamic revolution in Iran and Shia communities across the world, political Islam with strong militancy components is spreading all over the Islamic world. In fact, the Islamists are all identical in one thing: that is, using Islam as a political means for their legitimate aspirations, except Al Qaida, which is mainly disimbedded and has gone to the extreme. There is no constituency left for the seculars in most of the Islamic countries after the terrorist attacks of 11 September 2001 in the US and, despite the setbacks in the relations between some of the Islamic governments and Islamic movements in their countries, these movements seem to be the only credible path to some form of democratisation in these countries. However, can the Iranian revolution be categorised as part of this global reality?

The answer to the above question is no. First of all, the Iranian revolution was not against modernisation and secularisation, since the instrument of the revolution was the religious as well as the secular movements of the Iranian society. Secondly, the majority of those who fought for the revolution were ordinary Iranian people, who felt that they had not benefited from modernisation and wanted a fair distribution of the country's modernisation turnover. Thirdly, the system and structure of Shia religious thought and Persian civilisation is very different from the rest of the Muslim world and therefore the Iranian case needs to be looked at separately from the global mood of religious remobilisation. The Islamic revolution has blown up Islamisation as a social movement in Iran and has set the country in a different direction from other Islamic countries where people are more religious than governments, unlike Iran where people have become secular but the government maintains it is Islamic. Iranian society is much more secular, as Olivier Roy explains, than that of secular republics like Turkey.<sup>32</sup>

The fact of the matter is that secularism has been on the rise in the past few centuries. Modernity has been intertwined with secularism and both have developed on the basis of the philosophy that human beings are rational beings and can individually choose what is good and what is bad; as this individuality evolved and had become widespread, the domination of collective beliefs has become weaker and weaker. This critical voice and aspiration of the modern human being is well explained by Karl Popper in his book, *The Open Society and Its Enemies*. The main message of Popper in his book is that if our civilisation is to survive and flourish, we should revolt against the domination of the great figures of mankind of our thoughts and beliefs, some of whom have been at the forefront of attacking freedom and reason.<sup>33</sup>

In other words, the modern human being is not supposed to be a blind follower of collective institutionalised beliefs or schools of thoughts but rather to endeavour to pioneer new ways of life. Religious and ideological establishments throughout history have always tried to cast their monopoly over human beings' life; however, modernism and the fast trend of secularisation have been the dominant reality of our life. The clear example of this transformation and change has been the experience and militant response of the Roman Catholic Church in the wake of the Enlightenment. The Church, in fear of losing ground to the waves of Enlightenment revolutions, took a defiant position against the modern changes while insisting on the dogmas that it believed in. The most evident act of defiance came at The First Vatican Council in 1870, at which the Church insisted on the infallibility of the Pope and immaculate notion of Mary, naively presuming that it could preserve these beliefs and stop the process of secularisation.<sup>34</sup>

The Second Vatican Council exemplified an evident setback and a great deal of conformity with the secularised world. The church confirmed that society was not reconquerable and took a stance that can be well explained by this Persian expression: "if the world does not put up with you, you put up with the world".<sup>35</sup> This has been more or less the position taken up by all religious establishments including the Islamic ones, though, in some cases, very slowly. Iran could be considered one of the leading societies among the Muslim world that opened up drastically before the Islamic revolution but the religious establishment did not give up acting as a state inside the state – not in a political sense but rather through obstructing modernisation of Iranian society.

The Iranian mullahs have tried to re-conquer Iranian society after the revolution but like all other dynasties (mainly Turkish and the Mongols) in the history of Iran who have captured Iran and have not only adopted the Persian language and culture but also expanded it, the mullahs have become inadvertently instrumental for the process of secularisation in Iran. It is true that religious movements and, as Peter Berger illustrates, "the conservatives or orthodox or traditional movements are on the rise almost everywhere"<sup>36</sup>, the Iranian reality is different and does not fit into this generalisation. In other words, the religious or traditional movements are not on the rise in Iran at the social level and the impediments for democracy are not posed by the people or religious establishment anymore; it is the authoritarian conservative minority in power that is opposing democracy there.

The fact of the matter is that religion was sacred to the Iranian people and had a very strong spiritual dimension before the revolution, and people were listening to the clerics, who were mainly critical of Iranian modernisation and secularisation and would attempt to extract any verse from the Qur'an or Hadith (the Prophet's deeds and sayings) and the Rewayat (the deeds and sayings of the twelve Imams) in order to contest modernisation of the country. After the revolution the situation has become the opposite. The politicised or rather the secular clerics that are holding power in Iran and who are representing the clerics, but acting out of the clerical traditional context, are inventing interpretations of

the Qur'an, Hadith and Rewayate if they cannot find enough in the Islamic literature in order to justify modernisation and, unintentionally, the process of secularisation of Iranian society. They soon realised that the modern Iranian society and politics required a modern approach and, in order to stay in power, they needed to use the very instrument and methods that they were criticising before the revolution, like universal suffrage and birth control.

The Iranian revolution has secularised Iranian religious intellectualism as well, to the extent that, unlike their predecessors before the revolution, their concern is not returning to their religious self, Western intoxication or rescuing religion anymore. Instead, their concern is to remove the religious barriers to democracy honourably and provide interpretations of Islam that are compatible with democracy and secular society. They are moving with the times and expectations of the Iranian people and have been touched by their own ideals of a religious system in power. The religious intellectualism is only a step ahead of the clerical establishment, and those among them who can go a step further to meet the democratic needs of the Iranian people achieve the position of a national champion for the Iranian society. What is in common for the Iranian society as a whole, except for a very tiny minority, is that the current political system is not sustainable. The core of Iranian society has become exceptionally secular: even a radical president like Mahmoud Ahmadinijat, against the wishes of the radical clerics, sanctioned the presence of Iranian women in football stadiums, who are not allowed to attend and watch while men are playing football, in order to gain the support of the secular majority for his reelection. The Iranian religious intellectuals are not debating things that are unfamiliar to the Iranian people; they are rather echoing the growing thirst of the Iranian people for an open society.

Basically, the Iranian constitution is also a secular constitution that overrides the message of the Qur'anic verse mentioned earlier that has been the defining guidance for the Islamic governments and caliphs in the past. It is the constitution that defines who is in authority among the people, or rather those who are elected through universal suffrage can have the authority. In a very demonstrative manner, Ayatollah Khomeini publicly asserted the supremacy of the state over Sharia on 7<sup>th</sup> January 1989 in response to the then president of Iran, Hojat al-Islam Ali Khamenaie, who announced the primacy of Sharia over other laws of the land.<sup>37</sup> The notions of Iranian citizenship, recognition of universal suffrage, and equality among men and women based on article 20 are not Islamic concepts. With the existing position of the Iranian system, how far Soroush is right to claim that the Iranian government is based on Sharia rather than the Islamic faith needs to be explored at a later stage.

The Iranian constitution is a genuine charter that is based on popular will and bypasses Sharia law and settles on the function of the government institutions. According to the constitution, power resides with universal suffrage and the popular will is recognised and exerted on all aspects of the system. For instance, although the supreme leader is not elected directly by the people, he is elected and monitored by the 'Assembly of Experts' of the Leadership' (Shoraie Khobragane Rahbari) who can also remove the leader if they find him to be unable to fulfil his duties or to be incompetent. It is appealing to know that, as John Esposito defines it, the Islamic system in Iran is the closest thing to democracy Iran has ever had.<sup>38</sup> The very basic elements of democracy such as universal suffrage and the notion of people are affirmed by even the hard-line clerics around the political spectrum and recognised by the Iranian constitution; the rationale that makes the Islamic republic different from a liberal democracy is not much due to the constitutional or rather structural content of the system, but rather is due to the status of the mentality of elites, whether intellectual or clerics. For example, 'people' does not mean all those with differences of faith, ethnicity, gender and so forth, who live in a defined political structure that we call a nation. They are rather only certain sections of society that conform with the legitimate definition of people provided by the minority hardliners. Those who fit into this definition or even conform to it - for example when Iranians grow beards to be seen to be religious and committed to the Islamic Republic, especially in the bureaucratic system in order to reach better positions, or attend Friday prayers in order not to be rejected by that narrow definition of people in the system – enjoy being treated as people and enjoy the democratic aspects of their system.

It seems the definition of people in the thoughts and minds of the majority of religious intellectuals like Soroush in Iran is not much different from the existing view in the Islamic Republic. It is quite evident when Soroush says; "in a religious society, a secular government is undemocratic", that either in a religious society, all people are religious or those who are religious are called people. The elites, whether clerics or intellectuals, are not way beyond the current constitution; in other words, the challenges of democracy in Iran lie in the thoughts and minds of the Iranian elites rather than the structural obstacles of the Islamic republic. However, the contemporary intellectual debate on religion and democracy and the role of religion in politics in Iran and Shia communities at large, and the fact that Iranian intellectualism has convened a role in this debate, is the outcome of some serious changes and transformations in the history of Shia religion.

The main slogan for the Shia has been that "the state can put up with profanity but not with tyranny". Shia were, as Bernard Lewis puts it, in a modern sense, "the supporters of a candidate for political office"<sup>39</sup> and were created at the beginning of Islam just after the death of Prophet Mohammed. For Shia, all caliphs after the Prophet, except Ali, and the dynasties inheriting power from the Islamic caliphs, have been illegitimate. Those who supported Ali as the just and fair person to inherit power from the Prophet believed in power remaining with the Prophet's family and this belief became a deep religious principle for them. Ali and his family did not inherit power and throughout the history of Islam, Shia felt excluded from power and as an opposition party lived with this sense of exclusion and they were punished for that. However, the Shia religious establishment, especially after the sixteenth century, advocated for an Islamic government established by the twelfth Imam who is in seclusion. They remained loyal to this principle and, therefore, considered the present situation as temporary and as transitional to the last Imam's government, hoping that the Imam would re-emerge at any time and bring justice. This created theoretical as well as religious hurdles for Shia towards an open society and, given that the Shia clerical establishment was deeply rooted in the Shia communities' social structure, the struggle for a secular system was very challenging.

Moreover, the origin of the Shia religious intellectuals' opportunity of being in a position – or rather, having the legitimacy and competence – to interpret religion, is embedded in the history of Shia religion. Islam in its current Shia face that is exposed to interpretation as a human product and knowledge is the outcome of two revolutionary transformations in the history of this religion. The first transformation was the victory of Usuleien (Scholarly) over the Akhbareien (Traditionalists) in the Shia thought.<sup>40</sup> Usuleien were advocating for the right of interpretation of Islam (Ijtihad) and the fact that the Ulama had a share in the interpretation of Islam, according to their time and social contexts. Akhbareien, on the contrary, believed that the gate for the interpretation of religion was closed after the seclusion of the twelfth Imam. The victory of Usuleien was a great step in the history of Shia Islam and a clear distinction from other factions of Islam. The idea that Islam is not a pack of frozen ideas and guidance that was delivered by the Prophet, was a new or rather a modern phenomenon in the history of Islam and it was a great step forward to believe that we human beings, even if limited to the Ulama, have a say in terms of how and what Islam should be like, according to our time and requirements.

This was perhaps one of the fundamental reasons that created the possibility of the Shia clerics becoming an institution independent from the state. No official interpretation of Islam was observed among the Shia and the Shia Ulama have had freedom to re-interpret almost anything in Islam. In other words, a *Marja* should be a source, innovator and an interpreter of Islam and consider himself as having a role to play to be supported by the people and become the source of emulation. People are free to choose which interpretation to emulate beyond any geographical boundaries and pay their religious taxes to their source of imitation, as for instance most of the Afghan Shia were imitating Ayatollah Al Khuie in Iraq and paid their religious taxes to him. However, you should demonstrate distinct and appropriate quality, such as understanding the requirements of the time and changing environment, in order to be a source of emulation.

The victory of Usuleien transformed the Shia religion to a democratic form of belief, in which people can choose freely their source of emulation, shift from one source to another, stay loyal to the thoughts and guidance of a deceased source or opt a new one and no consequences if you decide not to have a source of imitation.<sup>41</sup> A source of emulation or a *Marja* was neither necessarily a political figure nor a national one. Ulama had been nearly always against a direct involvement in politics and found themselves higher than the realm of politics. This resentment of involvement of Ulama into direct politics continued even during Ayatollah Khomeini's leadership of the Islamic revolution by Ayatollah Shariatmadari, for instance.<sup>42</sup> However, this anti-politicisation shield had kept Shia religion away from the sphere of social interaction to be assessed and critically investigated by the public and intellectuals and preserved the clerical establishment's monopoly on the interpretation of religion. Nevertheless, this democratic practice has kept Shia thought susceptible to constant and democratic changes.

In fact, the Shia clerics, or rather Shia understanding of Islam, has been progressive and responsive to the constant changing demands of its followers. The Shia Ulama are open to and familiar with the ancient as well as modern Western philosophy, culture and values and engage with it, though in most cases in order to simply refute it in the face of their claimed superior Islamic values and ideology. For instance, Ayatollah Motahari, one of the distinct and respected scholars of the Islamic revolution, said in an interview with Iranian national TV that:

The Western freedom is the freedom of animal desire. Our democracy offers the real freedom for human beings. Cyrus (the ancient Persian king), when he captured Babylonia, respected religious freedom and left the people free to practise their own religions ... but Abraham questions these ideas and says we should not respect these dreadful beliefs. By Western standards, this is anti-freedom. The Prophet Mohammed did not act like Cyrus when he entered Mecca and, by breaking the idols, he freed the people and their humanity.<sup>43</sup>

Despite the fact that the Shia clerics usually engage with Western philosophy and culture to conclude that the Western values are inferior to the Islamic ones, they have progressive dialogues with Western civilisation, the outcome of which has been constant susceptibility to change and modern demands.

Even though the Shia clerical establishment has been the most progressive in the Islamic world due to the openness of the Ijtihad gate and victory of the Usuleien over Akhbareien, the establishment of the clerical system as an independent institution that sought its financial support directly from the people and had been acting as a state inside the state became a danger to democracy, democratisation and secularisation. The Shia clerical establishment evolved during the centuries and became a force that could not have been bypassed by any secular political movements such as the Turkish model. The clerical establishment in Iran has all the time acted as a political force or pressure group in Iranian politics and at least demanded the conformity of the states' laws to Sharia law. This institution was so self-sufficient and entrenched in the Iranian society that no state could ignore it and the idea of a secular democracy with the existence of the clerical establishment seemed far-reaching and gloomy for the Iranians. Nonetheless, the breakthrough should have come from inside the establishment. This breakthrough that was the Islamic revolution constitutes the second revolutionary transformation in the Shia thought.

Ironically, the Iranian Islamic revolution of 1979 has been the second great transformation of Shia Islam that eliminated the institutional monopoly of the clerics on the interpretation of Islam. The victory of the Usuleien over Akhbareien opened the gate of interpretation of Islam to the jurists but ended up as a giant clerical establishment institution that could remain a hurdle for a secular and open society in the long term. The Islamic revolution was not only a political revolution but also a revolution in the thoughts and minds of Shia in the world. It destroyed the sanctity and theological domination of the clerics gained through centuries of evolution and consolidation and opened the realm of religious interpretation to the level of the layman. In other words, religious knowledge

became part of human temporal knowledge. It has been as a result of this transformation, however, that scholars like Soroush have been able to convene a space for themselves in theology, Islam and politics and claim the reward of being nominated the Luther of Islam, while it was in fact Ayatollah Khomeini who unintentionally became the Luther of Shia Islam. Khomeini removed the enduring obstacle for democracy and open society in Iran and, as Olivier Roy describes it, "broke the rule that had been established among the clergy over two centuries."<sup>44</sup>

### **Challenges of the Iranian Islamic System**

Ayatollah Khomeini himself was aware of the uniqueness of his movement in the history of Shia Islam. He was ambitious and revolutionary and knew that he would not reach the highest theological position amongst the clerical establishment and therefore rebelled against it and destroyed it. He was a grand ayatollah and no grand ayatollah had dared or even attempted in the past to revolt against the establishment. Khomeini did not recognise a role model for his movement in the Shia history except the Prophet and the twelve imams and neither had he admired a political figure in the history of Iran.<sup>45</sup> His understanding of the situation was quite accurate given the fact that the Shia religion at large and in Iran in particular had never experienced such an event, and based on the rationale behind the function of the Shia clerical establishment and politics in Iran, it was not even predictable. However, Khomeini was under a big illusion and naive about the understanding of his time. He did not intend to be the Luther of Islam and thought that returning to the time of the Prophet was feasible.<sup>46</sup> In other words, he, under no circumstances contemplated the fact that he would become the biggest force for secularisation in the history of Iran.

Shia religious authority has been transformed into political authority and politics is performed not by secular politicians but rather by the secularised clerics; the clerics who were dealing with the religious life of people became politicians and it was not religion and Sharia law that determined their courses of actions, as before, but rather political pragmatism and the constitution. In other words, the clerical establishment, which was anti-political or rather stayed out of direct politics, and had not attempted to gain political power, remaining conservative and threatening to any government promoting further secularisation beyond the scope of clerical tolerance, is now playing politics in the name of religion. The clerics and their institution cannot return to their status before the Iranian revolution and have entered a realm that has different sets of principles and rules, and are exposed to numerous temptations. The Islamic revolution took not only the clerics but also the Shia religion into the realm of politics and the clerics have recognised the fact that they should observe the rules of the game and be conscious of the fact that this will strip them of their religious authority.

The Islamic revolution of Iran has diminished the Shia clerical establishment's religious authority and influence to a political level that is not ethically and divinely binding for the people and can easily be disputed and disobeyed by them. There will hardly be any religious decrees or fatwas like those of Ayatollah Shirazi during the Tobacco Protest or Ayatollah Khomeini's fatwa against Salman Rushdie, which can be religiously obligatory for Muslims, and any such decree will be considered as a political request or even as a political request for Iranian national interests in the eyes of Muslims, including the Shia around the world.

However, the Iranian clerics after the revolution have been suffering from the same anxiety as the Islamists at large; that is, dislike of spiritual religiosity, the religiosity of the peasant, the mystics and so forth instead of the Islam of resentment that is entwined with their political aspirations.<sup>47</sup> In fact, they do not find moderate Islam instrumental for their political purposes and religiously convincing and, with political religiosity, they become susceptible to secularism. The ambiguity and fluctuation of Iranian foreign policy toward the West after the Islamic revolution has been due to this mental dichotomy where, on the one hand, they want to remain religious and stick to their religious rhetoric, and on the other, they are bearing the pressure of coming to terms with the secular nature of playing politics. As they have wanted politics for religion ever since

the Islamic revolution, politics has not had its real function. The political power and resources of the country have become the possession and monopoly of the radical minority to deploy it for their ideological purposes. Due to this fact, in order for the Iranian system to operate as a secular system, a political change is needed in the Iranian government. In other words, the potential for the Iranian system to emphasise either its Islamic values or secular qualities depends on the political will of the Iranian elites and growing need of the Iranian people for democracy and therefore the difference between a religious system and a secular one is political and not in substance.

The national upheaval after the June 2009 election proved that the problem in Iran is not religion or the constitution anymore. It is rather the challenges of the tyranny of the minority in power who are deeply embedded in the Iranian tyrannical political culture, and who are ready to violate religious principles as well as the constitution in order to stay in power. None of the measures taken by the Islamic regime are either legal or religious; from massacre of peaceful protestors to mass detention of opposition figures. The authoritarian minority, mainly centred on the military establishment, is joined with the very conservative part of the clerical establishment, at whose hands Ayatollah Khomeini suffered all his life and by whom he was not favoured when he was alive. The line of communication between the middle class of Iranian society and the conservative minority in power has broken down. The religious discourse that the legitimacy of the government comes from God and not the people, as preached by Ayatollah Yazdi, one of the conservative clerics, and the conservative minority in power in Iran, is not comprehensible to the majority of the Iranian people anymore.<sup>48</sup>

The fact of the matter is that religion, historically, as a force against modernity and democracy has become insignificant and the battle of the Iranian people will be the struggle against authoritarianism rather than religion. The emergence of Mahmoud Ahmadinejad, the current Iranian president, and his minority conservative allies as the second wave of the revolution does not fit in the rational calculation of the evolutionary phase of the revolution. The expected rational outcome of the sequence of events was to

see the reformists hold on to power and increasingly democratise the Islamic system towards a secular democracy. This has not happened, not because the rational calculation is wrong, but because an unpredicted event has taken place – that is, the appearance of the authoritarian conservative minority, but this time against the will of the Iranian people, and based on that rational calculation, it cannot become part of the evolutionary phase and soon should disappear.

The conservative religious minority in power might sense that their reformist counterparts' position of convergence of Islam and democracy might open the gate for a secular democracy and leave no role for religion and the religious establishment. That is why they have decided to impose the Islamic government, not the Islamic republic government, on Iranian people through an iron fist and not through the legal framework enshrined in the Iranian constitution. The dichotomy is quite sharp since, on the one hand there are the Iranian people with their ever-expanding middle class and demand for democracy, much more progressive and confident beyond the scope of the constitution of 1979, and, on the other hand, the very sluggish conservative minority in power that do not put up with the democratic rights recognised in the existing constitution. The debate is not the compatibility of Islam and democracy anymore, and even the reformist Islamists openly acknowledge that they adhere to the existing constitution, temporarily, not because of the Islamist aspects of the constitution but because of the democratic rights recognised by the constitution against the conservatives, who do not believe in those rights.

The Islamic republic can be considered one step forward towards democracy in Iran since a country like Iran could not bypass the clerical understanding of Islam and politics and yet establish a democracy. The clerical establishment could remain a source of threat and impede the process of democratisation and creation of an open society in Iran if they stayed out of direct politics. They could also emerge sometime in the future to challenge the process of democratisation in Iran like their counterpart Islamists in Turkey today, that hold power after nearly a century's domination of the secular system. In Iran, secularisation is taking place via its enemies who are finding its religious justifications, and religious intellectuals like Soroush are feeding this process in the name of modern or rather democratic religiosity.

# Chapter 3

### Soroush and Islam

### **A Thorough Analysis of Soroush's**

## **Religious Beliefs**

This chapter is dedicated to Soroush and his religious beliefs. Soroush does not deny that he is religious; he is not only a Muslim but also a Shia Muslim. His main argument is that there is no pure Islam in existence; all that we have are interpretations of Islam. As a young Muslim, Soroush was, at least in theory if not in practice, an Islamic fundamentalist. The young Soroush was not deploying the art of hermeneutics to hide his intentions as he is doing today. He was not only straightforward and mindful of the incompatibility of his religious beliefs with modernity and the modern world but also openly critical of modernity and liberal tradition. He seemed very genuine and uncomplicated, believing in Islam as a school of thought, which had a stronger grounding in morality than the existing schools of humanism and existentialism, and adhered to what he calls today the "Islam of identity".<sup>1</sup>

I will begin by looking at Soroush's intellectual life during his younger age when he was a follower of Islam, which he believed to be a superior belief, and he believed all those who were not a follower of Islam were going astray. Even our humanity in his view was not complete if it was not directed by the order of God. I will then examine the reasons why Soroush claims to have turned against the type of religious belief he was advocating and whether he has really distanced himself from those views or he has pioneered a smarter method to redraft them to serve modern audiences. The question that this chapter is going to answer is: how genuine and sustainable is his current approach? In other words, is it a cosmetic transformation or a revolution in content in his intellectual life? Is he the same Soroush that has deployed modern methodology and terminology to promote his religious beliefs and dogmas to a modern audience? In fact, the preliminary answer to these questions is that despite the fact that Soroush has contributed more than anyone else to the debate on liberalisation of Islamic thought in his country, he has offered little and has not gone far enough to be significantly different from his radical younger position. In other words, Soroush's religiosity and interpretation of Islam is not much different in content from his younger radical resolve.

Soroush began his intellectual career as a faithful and committed Muslim, who was inspired by the simple message of Islam as it appears to an ordinary Muslim in which the distinctions and divisions among Muslim and non-Muslim, us and them, and believer and non-believer are clear-cut. Soroush was an intellectual follower of Islam and still is; however, initially, especially at the beginning of the Islamic revolution, he was a very consistent Muslim, who expressed his religious beliefs as he found them in the Islamic literature – a genuine, simple and a rather intolerant version of Islam. He was not trying to please everybody and every audience as he is doing today; to be liberal with the liberal and religious with the religious.

Soroush was actively advocating for a God-centred world, a world where everything and all duties are defined by God. The highest position that human beings can achieve is to be perfect followers of Islam. Humans' humanity is preserved only in relation to God, his actions and deeds are also justified and valued only in relation to God. The world that religions are offering to us is a God-centred, not human-centred, world, in which all routes end in God, all activities are performed towards God, everything finds its interpretation through God and every action finds its meaning through God and loses its meaning as soon as it disconnects from God.<sup>2</sup> The young Soroush believes that the Islamic world that is a God-centred world has a focal point that is God and has a language that is religious. He encourages Muslims to maintain this language as purely as possible and try not to mix this language with others.<sup>3</sup>

Soroush's world is a simple traditional world of an ordinary religious man who is calm, certain and confident that the world is as it is defined by religion. There is a God who has created the world including human beings and has sent prophets to guide them through the path of God. He thinks that as "we become certain, whether in science or philosophy, only when we reach the final answer"; a similar analogy can be made for the God-centred world where you can address questions like: "Why does the world exist? Why do these events take place? Why do human beings exist? And why have religions come about? You can only get to the bottom of these questions through relating them to God."<sup>4</sup> In the

God-centred world, not only existence come from God but also values and ethics pour from God and all actions find interpretations and justifications only if they are for the sake of God.<sup>5</sup> In such a world, a human being is accountable only to God and not to other entities like community and people.

Democracy and the idea of people as the source of legitimacy and authority were alien to the young and revolutionary Soroush. He was part of the Iranian Islamist revolutionary movement for establishing an Islamic government and was unaware of the consequences of his, or to a certain extent, the existing revolutionary Islamists' ideology that advocated for the accountability of human beings only to God:

We do not rise up for the sake of people, class, race or nationality, but rather we revolt for God since the path of God is the path of evolution and not vice versa ... We do not base our values on people and idols like these, we go a step further to reach God and reaching God includes reaching all of these.<sup>6</sup>

There is no role recognised for people in this ideology while the interpretation of this mentality in politics can be nothing less than an authoritarian regime, a political system that Iran has experienced since the Islamic revolution of 1979. The theory of 'Absolute Guardianship of the Jurist' of Ayatollah Khomeini was not an abstract theory and in fact it was preached in a different sense by other revolutionaries, whether clerics or religious intellectuals including Soroush. Despite his theory, Khomeini did not consider democracy against Islam, though he was talking of 'Islamic Democracy' before the revolution. However, he adopted a harder line against the West and democracy. He said in a meeting with the Islamic Republic Television and Radio Committee in Qom on December 10 1979 that: "In the revolution that was achieved in Iran, people were screaming that they wanted Islam; these people did not rise up so their country could have democracy."

It was evident that, in line with the hard line against democracy represented by Khomeini, the revolutionary Soroush was not concerned with democracy and did not yet feel the constraints of the God-centred world that he was passionately struggling for. His understanding of life and existence was and to some extent still is very simple; the world including human beings are created by God as explained by the Islamic literature, God is there at the top and we human beings and other beings in the world are there to worship him, "live for him", "die for him", and see and interpret everything through him. The world without God for Soroush is a dark world and the desperate attempt by other schools of thought such as 'humanism' and 'existentialism' that are trying in vain to exert the light of human beings into this dark world, are worthless.<sup>7</sup> Human beings' humanity is complete only when it is based on God.

An uncompromising young Soroush, who was fighting for an eternal interpretation of life, was not reasoning or interpreting Islam but rather accepted it like an ordinary Shia follower and propagated it as an ideology. He was not alone in understanding and applying Islam literally in his life, especially before the Islamic revolution in Iran, and considering life and sociopolitical institutions without aims and missions, or at least without aims and missions that were prescribed by Islam, was inconceivable. There was no serious debate on democracy or even religious democracy among the Islamic intelligentsia and the dominant perception was to establish a political system based on an ideology and bring real justice to the people. The political discourse was not the struggle of people for the establishment of a government that they wanted but rather a political system with a mission established by some elites and, in the case of Soroush, by a Godcentred ideology. The seeds of an authoritarian government were already there in the thoughts and minds of even the religious intelligentsia.

The style and format of Soroush's intellectualism was a junior copy of his role model Ali Shariati. Following Shariati, Soroush also picked and chose the elements in Islam that fitted into his sceptical perception of the modern world. Without an understanding of the practicality of the application of those idealisms and their social contexts and the political consequences of the ideologies based on these idealisms, Soroush echoed them as part of his religious beliefs. Comparing the God-centred world with the human-centred one, Soroush has said:

In the human-worshipped and human-centred schools of thoughts, human beings are their own God, neither has anybody sent them nor is anyone waiting for them, no one. They are thrown in this blind and wild world of nature, to see if they could find the light with their own hand and creation, otherwise they will remain in the dark. But the Quran says: if someone does not get light from God, he/she shall not have light.<sup>8</sup>

The same religious views are active in Soroush's political theory today. His main criticism of liberal societies and liberal democracies is that the rights of God are ignored in these systems. The religious democracy that he is proposing aims to put this right and reinstate the rights of God and his role in running our political life:

The problem of religious democratic government is threefold: to reconcile people's satisfaction with God's approval; to strike a balance between the religious and the nonreligious; and to do right by both the people and by God, acknowledging at once the integrity of human beings and of religion. The task of religious governments is, obviously, much harder than that of democratic or religious regimes ... If God exists and has rights, must those rights be upheld? Surely, those who are mindful of human rights cannot be indifferent to God's rights, if such exist, nor can they neglect His existence and rights in the conduct of human life. It is by no means less significant to be concerned with the rights of God than with those of human beings.<sup>9</sup>

Soroush has not come to terms with some of the preconditions of a democratic society where you are expected to advocate for your rights and human rights because democracies are for people. Religious beliefs are personal matters in a democratic society. There is nothing wrong with advocating for a political system where Soroush can put his understanding of a religious God-centred system into practice and call it anything but a democracy. The fact of the matter is that despite Soroush's assertions that it is religion that should adjust itself to democracy and not vice versa, his religious beliefs cannot support his democratic political position.

Soroush considered the Iranian Islamic revolution a God-centred revolution that was going to put God at the centre and any attempt to interpret or explain the revolution through human beings and their central role was decreed by Soroush to be betrayal and deceit, since the revolution was only for the sake of God.

If our revolution in this country has one specification that makes it superior to other revolutions it is that it is God-centred and not human-centred. Any attempt to interpret this revolution in a human-centred language is betrayal and deceit, in my opinion. This revolution is a revolution for the sake of God. In other words, it is God who is at the centre and when you give centrality to God, everything else proceeds from that.<sup>10</sup>

It is evident that Soroush was a passionate defender of the religiosity of the Iranian revolution rather than a democratic voice in the revolution, even in the form of a democratic religious scholar. The fact that he is advocating for a 'democratic religious government' today is a great step forward as compared with the young revolutionary and fundamentalist Soroush.

Politics was the subordinate element of Soroush's religious beliefs and an instrument for his ideology. Not only he did not believe in democracy but he also did not recognise the needs of human-centred political systems. Democracy has no golden aims and ideals other than those that the people expect of it and bestow on it, but this is not acceptable to the Islamists like Soroush since, on the one hand, the government is not created just to manage sociopolitical life but is, rather, established to ensure the dominance of God in society; and on the other, the dominant notion in the Qur'an and among the Islamists is that the majority are ignorant and "do not think".<sup>11</sup> This lack of respect and recognition

for the rule of the people goes far beyond Islam to the thoughts and political philosophy of Plato and Aristotle in ancient Greece, who had a great impact on philosophy in general and on political philosophy in particular in the Islamic world. If the government has some sacred missions to accomplish and should have revolutionary planes to establish a desired society, as Shariati thought<sup>12</sup>, it cannot be achieved with the ignorant majority. The young revolutionary Soroush did not even compromise on the Iranian revolution being interpreted based on the legitimate aspirations of the Iranian people for a just and democratic political system that they were deprived of during the authoritarian regimes of the past. The revolution succeeded with the help and sacrifices of the Iranian people but the elites, including Soroush, denied the democracy that they fought for and, instead, they were sidelined from the centre for the benefit of God.

Soroush was not alone in this sentiment; it was the dominant position of nearly all Iranian Islamists during the Iranian revolution. This also demonstrated the immaturity of the debate on democracy along the entire political spectrum in Iran. In fact, democracy as a product of liberalism in the West was not thought to be compatible with Islam and, therefore, it was not debatable. The current debate on democracy and compatibility of Islam with democracy headed by Soroush is the antithesis of the Islamic idealism of Islamic intellectualism and the challenges this idealism has encountered in practice. Soroush's idealism was not only political, it was based profoundly on his religious belief and the religious mentality of us and them, God-worshippers and human-worshippers, believers and non-believers (Kafer).<sup>13</sup> Soroush was profoundly religious and was promoting the type of Islam that Islamic fundamentalism has adhered to for the past few decades, which would reinforce the polarity of us and them and friend and enemy. In his view, not only do beings find their existence through God but also obligations come from God; all beings get their life and existence from God and "what must be done and must not be done find their authorisation directly from the orders of God."<sup>14</sup> In other words, there is no room for independence from God, since all those who are following paths other than the path of God are going astray.

The difference between the young Soroush and the mature one is great, though not so much in content. He is a scholar, a theologian and known as a philosopher, mainly in the West, not as that innocent young Muslim believer who was neither trying to hide his religious beliefs nor attempting to please everybody. He is still a practising Muslim, who prays five times a day, fasts during the month of Ramadan and observes other Islamic practices enshrined in the Sharia law. Like other Muslims, he believes that there is a God, who has created the universe including human beings and has sent us the prophets to guide us free of charge on the right path and, had it not been for the involvement of the prophets to pick up the pure messages of God and pass them on to us, who have no direct access to God, we human beings could not find the true path of God.<sup>15</sup> This is the dominant belief amongst the religious communities that had it not been for the prophets, people would have gone astray. That is why Soroush insists on the application of Sharia law, since the prophets' messages and the true paths that they have offered should be applied in a legal context in the form of Sharia law. Despite the distinction that the proreligious-democracy Soroush makes between the main messages and the essence of Islam and Sharia law in order to justify his political theory, he still believes that without Sharia law, the essence of Islam cannot survive.<sup>16</sup> Whatever arguments Soroush provides to support his theory of democratic religious government, his religious views clearly do not adhere to his political aspirations. This also demonstrates how adulterated his political accounts are, especially for a foreign audience who do not know much about the deep religious beliefs imbedded in his earlier fundamentalist approach, and which are present in his current softer religious beliefs.

We need the revelations, according to Soroush, since we cannot figure out everything through our reason and need a source that is connected beyond human reason.<sup>17</sup> Soroush is a Sufi and deeply influenced by Persian mystical literature, part of which is critical of reason or even anti-reason.<sup>18</sup> One cannot believe in the assertion that reason is not a capable means for finding the truth and rights and wrongs of human's actions and in the meantime, advocate for a political system that is rational and can only function on the basis of collective rational consensus. The Muslim Soroush seems to be far away from

the democratic political debate and much closer to the traditional mainstream Islamic understanding of power and politics that is predominantly religious and undemocratic.

### Soroush and the Prophet

Soroush's understanding of the philosophy of life and the universe is that of the understanding of other religious people that God has created the world and we human beings are obliged to worship him. We cannot find him with our reason and without the guidance and sacrifice of those who are appointed by him to channel his messages in different times and languages to different people. The world outside of this structural mapping of the universe, including the secular and liberal world, exists in vain with no divine moral content and faith in life after death. These appointees, initially, had been ordinary people with no knowledge of reading and writing but when chosen as the prophets they became the direct associates of God and ascended dramatically from the level of ordinary people to the level of direct friends of God, who were communicating with God and had first-hand divine knowledge, though still lived normal lives like other people.

Islam had formed or rather unfolded in a historical process and evolved gradually. Prophethood was a kind of experience and wherever you have experience, you have the evolution of experience. Islam unfolded during the daily experiences of the Prophet Mohammed and through the challenges he faced in his society, such as hostilities among the Arabs and towards his movement and the faith and mentality of his people.<sup>19</sup> Like a teacher at school, a professor at the university, or a religious and sociopolitical figure in a society, who face constant questions and find answers, the Prophet Mohammed formed Islam through facing questions and issues. Soroush's innovative contribution to this debate is that, firstly, Islam took form through a historical process of facing challenges and questions and answering them and, secondly, it could have expanded and evolved even further had the Prophet lived longer, since so many things did not happen during his time.<sup>20</sup> What is obvious here is that the formation of Islam, in Soroush's view, was

question- and challenge-driven and not a set of revelations beyond historical contexts for all people of all times, as most other Muslims understand. In other words, Islam was formed in response to the Prophet's social challenges, and since different societies have their own challenges in different times, the response to the challenges of one society cannot be fit for the challenges of other societies especially in different times. It seems that Soroush intends to open a space for reform in Islamic thought or to find a position for reinventing or reinterpreting Islam in response to the challenges of today.

The above approach puts Islam in a very unsafe and unstable position, though at a glance, it manifests a revolutionary approach that intends to liberalise Islam and reinvent it in response to the challenges of today. If we assume that Islam is formed through a historical process in response to the challenges of the Prophet's time and society and believe that if the Prophet had lived longer, Islam could have expanded further, we can deduce that Islam is not complete and we are free to have our own Islam in response to the demands of our time. Soroush stresses that the religion that had formed in response to historical events has no choice but to continue changing and reshaping following encounters with emerging challenges; Islam has evolved after the Prophet Mohammed and scholars like Ghazali, Hafez and Balkhi (Rumi) have added to Islam, according to Soroush.<sup>21</sup>

This particular preaching of religiosity can open the gate for a liberal society and Soroush could get credit for championing such a theory. What is at stake here is the viability of Islam as a religion. If Islam was formed historically and through the challenges and questions the Prophet faced, like a professor at the university, it should be incomplete and limited to the time and society of the Prophet, and since the prophet could not live forever, in theory, Islam cannot be a perfect religion, as the majority of its followers believe it to be. The questions and issues of each generation in a society are different and indeed its answers, let alone the challenges of other societies and cultures.

The implications of Soroush's theory are not only these, which are supported by further

arguments he presents that other Muslim scholars have added to Islam, but also leaves Islam exposed to disintegration and fragmentation in terms of its cohesion and structure. This can be a good empirical and secular analysis of how Islam was created historically, but the fact is that, as a religious theory, it displays a very instrumental understanding of Islam that is subject to our interpretations and manipulations to the extent that our countless versions of Islam in response to modern challenges take precedence and find no need for compatibility with Islam as it was revealed. The majority of Muslims might find this theory alarming, since the dominant view among Muslims is that Islam is a complete religion and was completed before the Prophet passed away based on the Qur'anic verse that: "this day I (God) concluded your religion for you, completed my favour upon you, and have chosen for you Islam as your religion".<sup>22</sup> Islam was not formed based on the challenges and questions put to the Prophet and the answers he provided to those questions; it was Allah who used any occasion to reveal messages to the Prophet that are for all human beings of all times.

Conditioning the revelations to the type of questions and challenges posed to the Prophet and claiming that, had the Prophet lived longer, the Qur'an and Islam could have been longer in their evolution and more comprehensive, not only undermines the sacredness of Islam, but also does not reflect the reality of how Islam was created, based on the understanding of the majority of Muslims. God revealed Islam to the Prophet Mohammed in a limited period of time that has all the spiritual messages human beings need for ever and, had he not finished his messages to the Prophet, he would have extended the life of the Prophet. To say that Islam could expand had the Prophet lived longer, since so many things did not happen during his time, means that God has not completed his message because the Prophet did not live longer to face those other challenges. However, whatever the implications of this theory, a scholar with these sets of beliefs and theory, can feel comfortable advocating for a religious democracy; but is it really Islamic and is this the real Soroush?

The fact of the matter is that Soroush is not consistent and the dominant theme in his

religious theory is that we cannot get anywhere with our reason and therefore we are in constant need of the revelations. At this stage Soroush closes the chapter of reasoning and becomes a devoted follower of the Prophet and, surely, the debate on democracy will be redundant on such occasions. This demonstrates that Soroush speaks his mind when he is not discussing politics. He clearly does not believe in independent reasoning and claims that there is no independent reason in religion.<sup>23</sup> He is right in this assertion that there is no independent reason in religion, since it cannot be contained inside the religious structure and preferences. Recognition of independent reason in religion will ultimately disintegrate religion from within and officially opens the gate of secularisation in that religion.

However Soroush's intellectual life is full of contradictions and, while the dominant thought in his religious theory is that we should follow the prophet one hundred percent and believe that he is the final messenger of God and also accept that we are 'sinful', 'ignorant' and 'unclean', whereas the prophet was immaculate, he turns a hundred and eighty degrees when he discusses politics in Islam or Islam as an ideology. Contrary to his above religious beliefs, his advice to Muslims in order to rescue Islam and Islamic civilisation is to resort to independent reason and rationalism and only through "exerting independent reason, not religious reason and not jurisprudential reason, we can save Islam and the Islamic civilisation that has had the final nail hammered to their coffin by modern civilisation, from the path of extinction".<sup>24</sup> Provisionally, I am going to stay with Soroush's mainstream religious beliefs and will not go deep into his world of contradictions at this stage.

The Prophet Mohammed was not only immaculate and at the highest level, in terms of divinity and closeness to God, according to Soroush, but he was also the source of truth; in other words, all his words and deeds were divine and we are not able to find out why. For example, the Prophet had nine wives, while no more than four wives are allowed for other Muslims and we should accept that simply because he knew what was right and what was wrong. There are things that we do not comprehend in the Prophet's personal

life; however, since he was the source of truth, we are not in a position to question them.<sup>25</sup> Nonetheless, our duty is to follow his general life to the extent that we can, since we cannot reach the position of fully comprehending and implementing what he has asked us to do. The prophet himself or rather his personality is the reason for his words and deeds to be believed in; for example, "accept this argument because I say it, not, accept my words for this reason" or "we sell truth and the bases of truth and you can only find them here".<sup>26</sup>

Soroush believes that we should follow the Prophet without looking for reasons or justifications, since the nature of the prophetic argument is different from the scientific and philosophical ones. The Prophet was not reasoning with people and did not convey his messages through philosophical arguments; he was the source of truth and was asking the people to not only listen to him but also obey him if they wanted to be human beings, otherwise, they would remain human-like beings or animals. According to Soroush, "only those who accept being animal can ignore the messages of the Prophets".<sup>27</sup> Referring to Balkhi's poems, Soroush explains that the non-believer (Kafer) is a "sick person, mentally ill and ill at heart, or has an illness of not accepting the truth or they are blind and deaf and the Prophet runs behind them free of charge to heal them and give them medicine".<sup>28</sup> That is why the Prophet even despised the material world and non-believers, in order to shake them into knowing that he had burning truths; what he was saying were not ordinary arguments and if they refused to listen and accept them, then "they were worse than animals and out of the realm of humanity".<sup>29</sup>

As we can see above, there is no trace of reasoning and rationalism in Soroush's arguments. He well reasons that a democratic society cannot be built on the above religious beliefs and these beliefs will contradict every aspect of democracy. Soroush is right in revealing parts of the very essence of Islamic beliefs and his faith, and the fact that religions are not inclusive and tolerant and have their own verdicts, but he forgets that he also advocates for the project of rationalism in Islam in order to, on the one hand, justify his political theory and, on the other hand, rescue Islam from the path of

extinction. Regardless of the incentives behind his rationalism project, Soroush fails to prove how he can deduce a viable rationalist discourse out of such a religious belief. He is not only a follower of the Prophet, but also a theological advocate and preacher of the above beliefs. Soroush believes that "we value ethical principles and values, do not support cruelty and aggression, openly and do not worship idols because of the prophets".<sup>30</sup> In other words, we are human beings because of the prophets and he clearly repeats this slogan that "those who are running away from listening to the Prophet are like the donkeys that are fleeing from lions".<sup>31</sup>

The implications of these beliefs are that there would be no shared human morality and values, common sense of humanity or respect for ethical principles among human beings had it not been for the Prophet. He dehumanises those who are not religious and destroys the line of communication with everyone unless they are Muslim. He is clearly preaching the content of some of the verses in the Qur'an that say "and whoever seeks a religion other than Islam, it will never be accepted of him and in the hereafter he will be one of the losers"<sup>32</sup> that are openly contradicting democracy and a tolerant society. Soroush is not shy about expressing such extreme beliefs, since a great deal of his conviction is to keep religion alive in modern societies and challenge liberalism.

Soroush's religious beliefs, unlike his rational liberal vision, which are presented mainly in politics and when he addresses a foreign audience, are like that of his cleric mentor Ayatollah Motahari, whom he often refers to as a reference to corroborate his religious theory. Motahari openly opposed freedom and tolerance. In his view, Islam was not to recognise any form of belief and faith in the name of tolerance if they were considered to be anti-Islamic or superstitious. In one of the series of his interviews with Ali Paya that has been broadcast several times on the Iranian TV channels (and most of these interviews with Ali Paya and Soroush are accessible on YouTube), Motahari says that when Queen Elizabeth II of Britain went to India and visited one of the temples, she took her shoes off out of respect to Hindus' religion, but Islam's approach is not like that. Islam's position is like that of Abraham's, who entered the temples where idols were kept and destroyed all idols, except the biggest one, with his axe and left his axe with the bigger idol to indicate that the bigger idol destroyed all. This is the way Islam deals with superstitions and beliefs considered to be inhumane.

There is no difference between Motahari's beliefs and Soroush's elaboration of the Prophet's deeds whereby those who were fleeing from him were worse than animals and were like donkeys that were fleeing from lions. The fact of the matter is that Soroush's religious beliefs are in line with the mainstream Islamic position that all those who are not Muslims are on the wrong path. We live with them because they are there and the offensive jihad to impose our religion on them, at least among the Shia after the prophet and the twelve imams, is forbidden; they can live under Islamic authority but they have to pay special taxes (Jizia) for the protection that the Islamic authority provides for them. They are not considered clean and on the right path and, therefore, not equal to Muslims.

What is significant is that regardless of the fact that an Islamic authority like those of the Islamic caliphs of the past does not exist anymore, the belief and the perception is there. Muslims like Soroush might be pragmatic and in the real world; they seem to be tolerant, but this tolerance is not backed by their religious beliefs and convictions. The central argument of the religious establishments, including Soroush as a leading figure and unrecognised member of the Iranian clerical establishment, has been that human beings are weak, incapable, sinful and in need of guidance and therefore we need somebody to show us how to be human beings and rescue us from the dangers of the secular world. Soroush is the modern face of this establishment and the modern ideologue who has learnt modern science and philosophy to find the right tools and equipment to sell the above beliefs to modern audiences. What he is doing, no clergy can do; that is, fighting modernity and rationalism with modern tools and methodology. He believes that we should be aware that "history would go in the wrong direction had there not been the prophets" and, hence, we are privileged and honoured by God to have been guided by the Prophet.<sup>33</sup>

Thus, it is the Muslims' responsibility, or rather ours as modern Muslims, to equip ourselves with modern theories for three reasons: first and foremost, we cannot comprehend fully the Prophet's demands to follow him and get to the bottom of his arguments without modern theoretical approaches; second, "our time is the time of secularism", when the role of religion for managing our sociopolitical life has decreased and where we cannot see any role for the prophets and it is up to Muslims to reinvigorate their role; and, third, modern philosophy and philosophers have replaced the prophets and challenged them and in fact this challenge, according to Soroush, is quite serious.<sup>34</sup> Modernity and modern philosophy are based on human reason and the premise that human reason and collective reasoning are the only way forward to create a humane civilisation, in which human values and dignity are respected. This civilisation has created common universal values, and at the centre of this civilisation is humanity. This is what Soroush cannot come to terms with and it has troubled him and he tries to challenge that, through reinstating the religious version of a humane civilisation.

Soroush is worried that human societies are getting secular. He is equipped with modern scientific and philosophical theories that liberalism and secularism have offered him and deploys them to serve a religious and illiberal form of life. His religious belief is built on the centrality of God in human life, where human beings can, at best, be good followers of Islam. Soroush does not explain his stereotype of an Islamic ideal society and in most cases he has the modern secular liberal society in mind, though he describes who can be the best Muslim, since he has the role model of the Prophet. However, the dominant view in his career, especially when he talks to internal and Muslim audiences, is that a good Muslim is a good follower who is enchanted by the glory of God and the Prophet. Under the influence of mystical literature, especially that of Mawlana Jalaluddin Balkhi (Rumi), Soroush negates independent reason and philosophical reasoning for a faithful person, since philosophical reason is considered to be deprived of the ability to enable us to reach faith certainty forever.<sup>35</sup>

It is very difficult to guess the real intentions of Soroush, since he cannot be categorised into any school of thought. On the one hand, it sounds as if he is not sure about his beliefs and life after death. He constantly refers to Louis Pasteur's logic that assumes there is life after death, asking who will be the winner or the loser; a believer or non-believer. We are told by religions that there will be life after death and our life will not terminate with our death. Those who are faithful to religions will be the winners if the assumption of life after death comes true, and if it does not and it turns out to be false, nobody will be the loser. In other words, we believe in religion that gives us assurance about life after death and that there is a God, whom we should worship in case these things are all true, as and if it is proven to be true, then the non-believers will be the losers.<sup>36</sup> On the other hand, it sounds as if Soroush has no real thoughts of his own to add to human knowledge but rather interprets the thoughts and poems of Balkhi. He is a Muslim because Balkhi was a Muslim, he is a Sufi because Balkhi was a Sufi, and he attacks independent reason because Balkhi discredited reason and, as Balkhi called Shams Tabrezi, his spiritual mentor, "my Shams, my God", we can say that Balkhi has such a status for Soroush. He is a modern scholar but adheres to Sufism and mysticism that considers reason to be a nuisance in pursuit of the knowledge of God.

The story of opposition of modern and mainstream Muslim scholars, including the reformists in the Islamic history of Sufism and mysticism, is a long story. Each side opposes mysticism for different reasons. Modernists blame mysticism and mystical literature for the prevention of rationalisation of Muslims and a rational approach to organising life and social and political systems. Not only have the great mystics like Balkhi been role models, but they have also dominated Persian and Islamic literature. Balkhi says "reason is there only to ambush the heart of human beings to remove the hidden treassure imbedded there."<sup>37</sup> The Islamists, however, are disturbed by the anti-Sharia nature of mysticism and the fact that mysticism has, in effect, deconstructed Islam as a religion and advocates for a relaxed form of religiosity. However, Soroush is one of the exceptions in this debate and, while he is a follower of Balkhi and a mystic himself, he is occasionally pro-Sharia too.

Soroush is pro-Sharia as well as anti-Sharia depending on the occasion and audience, and sometimes a liberal. He believes that the soul or rather the 'nucleus' of Islam, that is, the content and mystical aspect of Islam, cannot be preserved without the protecting skin that is Sharia law. In fact they have the same value and without a well-preserved shield, the nucleus will be destroyed too. In other words, you cannot have an Islamic society without observing Sharia law.<sup>38</sup> Soroush sounds reasonable and realistic when he claims that Islam, without Sharia law, cannot continue to exist. He is not a jurist, however, and he knows the implications of the rule of Sharia law in society and that those who determine the application and interpretations of the laws are the jurists and not Muslim intellectuals. He also knows what would happen to individual freedom and human independence.

However, a Sharia-run society or rather an Islamic society formed on the basis of Sharia laws is not what Soroush would like to be established. Soroush establishes his critical theory, or rather his critical approach of Islam, on the basis of liberal society, though he is mindful of the implications of acknowledging that. To do this might have grave consequences either for his constituency at home or the authenticity of his religious beliefs. I will look into this part of Soroush's beliefs in depth in the fourth chapter but it suffices here to say that Soroush does not fight for an open society but rather attributes the values of an open society to his own ideal religious society.

However, the major specificity of Soroush's religious beliefs is his need for guidance. He constantly acknowledges that if there were no Prophets, we could not find our humane way of life. The analogy of the relation between the Prophet and the followers is that of the doctor and the patients: as the patients must obey the instructions given by the doctor in order to recover, we should obey the Prophet, since the Prophet is even more concerned about us than we are for ourselves.<sup>39</sup> He sees normal reasonable people and their need of the Prophet as akin to patients in their relation to doctors; as doctors have the monopoly of medical knowledge, the Prophet has the monopoly of divine knowledge, where our position should be absolute obedience. He claims that the problems of

humanity do not settle down unless we refer to the Prophets.<sup>40</sup> The principal need that we have from the Prophet, according to Soroush, is that we are weak and in need of support and cannot handle the temptations of this world alone and, therefore, we need the Prophets to help us fight these temptations and teach us things that we cannot understand alone.<sup>41</sup>

One can be sure that Soroush knows about the contradictory messages of different religions and the sources of conflicts embedded in religions. The idea of the Promised Land for the Jews and the hostility of the Qur'an towards Jews are some of the simple examples of religious hostilities.<sup>42</sup> However, he wants to bypass these differences, where in reality this cannot happen and, therefore, he lives with the nostalgia of premodern and pre-secular religiously dominated social structures, where God had a role in the people's life.

The other specificity of Soroush's religious view is that religions and the Prophets' messages have been mainly for the middle group of people, not for the elites like those of the philosophers. These messages have been very simple to understand and that is why they have spread so easily around the globe.<sup>43</sup> Nonetheless, this is not the mainstream view and he does not specify himself or any other figure in Islamic history as being an elite who can make his or her own way without listening to the simple messages of the Prophets. He does not stop short of demonstrating his loyalty to the Prophet's message and confirms that he follows the Prophet without any hesitation as explained earlier, though he does not clarify his intention or in fact whether he is looking for a way out of the religious structural faith. It seems that he is not. It sounds as if he has a static understanding of human beings, or rather human nature, and in response to the question of why we need religion, Soroush's view is that religion merges with the personality and existence of the person and, as one cannot separate from his or her personality and life, he or she cannot split from his or her religion either. "Religion is not like clothes or shoes that, when they get undersized, you throw them away. Once you believe in it, it becomes part of your existence and remains with you forever".44

#### The Qur'an as the Direct Words of God

Soroush's understanding of the content of prophetical experiences is circumstantial; the predominant view in his thoughts has been that, first and foremost, he accepts that they were experiences embodied in the Qur'an, though occasionally he acknowledges that it was the direct words of God given to the Prophet by Angel Gabriel and the Prophet did not manipulate them. By confirming the Qur'an to be the direct words of God, as other Muslims do, Soroush puts himself under the spotlight to deal with all obvious contradictions associated with the Qur'an and other Islamic literature. Moreover, Soroush contradicts himself by calling the Qur'an, on the one hand, the experiences of the Prophet that were formed over a long period of time and in response to the events in the Prophet's life, and, on the other, the direct words of God.<sup>45</sup> It could either be the direct words of God and, as he claims, for all peoples of all time and therefore independent of a particular social context, or it is the experiences of the Prophet that were formed based on the capacity of the events that could happen in his society. The dominant theory in his belief is the second one; however, he believes that through jurisprudential practice, the jurists can draw the relevance of the revelations to their time.<sup>46</sup> In other words, the Our'an is the direct word of God and it is the jurists who can make it earthly and relevant to the needs of the time. His main emphasis is that the Qur'an is a historical entity.

Accordingly, Soroush believes that, and is in fact obsessed with the idea that, since the Qur'an was formed during a historical process and in the context of the life and events in a period of the life of the Prophet, in another sense it is a historical miracle that occurred and was formed during a natural life, it could be longer and contain or rather cover much wider issues, had the Prophet lived longer. Soroush thinks that the Qur'an was created naturally like the poems of Balkhi that were written over a period of time based on his mystical experiences:

Revelation is 'inspiration'. It is the same experience as that of poets and mystics, although prophets are on a higher level. In our modern age we can

understand revelation by using the metaphor of poetry. As one Muslim philosopher has put it, revelation is higher poetry. Poetry is a means of knowledge that works differently from science or philosophy. The poet feels that he is informed by a source external to him; that he receives something. And poetry, just like revelation, is a talent: A poet can open new horizons for people; he can make them view the world in a different way... But the Prophet is also the creator of the revelation. This content, however, cannot be offered to the people as such, because it is beyond their understanding and even beyond words. It is formless and the activity of the person of the Prophet is to form the formless, so as to make it accessible. Like a poet again, the Prophet transmits the inspiration in the language he knows, the styles he masters and the images and knowledge he possesses.<sup>47</sup>

The common understanding in the Qur'an and among Muslims is that the messages of God were delivered by the Angel Gabriel on every occasion to the Prophet Mohammed. At the first encounter, there was a conversation between the Prophet and Gabriel when the Prophet was asked by Gabriel to read but he could not. The Prophet was squeezed by Gabriel a few times and asked to read in the name of God and then the Prophet recites behind him. This is not like the inspiration of a poet, and considering the messages delivered to the Prophet as inspirations and in response to the challenges of his lifetime will diminish the divinity of the Qur'an.

In addition, the question is this: how can a book that is the outcome of the experiences of one person in a very limited period of time, which could be longer if the person lived longer or even be different if he was in another culture and society, be fit for all peoples of all time? Soroush's response is that it is fit forever and will remain unaffected. What will make it fit for different times and cultures is our understanding of it. According to Soroush, all that we have in the name of Islam are interpretations of Islam; there is no pure Islam. It depends on what we expect from

religion and, based on our expectations, we read the religious literature and interpret it based on our needs and, therefore, as our needs change over time, our interpretations of religion change as well.<sup>48</sup> However, Soroush gives an obscure picture of Islam by describing it as a series of experiences of the Prophet that stopped at some point.

He backs up his view by objective analysis of the format of the Qur'an. He explains that there are three discourses in the Qur'an: the first one is the caravan or convoy discourse that matches the experiences of the Prophet when he was working for the business of Khadija, who later became his first wife, and when he was travelling a lot with caravans. Some of the language of the Qur'an, such as "guide us in the right path" or Satan's pledges to deviate Muslims from the right path, are from this discourse. . The second and the third ones are the trading and kingdom discourses that matched the Prophet's experiences at the time.<sup>49</sup> Ironically, Soroush comes to the edge of saying something new but, like his master Ghazaly, who could not find a rational justification for the existence of religion, surrenders to mysticism;<sup>50</sup> he changes direction and does not treat the Islamic literature as experiences that need to be revised in accordance with requirements of times and societies. The idea of religion as the experiences of the Prophet can be traced in the thoughts and minds of Mohammed Iqbal Lahori, who explains in more depth the evolutionary emergence of the Qur'an in his book The Revival of Religious Thought in Islam and it seems that Soroush, like his predecessor Dr Ali Shariati, has been influenced greatly by Mohammed Iqbal.

In addition, in explaining the content of the Qur'an, there is no trace of a critical rationalism in Soroush's thoughts. He is like any other traditional cleric who believes in the Qur'an as it is written. What is important to know is that Soroush is not a critical thinker regarding Islam; he is a believer, who makes every effort to explain whatever is in the main Islamic literature. For instance, he is not critical of the position of Islam on slavery and says that slavery was imposed on Islam and the Prophet could not change the world order; he had slaves and slaves were taken from Muslims .<sup>51</sup> In reference to the

Qur'an, (Surah 55. Ar-Rahman), Soroush says that we should thank God for everything he has provided on earth for us; for instance, God has created the seas and pearl and coral inside them and the ships that are sailing on those seas. He has also created two heavens in which there are trees and two fountains and beautiful women. God has also created animals for their meat to be used and for us to keep warm in their skin and carry our loads on them and also he placed the mountains on the earth so that if the earth shakes, you will not be thrown here and there.<sup>52</sup> Soroush quotes these verses and explains them like a cleric in a mosque to make his points.

Soroush acknowledges that the Qur'an does not give any indication that by believing in Islam, believers will get anything in return in this world but they will get everything in the other world. God even provides a better life for non-believers but he (God) is worried that everybody will become a non-believer; otherwise, God would make the ceilings of the non-believers from silver.<sup>53</sup> It sounds as if working for a better life in this world is not encouraged by God and it looks like the main reason that philosophy and rationalism have not evolved in the Muslim world and, as Soroush says, jurisprudence and mysticism have found a fertile ground instead is the lack of emphasis on reason embedded in the Islamic main sources and literature. Shariati was also a Muslim scholar and has influenced Soroush to a great extent, despite being different from Soroush and, in fact, much more open and critical than Soroush, who has said that the religion that does not serve our life in this world will not serve us in the other world either.<sup>54</sup> However, Soroush's view of Islam seems to be much more mystical and theological and, therefore, les critical than that of Shariati's revolutionary and ideological understanding of Islam.

Soroush is very cautious and does not highlight any contradictions in the Islamic sources or, probably, he believes in all of them and does not see any contradiction. He believes that the language of the Qur'an is the language of duties and not rights. However, Soroush acknowledges that this is not attractive to people anymore and is rivalled by modern schools of thoughts that are speaking about the rights of people rather than duties.<sup>55</sup> The fact of the matter is that the demands made by religions of their followers in

observing their duties rather than rights do not appeal to a growing number of people of all religions, some of whom are not practising their religion anymore. Soroush's assertions, and the type of language that he is using, that are mainly mystical when explaining the relation between the Prophet and people who do not listen to him, or listen but do not obey him (that they are "worse than animals"), are unfair to those who disagree with the Prophet and his religion, especially in the modern era. Some of the basic specificities of modern human beings are reasoning, questioning, analysing, choosing and so forth and they do value their rights, as Soroush rightly says, more than their duties and judging them through a very narrow mystical religious discourse might not reflect the realities of the modern era.

Soroush also thinks that "after the Prophet, the doors of the sky were closed to the face of the earth".<sup>56</sup> This is a very big assertion and, at least, the logical conclusion for modern human beings can be that they cannot have any direct spiritual relation with God.

Soroush claims that two of the important messages that the Prophet was giving to the people were, first, to target their humanity, speak to them about their humanity and even call them animals or even worse if they did not listen to him and accept his messages; and second, to target and discredit their knowledge and tell them not to depend on their knowledge as they would remain in darkness and uncertainty. They should listen to the Prophet and follow him and, if they did not, they would be punished by God. There is no indication of an independent humanity mentioned or at least referred to by Soroush in the Islamic literature. What is humanity? Do people have humanity before being targeted by the Prophet and if they do, would they be stripped of their humanity after being exposed to the messages of the Prophet and not accepting them? Soroush does believe that the Prophet's messages are appealing, fresh and relevant forever and those who do not listen to these messages, or listen but do not accept them, are worse than animals.<sup>57</sup> Soroush is not a modern thinker who claims to be a philosopher. He is a devoted Muslim on this occasion and does not feel obliged to be rational or even be a critical analyst since he is not talking politics. As soon as he finds himself in society and facing the challenges of

living in his society and the consequences of the ownership of those beliefs by the people in power and their implications in politics, he becomes a rational liberal scholar.

There is a clear distinction between the religious Soroush and Soroush as a political theorist, compared with the revolutionary Soroush, who was not only religious, but also an activist who was endeavouring to apply his religious understanding to politics. For example, he was an active part of the project for the Islamisation of the Iranian universities as a member of the Cultural Revolution Organisation. He said that they should not only make the universities Islamic, in line with the Islamic revolution, but also train faithful lecturers for that purpose.<sup>58</sup> The current Soroush is, perhaps, the product of the complexity of his society that has made him an occasional figure; he is a rational and secular scholar where he needs to be, mainly when he speaks about politics or addresses a foreign audience, and a religious preacher where he feels comfortable. However, his religiosity is deep rooted in the traditional Islamic literature and one cannot extract any sign of secularity and liberalism from his beliefs when he talks religion.

The contemporary Islamic militancy in the Islamic world, or rather the Islamic fundamentalism that is the product of the Islam of identity and not the Islam of content and is a sign of the crisis of identity in the Islamic world, according to Soroush also has a deep root in the main sources of Islam. Soroush accepts the German sociologist Max Weber's view that "the role model of a Muslim is a fighter". A fighter (jihadist) is someone who is free from the temptation of material life and who is ready to sacrifice his life for a great cause.<sup>59</sup> Soroush also finds jihad to be a uniting factor in Islam and describes the Qur'an's insistence on unity, one of its miracles. However, it sounds inconsistent with such a belief to call Islamic fundamentalism and militancy the symbol of the crisis of identity; the political and military actions of Islamists have some roots in their religious beliefs. In fact, Soroush is not comfortable with the manifestation of jihadist aspects of religion and finds it violent and intolerant, especially in his country, Iran, though he acknowledges that it is an integral part of religion.

Soroush contradicts himself by responding to a question of whether religions have caused hostilities and saying that yes, religions have caused hostilities and the cause of these hostilities has been God himself, not only among the religions but also in one religion – for instance, among the different factions of Islam.<sup>60</sup> He also believes that the other cause of hostility and disagreement is Satan.<sup>61</sup> Soroush does not explain how, on the one hand, one of the miracles of the Qur'an is bringing an invitation for unity to Muslims, or, in other words, God wanting to unite Muslims, and on the other, he himself creates disagreements and hostility among them and leaves Satan to be the eternal cause of hostilities and disagreements among Muslims.

### The Student of Ghazali but a Follower of Balkhi (Rumi) (Conflict of Reason and Love)

Conflict between reason and love is not only one of the specificities of Soroush's intellectualism, but rather the dominant theme in the whole history of Islam. We have not had the privilege of exercising our independent reason and all that we have had in the name of reason has been a limited application of reason only to understand the intentions of the main sources of Islam and draw practical measures to apply them in the daily life of Muslims. Yet, even that much reasoning has not been tolerated by the mystical schools of thought that have dominated the Islamic literature, let alone independent reason. Mysticism is a spiritual way of life and a method of acquiring knowledge through spiritual love and veneration rather than reasoning and logic. This school of thought has had a challenging and controversial history, in terms of discrediting the authenticity and validity of seeking the truth through jurisprudential and rational ways and, throughout Islamic history, mystics have squabbled with the Islamic scholars, jurists and philosophers over the right way of finding the truth and have accused them of ignorance.<sup>62</sup> While the dominance of the mystical culture in the Islamic world, especially in the Persian civilisation area, has produced a unique and astonishing spiritual literature, especially in Persian poetry, the heavy weight of this anti-rational tradition on Islamic thinking and intellectualism has obstructed the emergence of reason in the Islamic world.

In fact, we have not had legitimate independent reason, except a limited instrumental reason for justification of religious arguments. However, the hostility of mystical literature against even this level of reasoning has been indiscriminate. The two Islamic scholars mentioned above are the mystic stars of the Islamic civilisation and none, in fact, represent independent reason. Both had more or less similar beginnings and began their careers as Muslim theologians in the mainstream Islamic literature. Ghazali advanced high up the ladder of jurisprudential, philosophical and theological tradition in the Islamic world but transformed to a mystical way of life through personal endeavour, while Balkhi drew a cult of followers behind him as a well-known jurist and theologian, though he gave up his career via a blow to his intellectual authority by Shamsuddin Tabrezi, whom he called "my God".

Muhammad al-Ghazali was born in 450/1058 in Tous, Khurasan near the current northeastern city of Mashhad in Iran. He lost his father when he and his brother Ahmed Ghazali were little children and, based on his father's will, they both remained under the care of a Sufi friend until they joined a school in Tous. Becoming a student at the Nishapur Nezamiyyeh College was a great step for Ghazali and opened the door of opportunities for him to be the highest intellectual figure in the Islamic world as he was soon invited by the Vazir (Minister) of Saljuq, Sultan Nizam al Mulk, to head the most prestigious Islamic centre, the Nezamiyyah College of Baghdad. Ghazali was on the course of a fresh transformation in Muslim thinking and was expected to establish a new academic centre for dialogue and thought exchange in the Islamic world, but he could not afford to tread on the dangerous path of reason and soon left the centre.

Ghazali retreated a few years after leaving this position due to personal crisis and the fact that he found the Islamic sciences that he was teaching threatening to his faith and belief.<sup>63</sup> It was, he says, due to his realisation and conclusion that there was no way to certain knowledge or the conviction of revelatory truth except through Sufism.<sup>64</sup> Ghazali's retreat to Sufism was, as a matter of fact, a retreat for the Muslim way of

thinking, since he not only withdrew from championing the theological and philosophical debate, but also turned his emphasis to discrediting those branches of knowledge. The Islamic civilisation that was enjoying a period of honeymoon proved to be unable to keep another talented figure engaged in exploring wider philosophical debate and freedom of thought, as if this civilisation were potentially not only incapable of opening up but also had a spirit of restriction of modernisation of religion and knowledge. Perhaps Ghazali was the last hope for Muslims and Islamic civilisation before the renaissance and modern era began to offer an earthly and human form of civilisation. Ghazali could have changed the course of history for Muslims, given the immense scholarly credentials he had, and established a tradition of critical dialogue. He not only failed to face the challenges of reforming Islamic thought and putting Islamic civilisation on a dynamic course, but also undermined the possibility of a rational approach towards religious debates for generations to come in the Islamic world.

Jalaluddin Balkhi (Rumi), on the other hand, was a legend of a different nature, compared to Ghazali, in terms of driving Islamic civilisation deep into mystical culture. Balkhi, as he is known in Persian, was born on 30 September 1207 in Balkh, one of the current northern provinces of Afghanistan. His father, Bahawalad, was a jurist as well as a theologian and Balkhi was already destined to learn the existing Islamic theology and to become a theologian. He migrated, together with his father, from Balkh to Ghonieh city, part of what was then Eastern Rome and is currently Turkey. He became a well-known theologian and was teaching Islamic sciences and had a great number of followers when he encountered Shamsuddin Tabrezi, an inspiring unusual Sufi, who was a burning fire of love, and inflamed Balkhi with that love and turned his life in a completely different direction. All the outstanding poetry we have today from Balkhi, especially *The works of Shams of Tabrizi* (*Diwan-e Shams-e Tabrizi*) are in fact the heat of that fire of love that can warm anybody who comes across it.

Yet this astonishing and unique achievement in the history of mankind and other mystical heritages in the Islamic world have come about with socio-intellectual implications for

Muslims. The sole purpose of a Sufi has been to be in love, live in love and find the truth through personal spiritual experiences. This has meant to be and remain personal, since those spiritual experiences cannot be transferred to others. However, this tradition has been translated into a socio-intellectual movement in the Islamic world and the first and last thing affected by this social movement has been reason and the sheer human specificity that is reasoning. Balkhi did that before moving to a higher stage in regards to the philosophical and theological debate in the Islamic world, but Ghazali was even remorseful of the time that he was a theologian and philosopher and was worried that his reasoning during that time would affect his belief certainty at the end of his life.<sup>65</sup>

Both Balkhi and Ghazali, as part of the mystical discourse, were the driving force behind the recession of the Islamic civilisation after the twelfth century and, in spite of the fact that this discourse has been anti-institutionalist and there have been dogmas in internal disputes among the Islamic discourses, Muslim mystics are to be blamed for the freezing of Muslim minds and reason. Ghazali not only considers philosophy to bring blasphemy and deviation for Muslims, but also finds reasoning and theological debates poisonous.<sup>66</sup> He believes that theology has only one benefit, which is to be like a guard to prevent thieves from entering homes, in his words; that means, to be there to answer people's questions as they arise and not to let them be there unanswered to spread doubts among Muslims and destroy their faith. The findings become alarming when we see both Ghazali and Balkhi finding reasoning and asking for the cause and reasons of things to be dangerous and harmful to people's religious beliefs.<sup>67</sup> People are not even allowed to ask for the reasons behind simple actions and arguments about religion, let alone other reasoning. Ghazali even forbids Muslims to learn sciences and says that "it is an obligation to prevent Muslims from research in those sciences and refer them to Sharia".68

Ghazali and Balkhi are the two most influential figures in Soroush's intellectual life and we can see where Soroush is coming from, in terms of his deep religious beliefs, though he is reformed and smartened up due to modern constraints and confused due to being pulled in different directions. Soroush moves in the footsteps of Ghazali and his mission is similar to that of Ghazali rather than Balkhi; in other words, with the modern knowledge that he has, he retreats to religiosity and Sufism and does not remain committed to the principles of modern knowledge and yet claims that Islam is compatible with modern institutions.

Soroush acknowledges that he is a student of Ghazali and it seems also that his reasoning does not go beyond the scope of Ghazali's logic, since Ghazali was neither a philosopher, nor a jurist, a theologian or a mystic only; he was rather all of them.<sup>69</sup> Ghazali was a philosopher and tried to find a rational basis for religion but he could not and therefore criticised philosophy or, rather, sacrificed philosophy for the sake of religion.<sup>70</sup> Ghazali's criticism of philosophy and rationalism in the Islamic world was a blow to the trend of philosophical thinking and yet another surrender of rationalism to a more dominant and safer mystical approach. Soroush has followed the path of Ghazali and been inspired by Balkhi. Despite the fact that modern rationalism and civil arrangements have enforced themselves in nearly all societies' legal systems, Soroush, either as a believer Muslim or under the influence of those like Ghazali and Balkhi, still thinks that Sharia law must be applied to preserve the content of religion.

Traditionally, there have been long rivalries between the believers of Sharia and those of mystical schools of thought in Islamic history and both sides have accused each other of not following the true path of Islam. The mystical schools have separate rituals and some differences of religious practice from the mainstream Muslims and have built their own worship centres (Khanagha) beside the mosque.<sup>71</sup> Soroush, however, is observing and following both traditions and figures like those of Ghazali, Balkhi and Ayatollah Khomeini, though with an obvious mystical domination in his thoughts. He believes, like Balkhi, that we cannot have an absolute human being without observing both dimensions of religion and not sacrificing one for the benefit of the other.<sup>72</sup> Nonetheless, Soroush does not remain loyal to this belief when he wants to make his political points and the dominance of the mystical approach becomes even more noticeable in his life.

Mysticism in Islam, in another sense, is an Islamic rationalism, though this might seem odd and ironic to Muslim scholars or an expert on Islam because the whole literature of mysticism in Islam has been revolution against reason. How could a spiritual movement that has been devoted to discrediting reason be considered rationalist? The answer can be discovered when we understand the position of reason in Islam as a religion. Soroush is absolutely right to claim that we do not have pure or rather independent reason in Islam.<sup>73</sup> We have not had independent reason in Islam and reason has not had the legitimacy to emerge. This means clearly preventing human beings from conducting even their daily life rationally and forcing them to be subservient living creatures. For the traditional Shia religious communities, for instance, it is a jurisprudential question, even today, whether to put their right foot or left foot first when entering or coming out of the bathroom. However, human beings cannot live without practising their reason and they will express their humanity to the extent of the system's tolerance. Mysticism in Islam is the expression of reason or, rather, the expression of legitimate reason in the name of love and spiritual comprehension of the relation with God and of disobedience to religious dogmas and compulsions. Revolt against a dogmatic system and strict laws and decrees and disobedience to those rules and arrangements alone is a rationalist conduct. The sheer struggle to be different from the mainstream Muslims (followers of the main Islamic schools of thought: Hanafi, Maleki, Shafeei, Hanbali, and Jafari) and have their own praying centres (Khanaghas) instead of mosques and not abide by the Sharia rules is in itself is a rational disobedience of Sharia dogmas. Additionally, mysticism has a very strong universalist dimension because it clearly does not accept Islam's exclusive truth claims. Hafez, one of the greatest Persian poets and mystics says in one of his poems: "forgive the war between 72 nations (religions, sects, or faith); they have adopted mythical ways because they haven't found the truth".<sup>74</sup>

One can look at the story of Moses and the shepherd in Balkhi's spiritual collection of poems and see how this rationalism is portrayed indirectly against religious dogmas.<sup>75</sup> Moses one day encounters a shepherd and notices that he prays and communicates with

God, saying:

Where are you to become your servant, fix your shoes and comb your hair, wash your clothes and pick your lice off, offer you milk oh you glorious, kiss your hands and give massage to your feet, clean and sweep your bed when it's time to go to bed, sacrifice my goats for you oh God, oh my hei hei and hai hai in your memory.<sup>76</sup>

Moses questions the man and accuses him of blasphemy and asks him to close his mouth, otherwise the fire of his sin would burn the people. The shepherd repents and says, "Oh Moses, you sewed my lips, and burned me with regret", then "he ripped his clothes, sighed with grief and wandered out into the desert". Revelation comes to Moses from God that he was appointed to connect people to him not to separate them; "I have given everybody a different way of seeing things, I have given everybody a different language, Hindus have their Indian praying, those from Sind have their own way of praying, the nation of love is free from all religions, the lovers' nation and religion is God". Moses traces the footsteps of the shepherd and looks for him in the desert; "ultimately he found him and met him; congratulations that I received an order, do not seek any norm and regulation, say whatever your heart says, your infidelity is religion and your religion is your light, you are safe and the world is safe with you".<sup>77</sup> Pray in whatever way you want to pray and never mind any rules and dogmas; you are free to say and pray, observe and practise whatever you think is right for you. This is nothing less than some form of rationalism in the scope of the Islamic tolerance. Seeking and finding a legitimate way not to obey the religious dogmas has been part of mystical religious practice. Soroush finds mysticism a more tolerant version of Islam and a way out of the intolerant structure of Sharia law and exercises his legitimate rationalism in the scope of mystical Islam.

In addition, you should show your loyalty to Islam and God even more than those of the mainstream Islamic scholars and clerics in order to disobey a Sharia-based Islam. Modernity and rationalism are not phenomena that a religious scholar can bypass and not

engage with. Soroush, as one of the modern religious scholars seems to be well aware of the inevitability of the spread of rationalism in Muslim societies and endeavours to accommodate that in his religious theory. He might also be aware that if he recognises the legitimacy of independent reasoning and rationalism, the religious dogmas and compulsions might not be sustained, which can be paradoxical to his main thesis of securing a space for religion in the growing secular societies of today. Soroush partly believes in mysticism and partly adopts mysticism to deal with the inevitability of modern rationalism. However, he knows that rationalism, in its modern sense, does not exist in Islam and believes that Greek civilisation was the civilisation of philosophers, Western civilisation is the civilisation of scientists and Islamic civilisation is the civilisation of jurists and mystics. Soroush also confirms that mysticism, with one hand, has crushed the reason of scientists and the other obliterated philosophers.<sup>78</sup>

Soroush is part of Islamic civilisation and despite the fact that he is trying to build bridges between the Islamic civilisation that he believes in and the modern civilisation that is breaking the precincts anyway, he wants to manipulate the second for the benefit of the first. That is the dilemma for Soroush, since he is a Muslim and deeply believes in Islam and Islamic literature, though he tries to take advantage of liberalism and rationalism to promote his ideology. Apart from the interreligious projection of mysticism as a rationalist move against the dogmatic institutionalism (institutionalisation of Islam in the recognised Islamic schools of thought with Sharia law as the key part) in Islam, mysticism has been the strongest force against rationalism in the Islamic civilisation and Soroush is in no way different from his predecessors.

The developments in the Islamic world and Islamic civilisation, especially in the premodern time or rather the glorious period of Islamic civilisation, were due to the fact that Islam as a movement provided a relatively secure environment and, to the extent of its tolerance, art and freedom of thought improved. However, the main argument is that Islamic civilisation could not go further than that because it had not recognised the independent position of reason; a position where reason is not a tool to find the intentions

of Sharia sources only, but a status whereby it can investigate and research truth, including religious truth, and approve or refute it. Islamic civilisation is potentially incapable of and cannot compete with modern civilisation as a result of not recognising independent reason as the main arbiter and, therefore, it is doomed to failure and exposed to the influence of independent reason and, nowadays, to liberal ways of life. Soroush is aware of the danger that the religious heritage and way of life is facing from independent reason.

One of the reasons that he gives for termination of the process of Prophethood after the Prophet Mohammed is that humanity has reached its maturity and, referring to Iqbal Lahori, he reiterates that the Prophet Mohammed was the last because, after him, humanity does not need any Prophet as it has evolved from the level of instinct to the level of reason.<sup>79</sup> Since people can now reason and discover the rights and wrongs through their reason, they do not just accept any order and dogmatic sets of beliefs but also feel capable and valued enough to define their spiritual destiny. If humanity has become mature and reasonable enough to be in no need of the prophets, why do they need religion in its classic defined structure and format? Soroush does not accept this logical conclusion and argument and endeavours to secure some form of adaptable rationalism in religion or a position for religion in rationalism.

The relation between reason and revelation is an interesting and yet a very delicate area of debate in Islam. There are numerous accounts of the definition and interpretations of each concept, and the controversy and criticisms sparked after Soroush's interview on the Qur'an, where he commented on the nature of revelation and claimed that "revelation is inspiration" and "revelation is a higher level of poem", highlights the diversity and delicacy of the debate. The dominant view about revelation and reason among the Islamic scholars is that revelation is the direct words of God, as Ebn Arabi, one of the leading mystics of Islam believed, that were sent to the Prophet through Gabriel in Arabic.<sup>80</sup> However, there are many more diverse views on the position of reason in religion, though the widely accepted view is the theological definition of reason in Islam, as expressed by

grand ayatollahs, like Ayatollah Montazeri. Montazeri's view is that reason is an imperfect means of looking for truth and due to this imperfect nature of reason, revelation was sent to the prophets to guide us to the right path of God.<sup>81</sup> There are also philosophical definitions of reason and religion in Islam that are more balanced, in which reason is not just an instrument to know the intentions of God and revelations; it is a credible and reliable means of discovering the truth, more or less similar to revelation. "They are complementing each other", according to Iqbal Lahori; "one gets the truth piece by piece and the other one at once, one is paying attention to eternal aspects of truth and the other to the timely dimension of truth."<sup>82</sup> Despite the depth and favourable definition of reason in this discourse, it is isolated. The fear of independent reason equal to revelation not being contained is, probably, one of the main reasons why the theological understanding of reason is the predominant understanding in Islam.

If we could summarise Soroush's mission as a scholar, we could argue that he is someone who has mobilised all his efforts to reconcile reason and religious narration. Reason and revelation, in his view, are like two eyes of a human being and if one of them is not present, it is as if he or she is blind in one eye.<sup>83</sup> This is not a new thought in the Iranian intellectual community and is known to be advocated by figures like Albert Einstein in the West. The irony with Soroush is, as was mentioned earlier, that he does not see any room for independent reason in religion. He is a mystic and shares the mystical antireasoning approach. Soroush is apologetic for that and accepts the blame that he has contributed to the anti-reasoning atmosphere, is the "anti-toxin of reason".<sup>84</sup> However, he does not elaborate his intention by explaining what he means by reason, what kind of reason. He neither accepts having independent reason in religion, nor recognises a religious reason.<sup>85</sup>

Soroush also finds reason (certainly independent reason)a monstrous phenomenon that needs to be impeded and checked and one of these impediments is religion, since all religions or rather all religious civilisations are scriptural and not rational.<sup>86</sup> It is

confusing to see that in a speech of an hour and half Soroush makes contradictory remarks about reason; on the one hand he calls reason "a monstrous thing" to be controlled by hurdles such as religion and, on the other hand, he encourages the spread of rationalism. If it is a monstrous phenomenon that needs to be counterbalanced by barriers like religion according to him, then why does he insist that "I have no doubt that the only way to prosperity is reliance on reason and demonstration of critical reason and I have no doubt that the only path we should follow is encouragement and spread of rationalism (aghlanyiat)"?<sup>87</sup>

In spite of the fact that Soroush periodically adheres to reason as a means of salvation, he seems to be inconsistent about this. It was mentioned earlier that Soroush is a mystic, and mystical thinking and way of understanding is the dominant approach in his intellectual life and, in that discourse, reason is not a credible mechanism. The highest position that reason can achieve is "the stick of a blind person" as Balkhi believed and, with reference to Balkhi's treatment of reason, Soroush elaborates that it is capable of ascending to a certain level, just as a blind person can walk up to a limited distance and, beyond that, needs eyesight to go further, reason also cannot go further than a certain limit and needs the guidance of the prophets.<sup>88</sup> Soroush cannot come to terms with secularism, since it adheres to reason and this, therefore, highlights the fact that Soroush either does not believe in reason as the "only means of salvation", as he said earlier, or he seems not to be transparent when he underlines the significance of reason mainly for foreign audiences.<sup>89</sup>

#### Mysticism as the Only Religious Sanctuary Left

Soroush is the symbol of the complexity of Islamic literature. He is pulled in different directions and, depending on the occasion and relevance of the concepts, like his predecessor Ghazali, he adopts fragments from all elements in Islamic literature. There is no doubt that Soroush is a mystic and believes in mysticism and mystical Islam rather

than rationalism and "jurisprudential Islam" – Islam that insist on rituals and duties rather than faith. However, this is the last resort and, mainly on a personal level. Soroush is also a religious reformer and his fundamental contribution to the religious debate, in the Islamic world in general and Iran in particular, is his theory that all that we have in the name of Islam are nothing more than interpretations of Islam.

Soroush is a modern Muslim reformer and his theory is well thought out and targets several goals at the same time. The key elements in his theory are that we have religion on one side and knowledge of religion on the other. Religion itself is silent and directionless and it is we who make it talk and show the direction; in other words, the revelations and Sharia that are sacred are there like nature – it is we human beings, who should make it earthly, exploit it, interpret it and understand it, and indeed our understandings and interpretations are by no means sacred.<sup>90</sup> Religion and revelation does not change but our understandings are in constant transformation and, therefore, there is no such a thing as pure Islam and nobody can claim to have the pure Islam; all that we have are timely and periodic interpretations of Islam.

The treatment of Islam as our interpretations and knowledge has offered Soroush the ammunition for seeking to achieve three goals at once. On the one hand, Soroush opens a space for debate on Islam. He thinks that, since what we have in the name of Islam is human knowledge of Islam, this knowledge should abide by the rules of conjectures and refutations and principles of analytical philosophy. In other words, there is no difference between our knowledge of religion and other human sciences and it is as man-made and worldly as other sciences. In this space, Soroush feels free to critically analyse Islamic literature and theoretically remains committed to the theory of conjecture and refutation. His controversial book, (*The Theory of Evolution of Religious Knowledge or Text in Context*), is the introduction to this theory and it is mainly this theory that has put Soroush in opposition to the conservative clerical system in Iran. He does not follow in the footsteps of Muslim theologians who mainly deployed philosophy to prove the authenticity of Islamic beliefs. To the extent and in the context of his interpretation of

Islam, he is a philosopher, and frank and committed to the principles of critical philosophy. However, Soroush's critical philosophy has limits and red lines where he slips back to being a theologian rather than a philosopher. He accepts that religion and Sharia are sacred and will not change through time, though he does not explain what those sacred elements in religion are and what are the limits are of that sacredness.

Soroush is preoccupied with his theory and knows that he can challenge anybody with this methodology, and in fact he does challenge those who claim the monopoly on religious interpretation and knowledge, mainly the clerics in Iran. He is not a politician but a deeply politicised figure, to the extent that one can get suspicious as to whether he speaks his mind or has a political massage to convey. One wishes that he lived in a different society where he did not have to constantly justify himself. He is a different person with different sets of beliefs on different occasions despite the fact that he is conciliatory everywhere in fear of political repercussions. In practical theology, he is more clerical than the clerics in terms of showing his loyalty to Islam and Islamic social presence.

Soroush is a scholar who is looking for recognition but does not fit into the existing Iranian sociopolitical and intellectual categories. On the one hand he is desperate to be recognised as an influential figure in Iranian religious circles and in most cases he makes his points to achieve his desired position. However, he has not been accepted into the religious club despite the fact that he has gone the extra mile to prove that he is as loyal to Islam as the clergy. Challenging the clerical establishment is the second target that his theory aims to achieve; that is, to revolt against the domination of the clergy in Iran and destroy the system that denies him breathing space. He is not a cleric and argues that there is no recognised religious class in Islam, like that of Christianity, to have the monopoly of religious interpretation. He is also aware that the clerics' religious domination can easily be ripped apart at least in theory and that has put him in collision with the clerics in power.

Soroush's definition of religion is also politically motivated. His definition is that "religion has come to prevent man from claiming to be God."<sup>91</sup> Religion is there to remind human beings that they are not God, that they are not to claim to be God, either in public or in private and "they all the time need a guide to remind them that they are there to worship God and not to play God."92 Soroush links his definition of religion to power and politics and the dominant theme in his intellectual life regarding religion is that he is fearful of using religion as an ideology; in other words, he is uncomfortable with the fact that religion is used as a political ideology. For him, a religious person is one "who believes that the universe is fairly created and well designed and its management is not allocated to human beings."<sup>93</sup> However, an ideologist is not content with the world as it is and would like to change it and make it as desired. He is not happy with the existing arrangements, whether religious or nonreligious. Soroush inherits a great deal from Ali Shariati who has been the main mentor of Islamic intellectualism in Iran but he is critical of Shariati's ideological understanding of Islam. Shariati wants Islam to be an ideology that can help Muslims to launch reform in the Muslim world and was very frank and straightforward in saying that a religion that does not serve this world of Muslims will not offer any salvation in the other world either.<sup>94</sup>

Shariati was a realist and pragmatic and wanted to make religion relevant to Muslims' lives, though he was glorifying religion to make it an attractive ideology to serve that purpose. His ideology had a very strong anti-imperialist and anti-Western-domination element and thought that believing in Islam had to have the same revolutionary connotation as Marxism had for Marxists. Shariati never denied the spiritual content of Islam, while at the same time he has negated Islam in the spiritual form that was only promising Muslims rewards in the other world. Shariati believed that "Islam exists not only as a truth, but also as a reality in our culture, conscience, social conscience and social relations."<sup>95</sup> Soroush, on the other hand, is troubled by this interpretation of Islam and given the fact that Islam as an ideology has been practised in Iran after the Iranian revolution and has been used as a political means by the clerics to fight against Muslim scholars like him in the name of Islam, he has become preoccupied with discrediting the

notion of Islam as an ideology.

Moreover, even though Soroush does not accept the idea of separation of religion from politics and claims a significant legacy in the debate on Islam and democracy, as a Muslim scholar he is against religious politics. For him the religions' main message is to offer us a vision and accounts of the other world, the world after death, that we cannot experience in this world.<sup>96</sup> In other words, religion, in Soroush's view is not there to deal with human issues in this world and using Islam as an ideology is, in fact, a deviation from the real messages of Islam. "Ideology is the theory of Godless man, who is rebellious against all orders of the universe", according to Soroush, while religion is there just to prevent human beings from going that far and claiming to be God.<sup>97</sup>

The third and main goal that Soroush is trying to achieve, which gives him the position of a reformist scholar in the Islamic world, is the aim of finding a role for religion in the growing secularised world. One does not need to be concerned that Islam is not meeting their needs in the modern world; it is rather a certain interpretation of Islam that does not match his or her demands and he or she can look for as many and modern interpretations as possible to find the one that address their concerns. Islam itself is safe and protected and as the Qur'an says: "We (God) sent the Qur'an and we will protect it."98 What is coming and going in the name of Islam, whether affected by new developments in the world of science and philosophy, accepted or rejected by Muslims throughout the history, becomes hardline or moderate, calls for unity or negates other Muslims and faiths are all interpretations of Islam. On the one side, Soroush keeps religion safe and eternal, and on the other he opens a space to understand your religion according to your needs and time. You can take advantage of all new human developments for better understanding of your religion without the fear of deviation from the religion itself. This flexibility and adaptability, or rather interpretability, brings religion out of its rigidity and makes it easy for religion to remain a civil spiritual way of life alongside other civil institutions. Therefore, you do not need to worry about the existence of religion in a secular world; it can continue to exist as long as we are able to adjust it to our growing needs. This

adjustability and testability throughout history is one of the factors behind the success of a religion, according to Soroush.

The idea of testability of religion that Soroush is gripped with is another method that he adopts to demonstrate the durability and validity of religious beliefs in the modern time. The criterion that he considers for the testability of religions is history: if a religion is successful or has become victorious throughout history, it has passed the test, and if not, that means that its historical relevance and life period has terminated.<sup>99</sup> This view encourages Muslims to, on the one hand, look at and assess their religion like any other social and human phenomenon and examine it in the mirror of history; and, on the other hand, to find the successful elements and compare them with the unsuccessful ones and draw their own conclusions.

This historical assessment deconstructs the rigidity of religion and makes it increasingly civil and interpretable. In contrast, considering the history of a religion as the field of testability and accepting that those that are successful and have emerged victorious from the historical conflict for existence are valid and authentic and those that have not developed and have not been able to attract a great number of followers are considered to be invalid and not genuine, is a naive and ill-thought-out belief. Soroush cites the fate of Zoroastrianism and Baha'i religions as examples of failed religions that have not been able to evolve and, therefore, their historical life and significance have come to an end.<sup>100</sup> It seems that Soroush does not recognise the fact that the spread of religions is not dependant on their authenticity and the credibility of their arguments; in other words, it is naive and unscientific to attribute the historical victory of religions and schools of thoughts to testability of their authenticity and arguments. He does not acknowledge the relevance of victorious religions to the power establishments in history. What could have happened if Constantine the Great had not converted to Christianity, and Muslim Arabs were defeated when they attacked the Iranian Emperor more than one thousand years ago? However, the idea of testability of religions is yet another modern element in his theory; though, as it was mentioned earlier, Soroush applies modern methodology to

achieve his desired religious purpose while he does not find modernity itself an encouraging development in human beings' life.

Soroush's understanding of modernity is not of an evolutionary process and continued change in human beings' social, cultural, intellectual and epistemological life. It is true that the modern human being is different from the premodern; the premodern human being was religious but the modern human being is not. She/he was a captive of nature in the past but now dominates it; he/she was preoccupied with theoretical science but now enjoys the fruits of practical science. Perhaps the best articulation of the difference between premodern and modern human beings is the view of Karl Marx, according to Soroush, that people of the past were trying to interpret the world but the modern human is aiming to change it.<sup>101</sup> Soroush recognises two types of modernity or rather two understandings of modernity. The first is the type of modernity that has evolved and emerged out of human premodern understanding, reasoning, culture and tradition and has not detached itself from the past and contains some premodern elements. He believes that this is not the reality of what has happened in the world and the kind of modernity we witness is rather different and has no connection to the past.

The second form of modernity is the existing one that has gone beyond the premodern mentality and distanced itself from the past, according to Soroush.<sup>102</sup> We talk about tradition because we have come out of it, we discuss religion and question it like other areas of human knowledge because it does not determine our way of life anymore whereas, in the past, people would not endeavour to understand the limits of human understanding and philosophy of religion and knowledge. "They were submerged in religion but were not attempting to understand it, they worked with reason but would not try to question it and, in one word, the essence of modernity and the modernisation of today's world is the second-stage knowledge that terminates with the suffix of (logy)."<sup>103</sup> This second-stage knowledge is the specificity of modernity that separates the modern time from the past. Modern reason is one of the other factors that are different from their premodern counterparts; premodern reason had reflected the truth and reality as it

appeared to it without adopting a critical position, while modern reason not only looks at things as objects to be critically examined but also critically examines the ability of reason as well. There was a time when God was at the centre of the world, but he was replaced by reason in the modern era. The postmodern time is a period with no body in the centre; relativism has driven both God and reason out of the centre.<sup>104</sup>

Human beings had a very simple life in the past and lived with certainty defined by religion. They took the religious account of truth and ethics for granted and, as a fish in water does not appreciate or question the existence of water, premodern human beings had not known the importance of their religious beliefs and the certainty that their religions offered. They did not face diversity of faith and mainly felt that their beliefs and ways of life were the only natural ways of life. However, this certainty began declining as the modern era unfolded and the reason that was a container of truth became mischievous and critical and brought about a diversity of certainties, and has left human beings in confusion and limbo.<sup>105</sup> Despite this diversity of rational certainties in the modern era, human beings still had something to adhere to: reason itself.

Nonetheless, reason has become increasingly fluid and has given up its rigidity and certainty, since numerous answers for each question have emerged but none with the level of certainty of religion. On the one hand we have come out of the era of certainty and religious assurances and caught up with the painful reality of relativism and, on the other, we cannot and do not want to return to that neglectful period of certainty, certainty that was not derived from our research and investigation.<sup>106</sup> According to Soroush there was still some hope that reason could offer a breakthrough as Descartes' and Spinoza's rationalism conveyed, but this glimmer of hope has been shattered by postmodernism. In other words, postmodernism has hammered that last nail in the coffin of humans' hope for a way out of uncertainty and relativism and has recognised the relativist destiny of human beings in the postmodern era.<sup>107</sup> What is the way forward for human beings today? Is there any spiritual sanctuary left for human beings is to refer to the system of

belief that raised doubt about reason in the first place in the premodern era. This unconquered sanctuary is mysticism.<sup>108</sup>

# **Chapter 4**

# Soroush and his Theory of Religious

## Democracy

This chapter is devoted to Soroush's political philosophy and given the fact that it follows chapters one and two with their thorough background analysis of the context and sociopolitical atmosphere of Iranian society and the Islamic revolution and his religious beliefs, this chapter will be in a position to provide a fairer and meticulous account of Soroush's political theory. Soroush is neither a politician nor a political philosopher; he is a theologian, who has contributed a great deal to religious and philosophical debates on politics and the relation between religion and politics. He is one of the leading scholars in the Islamic world advocating for religious democracy and believing in the compatibility of Islam and democracy.

Soroush's political accounts are very diverse and ranging from political systems based on Sharia law to democracy based on modern liberal values. His readers can easily get confused as to whether they are facing a utopian ancient-Greek-style philosopher, a religious reformer like Martin Luther, a modern rationalist philosopher, a student of Ghazali, a jurist, a Sufi or a disadvantaged and disembedded Iranian figure looking for recognition. This makes research on his political theory even harder and demands a comprehensive study of his publications and other sources of his political thoughts. In this chapter all elements of Soroush's political theory will be discussed to see what kind of political system he is advocating in the centre of the political debate in the Islamic world.

The theory of 'democratic religious government' proposed by Soroush and his efforts to find some form of compatibility between Islam and democracy has been one of the main controversies of his intellectual career. I will argue that it is the natural product of his religious theory. Soroush's definitions of Islam and democracy are diverse and it is immensely exigent to conclude a monistic understanding of the concepts. He is a master of hermeneutics and has endeavoured to open a vast theoretic area of manoeuvre where he can inject modern spirit into religious concepts and, equipped with modern methodologies, outmanoeuvre the clerical establishment, and through these methodologies, apply modern logic and rationalism to the debate on religion and understanding of religion.<sup>1</sup>

The other important element in Soroush's political theory is the social context in which a religious democracy can take place: that is, religious society. A religious society is the precondition for a democratic religious government and in such a society no other form of government can be democratic except a religious government. However, Soroush does not explicitly define his religious society, but occasionally defines the specificities of this society. He says; "a religious society is not completely different from other societies; on the contrary, it is completely identical to other societies, except in some exclusive specificity."<sup>2</sup> Those exclusive specificities are, probably, the religiosity of people, "whether elite or common people" and the "religious politics" in the case of Iran in his view.

The religious society is the only condition that Soroush considers for a democratic religious government and the content of the religious society needs to be critically explored. Is it a society where only religious people live, and, if so, do they all have the same religion? Is it possible to have a society where only followers of the same religion and with the same interpretation of that religion exist? If not, what happens to the followers of other religions and minorities and those who do not believe in any religion? Soroush also believes that a democratic religious government is a government like any other democratic government and being religious does not differentiate it from other governments, then why is it that a religious government can only take place in a religious society? Soroush contradicts himself as soon as he explains the elements of his democratic religious government and reveals the differences between his defined religious democracy and democracy.

The status of Soroush's political theory as a theory is another area that needs to be

explored fully. One can find interesting arguments and genuine efforts in his political theory to satisfy everybody, whether religious or nonreligious, and as the research starts to comprehensively explore all that he has said and written about politics and a democratic religious government, sketching a skeleton of his theory becomes harder and harder. However, this chapter is devoted to providing a clearer picture of Soroush's political theory and political philosophy and ultimately examines the authenticity and sustainability of his political accounts.

#### The Status of Soroush's Theory

Soroush's theory of democratic religious government is a genuine and yet nostalgic effort by a modern theologian, who cannot cope, on the one hand, with the modern, secular, and (especially) liberal world, and endeavours to find a space for religion; and, on the other, issues a warning about the unsustainable position of the traditional Islamic discourse of not taking on board modern democratic developments. He is nostalgic about the time that God mattered and had a role in human beings' sociopolitical life. His presence was felt and people would look for his approval or disapproval in managing their life, including their political affairs, just as they sought his endorsement for right and wrong, correct and incorrect and scientific or unscientific. He was present and alive and was interacting with human beings in their daily affairs. Human beings could not handle the various challenges they faced in their life and nature without God's support.

However, modern science and modern humanity, or rather modernity, came out of the blue and disrupted this harmony between God and humanity and revealed that human beings can handle their affairs and manage their life alone and that living under the eyes or perceived eyes of God was rather a hindrance to human beings' independence and a restriction of their potentials. Soroush is concerned with this development and starts his theory of democratic religious government with this paragraph:

Modern science explains the world as if it were not created by a god, not denying his existence, but rather finding no need to postulate it. In other words, it is assumed that even if there were a god, science would nonetheless be able to explain the world without relying on his experience. Nowadays science seems to have left its imprint on the behaviour of the individual and the conduct of the government as well. In the political culture of liberal secular societies, governments and individuals act as if there is no god, proceeding in utter indifference to his existence or non-existence, never weighing his approval or disapproval of their politics and behaviour. Political struggles and deliberations are designed to satisfy human beings alone.<sup>4</sup>

The key argument is that Soroush is a Muslim and comes from a society where the political discourse and political debate is still struggling to resolve the relation of religion to politics and therefore the type of arguments and concerns he puts to secular liberal democracies are mainly coming from that background. In addition, the implications of Soroush's political theory is that God is put aside, not because of social evolution and human beings' capabilities to manage their life based on his own knowledge and collective rational consensus, but by intentional political decisions to oust him from sociopolitical life. If God is sidelined by political decisions, then he can be brought back by a political system based on his theory. The mission of his political endeavour is to reinforce the position of religion in society and politics. Having said that, I would argue that the ultimate role he finds for religion is in fact no role for religion in politics and the democratic religious government that he is looking for is not different from that of secular liberal democratic systems.

Soroush is critical of the secular liberal political systems of today for being indifferent to God's existence or non-existence and the fact that they are designed to only satisfy human beings to the exclusion of God; in other words, they are there to serve the rights and satisfaction of human beings without recognising God's approval. He sees modern liberal democratic governments as the other extreme from the religious governments of

the past (Catholic popes and Muslim caliphs).<sup>5</sup> Soroush believes that a religious democratic government has three difficult responsibilities to fulfil: "to reconcile people's satisfaction with God's approval; to strike a balance between the religious and the nonreligious; and to do right by both the people and by God, acknowledging at once the integrity of human beings and of religion."<sup>6</sup> He pleads for a compromise that can uphold both satisfaction of human beings as well as approval of God and, for this, he considers the possibility of a democratic religious government.

In spite of the fact that Soroush acts like a modern Muslim scholar and his entire endeavour to reconcile Islam with democracy is as a result of the urgency he feels for keeping some of the religious and traditional values alive and, ultimately, initiating a different way of modernity and modernisation that upholds the spiritual values he believes in, he finds this unachievable and constantly moves from one extreme to another, becomes confused and leaves his reader in the middle of nowhere. One of the difficult responsibilities of his democratic religious government, mentioned above, is to make people satisfied to the extent that can be approved by God. The language and idea in this theory is so simplistic and naive that it cannot resonate for a modern audience and the mentality is based on the autocratic political tradition in Islamic history that treats people as objects to be formed in the models and guided in the ways that the state wants.

In addition, the type of political thought and political system that Soroush is preaching for demonstrates the fact that he is not only deeply traditionalist and lives in the premodern era, but also misunderstands modernity and the modern human being. He cannot accept the fact that the line of communication between modern political systems and God, due to what Friedrich Nietzsche phrased "the death of God", has been replaced by direct contact between political systems and people. There is no space for approval or disapproval of God in modern politics and democracy is a modern political system. People are free to observe their gods' endorsements in their personal lives, as, for example, the American people do, but, political systems are free of any ideological mission. According to a survey, 90% of the American people believe in God and around 80% of them believe in miracles and more than 50% of them are practising religious people.<sup>7</sup> Yet, the political system is secular and democratic with no religious ideology, though with a great amount of opposition by various religious groups, like the Moral Majority in the 1980s. The context and literature that Soroush utilises to present his political theory is so old and premodern that it puts him in line with the conservative clerics, who do not believe in democracy.

Soroush is not happy with secular thoughts that advocate for human rights, but is indifferent to God's rights. He explores the secular arguments about God's rights and highlights the challenges of considering God's rights and approval in politics. The fact that, as soon as we enter into this realm, we encounter the diversity of gods and beliefs and monopoly of truth by each of these beliefs and gods, the different interpretations of each god and belief by their followers, the expectation of each god from their followers and clashes between the expectations and accounts of different gods, makes it almost impossible to reconcile the numerous religious claims.<sup>8</sup> Modern secular democracies have reached the accommodation of tolerance based on human beings' historical experiences, while respecting each religion in its own right so far as it does not interfere with others' human rights.

Despite the sound arguments that Soroush makes on behalf of secular thinkers and secularism, he tends to disagree with them and returns to his nostalgic feelings for the world of certainty, the world that valued human beliefs more than life, while he well knows that secular democratic governments, for the reasons he outlines in his theory, are not fighting certainty, but rather preventing any particular certainty being imposed on others.

These are the arguments of today's secular thinkers, who are, indeed, blameless in their scepticism. Western science, philosophy, and technology have so shaken the foundation of human reason and mind, historicism has raised such a storm, and scientific and philosophical theories have advanced so swiftly that no latitude has been left for stability and certitude... The difference between the old and the new world is the difference between certainty and uncertainty, a distinction that accounts for the modern tendency to value human lives more than beliefs, in the old world beliefs always superseded respect for human life.<sup>9</sup>

The secular systems do value human lives more than beliefs and given the immeasurability and diversity of beliefs and impossibility of the domination of one particular belief, disputing such a basic rational arrangement will not sound credible from a theologian like Soroush.

In his theory, Soroush also challenges the authenticity and credibility of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights through the words of "truly committed religious people".<sup>10</sup> He thinks that the declaration only preaches "the freedom of flexible opinion, not of absolute conviction". Soroush also believes that the type of human rights that the declaration introduces is compatible with certain definition of humanity. The religious definition of humanity requires a different understanding of human rights.

For its followers, religion yields a definition of humanity and a description of human rights that are compatible. Changing human rights requires changing the definition of humanity, not a trivial and easy affair. One definition of humanity makes religion necessary and another makes it dispensable. Therefore, religiosity is compatible only with a particular definition of humanity and its rights. The slightest breach in this definition will destroy the edifice of traditional religion – hence the understandable resistance of religious scholars and leaders to the new definition of humanity and its rights.<sup>11</sup>

Soroush does not clarify his intention as to what he means by religious human rights and whether, in his religious democracy, religious human rights will be observed. However,

despite the reference Soroush makes regarding religious human rights, he is consistent on observation of human rights in a democratic religious government:

A religion that is oblivious to human rights (including the need of humanity for freedom and justice) is not tenable in the modern world. In other words, religion needs to be right not only logically but also ethically. The discussion of human rights is hardly cosmetic, superfluous, blasphemous, or easily dismissed. Nor is it merely grist for scholastic and casuistic discussions within seminary walls. Simply put, we cannot evade rational, moral, and extrareligious principles and reasoning about human rights, myopically focusing on nothing but the primary texts and maxims of religion in formulating our jurisprudential edicts.<sup>12</sup>

In spite of the fact that Soroush is pulled, occasionally, in the direction of mainstream conservative Islamists, his main concern is to find a balance between the role of religion and rights of human in politics. In the article in which he initially introduced his theory of democratic religious government, he is deeply religious and the democratic aspect is the secondary component of his democratic religious government. However, in his subsequent intellectual career, Soroush becomes more liberal and religiosity becomes the less important element or even not a factor at all in his democratic religious government. For example, in the article in which the democratic religious government theory was introduced, he is more ideological and believes that the democratic religious regimes should "establish religion as the guide and arbiter of their problems and conflicts", while later, on numerous occasions, he says that independent reason should be the arbiter.<sup>13</sup> This shows some form of evolution in Soroush's theory of democratic religious government, though for the benefit of democracy rather than religion, and occasionally no trace of religion can be found in his subsequent works on democratic religious government. However, despite pushing the boundaries to the limit, Soroush does not break the shield of religiosity and fails to produce a cohesive theory to combine Islam with democracy; at the times when he explains the democratic aspects of his theory, he

portrays a political system that is no less than a secular liberal democracy, and when he illuminates the religious specificities of his democratic religious government, he presents a system that is no more than a religious government based on Sharia law.

Soroush's theory of democratic religious government and intellectual contribution in advocating for the idea of reconciling between Islam and democracy contains some key elements that need to be discovered first. Soroush is a religious intellectual and acknowledges that the religious intellectuals' reference for critics is modernity and not religion.<sup>14</sup> He is also a Muslim and senses the grave challenges that religion is facing: either to reform, 'rationalise' and adjust to the realities of modern times and therefore continue to exist, or stick to its dogmas and fail to survive. Soroush believes that the truths that God has sent to us through the Prophet must materialise and become a reality for the religious in their daily life.<sup>15</sup> He claims that he has discovered or rather pioneered a clever theory for materialisation of those truths in a 'religious society', while avoiding the contradiction of those truths with human reason and a man-made rational political system of democracy.

### **The Religious Theory**

The theological debate has never been rich and serious, at least in Iranian society to the extent that Soroush has pioneered in the past few decades, especially after the publication of *The Theory of Evolution of Religious Knowledge or Text in Context*. The main message of this theory is that all that we have in the name of religion are our interpretations of religion and our interpretations of religion constitute religious knowledge. Religious knowledge is separate from religion itself and it is religious knowledge that is evolving like any other human knowledge. This theory has penetrated deep into even the clerical establishment's institutions as well as the religious intellectual circles and has become the dominant discourse in Iran on religious theological and political debates. Religious discourse before the revolution and before Soroush began contributing to the debate was divided into two classic and rival interpretations of Islam,

the clerical discourse and the religious intellectuals' interpretation, that were negating each other and competing to portray the existing religious corpuses in a shape and format to be attractive to their audiences.

Soroush's innovation in the debate has been epistemological and has touched the authenticity and sustainability of religious arguments in the face of modern rationalism and has challenged the traditional religious accounts that were indoctrinated in religious idealisms, whether in the form of clerical isolationism or intellectual populism. Soroush is enjoying the advantages of the legacy of the Iranian revolution that brought Islam into the public domain as a subject for debate and he has highlighted this historic event and transformed it into a deeper epistemological occurrence. He has become a force for secularisation in Iran since he is taking advantage of the legacy of the Islamic revolution and, therefore, his religious accounts and religiosity have become politically orientated. He is a theologian and is seen as a theologian among the religious community, who is expected and claims to offer a better and true interpretation of Islam. However, Soroush interprets and explores religion as a secular philosopher, an approach that disturbs the sanctity and absolute aspects of the religion for the religious. Despite the fact that he is concerned about the existence of religion in society, he is one of the leading scholars putting religion on trial to adjust it to the political demands of growing secular Muslims, though he does that in order to find a role for religion in today's life.

Soroush's theory of considering religion as the interpretations of religions and separating religion from the interpretations and, in the meantime, feeling free to have endless interpretations of religion, raises questions about his intention of saving religion and highlights his conviction that, in order to have a democracy, one has to first remove the theoretical hurdles. Separating religion from the knowledge of religion and, consequently, putting the knowledge of religion onto the level of other human knowledge, has served two purposes: an intentional goal and an unintentional one. Soroush's intentional purpose has been to bring Islam out of its rigid dogmatic traditional and jurisprudential format and make it more relevant to the life and concerns of Muslims

today and play the role of a reformist like Martin Luther (1483–1546) in the West or at least follow in the footsteps of Muslim reformists like Sayed Jamaluddin Afghani (1838–1897), though not only at the political level but rather in a deeper epistemological sphere. He considers himself part of the reformist movement in the Islamic world, championed by Sayed Jamal and followed by Muhammad Abdoh (1849–1905) in Egypt, Allama Iqbal (1877–1938) in the subcontinent and Shariati in Iran.<sup>16</sup> He shares the concern of the movement to deal with the causes of the backwardness of Muslims and to return to their Islamic identity. In Soroush's view, this movement has come a long way and evolved a great deal to the level of well-established, diverse, sophisticated and non-clerical intellectualism that is concerned about the failure of Muslims and is looking for political and intellectual reform in the Islamic world.

The Islamic movement has grown and transformed since the time of Sayed Jamal, especially in our society, where, in my opinion, the Islamic intellectualism is well established now. When I say Islamic intellectualism, I mean an Islamic intellectual movement separate from the clerical establishment that is concerned about the backwardness of Muslims.<sup>17</sup>

Like other reformers Soroush believes that it is not Islam that has caused the failure of Muslims; it has rather been the stagnation of Muslims themselves that has caused their failure. He argues that understanding of religion depend on expectations of religion.

Understanding of the religious texts depends on our expectations of religion and not vice versa. For instance, if someone believes that he can find in the Qur'an and Hadith the answers for all his questions and issues in life, then the religious texts will have different meanings for him and he will try to extract from any hint in the religious text the answers about the laws of light, the movements of stars, the effects of medicine and breaking of atoms.<sup>18</sup>

Those who expect religion to provide scientific knowledge, for instance, read religious

sources like the Qur'an and Hadith and extract scientific knowledge and those who expect religion to equip them with atomic knowledge can find enough sources in religion to feed them with this knowledge. Religion is like a rope that can be used to go down the well or come out of it; in other words, religion should be given the desired direction. If there is the desire to move on and come out of the well, then religion can be used to help one to move in that direction.

One of the other instrumentalist ideas Soroush applies in his religious theory to ultimately serve his political theory, is that religion is silent, like an object, and it is we who make it talk and exploit it to "come out of the well". The initiative is in human hands and, depending on our expectations, religion can be interpreted and become vocal and relevant. Religion is not a set of beliefs and duties that are introduced by God to the Prophet and his followers to follow. It is up to Muslims to pick and choose and take advantage of religion, according to their expectations. This interpretation of religion can provide enough space to introduce a secular democracy and call it an Islamic democracy. But this understanding of religion, on the one hand, does not reflect the common understanding of religion by Muslims as a set of divine guidance that Muslims are obliged to follow, and on the other hand, it establishes human needs and expectations as the driving force and basis of interaction with religion. It is religion, therefore, that should follow the footsteps of humans and their expectations that can open the gate for justification of any political system.

Soroush argues that Muslims were superior, dominant and respected when they had better understanding of their religion. However, the same religion that was giving them vision and salvation has been exploited to validate intolerance and hostility. Whatever the reasons, flawed understandings of Islam, the very inspiring spiritual power that brought Muslims unity, prosperity and success, have become a chronic hurdle and exposed Muslims to Western domination and colonial ambitions. Soroush quotes pieces of Sayyed Jamal Al Afghani's nostalgic writings about the period of history in which Muslims were prospering and had strong kings, brought captives from the West, slaves from Ethiopia and destroyed idols and idol-temples in India; but now they have capitulated and are caught in poverty and weakness.<sup>19</sup> Soroush might have some sympathy with this ideological position, though; the way he is pursuing the revival of that golden age is completely different from the mainstream revivalist movement. Muslims are fighting for justice and dignity like the Iranian people who fought for a democratic government through the revolution of 1979 led by Ayatollah Khomeini; however, this will not be achievable if Muslims fail to provide dignified interpretations of their religion. His instrument for dignified interpretations of religion and transformation is reason or, rather, pure reason, and only then will the theoretical conditions for a rational political system that is democracy be paved.

Soroush is critical of those, like Shariati, who believe that "religion that does not serve us before death, will not serve us after death". Soroush is disturbed by using Islam as a political ideology and has endeavoured to reduce the heavy load on Islam as a religion. Soroush's resentment against ideological interpretations of religion is not limited to Islamic intellectualism. Fighting against clerical or rather jurisprudential Islamic ideology is the other main part of his intellectual career.<sup>20</sup> In his view, religion is not a 'supermarket' where everything is found; religion exists for otherworldly prosperity and worldly affairs should be handled by reason.<sup>21</sup> He makes every effort to strip religion of any ideological role while at the same time he talks about a democratic religious government that envisages a role, one way or another, for religion in public life. How far reason as an arbiter recognises a role for religion or coexists with religion in managing public life needs to be explored further.

In his interview with Michel Hoebink of Radio Netherlands Arabic Service, Soroush mentions that Muslim scholars in the past did not express their opinions regarding Islam and Islamic literature openly, and it looks as if Soroush confines himself by the same constraint and avoids clarifying the context of his debate whether he really argues inside the Islamic discourse or discourses or speaks liberally in the form of a theologian. For instance, he believes that worldly affairs should be handled by reason and religion is for

otherworldly matters, while at the same time he does not appear to believe in the separation of religion and politics. He states that worldly matters should be dealt with by reason and at the same time he emphasises that we do not have independent reason in Islam. In fact, by putting reason as an arbiter, Soroush on the one hand contradicts himself epistemologically and on the other disregards the context of the debate in Islamic discourses.

Soroush's main contribution to the debate in the Islamic world is that Muslims are backward because they have ignored the role of reason in managing their life and the only way to prosper and rescue the Islamic civilisation is to inject "independent reason, not prescribed reason (*aghlaneiat naghli*), not jurisprudential reason, and the reason that looks to understand what happened in the past and confined to the events of the past" into the blood of Islam and Muslims; "otherwise the collapse of this civilisation is inevitable".<sup>22</sup> However, Soroush adopts a completely opposite stance on other occasions by claiming that "we do not have independent reason … and narration (religion) and reason are like two eyes of human beings".<sup>23</sup> Regardless of the contradictions in Soroush's thoughts, and given the fact that rationalism and articulation of reason for understanding of Islam and managing Muslim political life is the dominant position in his intellectual career, he encounters the second stage of contradiction and challenge in his theory; that is, epistemological aspects of his theory versus his humanism.

Soroush, epistemologically, puts reason as an arbiter and gives a veto right to humans to rationally and critically acquire knowledge and treat religion as the knowledge of religion and, therefore, rationally examine this knowledge in the form of historical products and validate them based on scientific principles and methodology. This approach to reason and epistemology is not considered an interreligious approach or a religious approach at all in Islamic discourse, since reason as an independent arbiter is not recognised in Islam and is treated, as Soroush himself explains on a different occasion, as a monstrous entity that needs to be limited by other means like religion.<sup>24</sup> In Soroush's correspondence with

Ayatollah Montazeri, one of the leading clerics in the Shia Muslim World and yet one of the most liberal ones, he clarifies the position of reason in Islam that is more or less in line with the dominant understanding of reason in Islam. He clearly says that "human reason is imperfect" and since it cannot offer a perfect understanding of the past, present and future, God has sent the prophets to complete this imperfect entity and guide humans towards salvation.<sup>25</sup> Reason in Islam is not an arbiter or the main subject for acquiring knowledge; it is, rather, an instrument to find out the intentions of God and the prophet. There is no space for Soroush's independent reason in Islam and this reason as arbiter is, in fact, the product of modernity and liberalism that has emerged from the ruins of religious and traditional methods of acquiring knowledge. It seems that Soroush is determined to convert this reason to Islam, or Islamise reason, or perhaps, convert Islam to liberalism and modern rationalism.

However, the contradiction between Soroush's rationalism and mainstream understanding of reason in Islam is understandable. The irony is the contradiction between the core elements of his own theory. He, on the one hand, believes in independent reason and tries to rationalise understanding of religion – in other words, he expects the subject to adhere to his reason and rational organisation of his life, including the political system – and on the other, he expects the same subject to look for his rights through his duties. His rationalism provides the basic steps to the rational political system that is democracy, but binding the person to his religious duties denies him the very ability to act rationally.

The reader of Soroush's works needs to be extra flexible and patient and bypass the contradictions in his scholarly accounts and find the dominant ideas in his theories and the real arguments in his peculiar political and intellectual life. Regardless of the contradictions, it is evident that Soroush is heading towards providing the needed elements of his democratic religious government. He is well aware that a democracy cannot be established without some form of rationalism and involvement of independent reason and, since reason cannot become religious, then religion should become rational.

Soroush's religious theory entails some unintended consequences that could be devastating and end up in the deconstruction of Islam in the minds of those who see Soroush as a guiding figure. Considering religion as the knowledge of religion, and treating that knowledge like any other scientific knowledge that is not absolute, and as conjectures that are not yet refuted, destroys the sanctity of religion. Divine knowledge that has come from God can be inspiring for the faithful. Any religious practice is religion in its entirety for any particular group of people and one cannot treat any specific understanding of religion as the knowledge of religion is not an interpretation of religion, it is the whole of religion. Therefore, putting that knowledge to the level of refutable human knowledge and under the scrutiny of reason is no secure territory for the existence of religion, though it will certainly sacrifice religion for the sake of democracy. The faithful do not see any separation between their religion and knowledge of religion.

In his recent interview with Michel Hoebink, Soroush claims that the Qur'an is the creation of Mohammed: "revelation is inspiration that is the experience of poets and Sufis".<sup>26</sup> However, there are numerous verses showing that the Qur'an is the direct word of God and Soroush acknowledges this himself on another occasion and says that the "Qur'an and revelation was revealed exactly as it was announced to the Prophet without being manipulated by the Prophet".<sup>27</sup> Soroush is a Muslim theologian and well aware of the verses mentioned above. What he is demonstrating, either intentionally or unintentionally, is an amalgamation of various discourses. His approach to the debate on religion is an interreligious approach but the logic and methodology he uses is extrareligious. He tries all the time to corroborate his arguments through mystical logic and literature and sticks to instances drawn from Islamic mysticism that are not traditional in Islamic religious interpretations; in other words, they are extrareligious accounts and independent mystical experiences that were formed mainly in isolation rather than through theological debates and cannot be considered as evidence equal to mainstream Islamic sources like the Qur'an and Hadith.

Soroush has every right to introduce his own interpretation of religion, even though Islam is not susceptible internally to pure philosophical or independent mystical interpretations. You do not need to adjust the Qur'an or Islam to human scientific developments. No religious group, Sunni, Shia, or other sects consider their religious belief to be just a fraction, or interpretation of Islam; they believe that their religion is the perfect religion in its entirety, inspiring and offering certainty to its followers. Their religion is not a set of fluid beliefs like philosophical schools of thought exposed to timely philosophical and academic debate. Religion does not need to be necessarily right or wrong as it is not this specificity and content of religion that inspires and offers faith to its followers; it is rather up to the individual whether they believe in that religion and find it telling the truth or not. When they fight for their religion, for instance, they do not fight just for an interpretation of religion; the faithful consider their religion as a perfect faith. What Soroush is doing is in fact putting religion on unsafe foundations and depriving it of its certainty.

## **The Religious Society**

A government is either Islamic or has other forms, including democratic, though it cannot be Islamic and democratic for a variety of reasons. A democratic government, as Soroush has rightly said, is founded on principles like human rights, justice, limitation of power, and collective reason. Democracy is the rule of the people and based on the independent choices of people. However, this choice and will is fluid and in constant change and, due to this fluidity, the moment you sign up to the free and independent choice of people, you commit to a circumstantial mutability that will be taken over by individual rational judgements, desire, interests, feelings and challenges and enter into a process that will end up in a secular and liberal society.

Ironically, Soroush does not believe that it is Muslims who choose but, rather, 'religious society' and 'liberal society' who choose.<sup>28</sup> The liberal society, in his view, faces

constant and unending tests and choice. A good analogy of liberal society here might be science; in science you conjecture, and conduct experiments to test your conjectures, and uphold the results until they are refuted through different experiments over time. You never get to an absolute answer where you should stop. The same process takes place in your sociopolitical life, where trial and error is the reality of life.

Things are different in a 'religious society', according to Soroush; such a society has already chosen and tested and found the answer and, therefore, wants to live with it. Free will, in such a society, is not a process of trial and error; it is rather an apocalyptic single choice that a society adopts and thus becomes religious. However, there will be differences of choice in a religious society where people will be free to choose the content of their religiosity.

Yes, liberal society is a society that is constantly going through the process of choosing and testing and never considers this process as coming to an end, but a religious society is a society that has passed the test and found the answer. It has chosen religion and would like to live under the auspices of religion after this. However, this initial choice opens the gate of countless subsequent difficult choices, questions and tests that theology needs to address to take the difficult steps of reformation of religion.<sup>29</sup>

The question is whether human beings' freedom of choice can be evaded or contained and limited to a certain moral and religious definition; in other words, can a 'religious society' be religious forever? Soroush is silent about that and does not acknowledge the fluidity of the people's choice that might end up in a secular liberal society, or perhaps he is under the influence of his religious faith and cannot recognise the fluidity of people's choices, even if they are religious.

Soroush's theory that the faithful have passed the status of choice and they have chosen religion and want to live under its guidance, unlike liberal societies, where people are in

constant transformation of seeking to making the best choices, is deeply embedded in the autocratic culture in Iran that prevents constructive dialogue in society in order to find the best social arrangements. Rather you should accept the option that is chosen for you by those in power or religious authority; diversity of choice is a liberal value not an Islamic one. Thus the solutions for social challenges in the Islamic societies are mainly introduced through decrees rather than productive dialogue and debate among the civil society institutions as well as governments. It also shows how Soroush, as a religious intellectual, entrenches the undemocratic culture imbedded in religious thought and prevents society from debating human affairs and finding collective consensus based on collective reason. How can a society and political system be democratic if it recognises ultimate religious red lines for free will and sociopolitical debates? The answer can be that that is the reality of a religious society and religious people have chosen to observe those red lines, unlike the liberal societies, where people learn through experience how to regulate their lives and manage their political affairs. Then the question needs to be why it would be necessary to seek an Islamic democracy.

Islamic government stands at the other end of the spectrum and cannot be based on the principles mentioned above, since Islam has its own values to inject into a political system. Soroush confirms this on numerous occasions and reiterates that the religiosity of a government means to act and practice on the basis of religious values and specific rights that it recognises for people, rights that might be different from other societies.<sup>30</sup> Despite the fact that Soroush tries to distance himself from jurisprudential Islam and insists that his democratic religious government will be based on the independent faith of the religious people and not on Sharia, and the readers of his works can sense a strong tendency in his intellectual career to bypass Sharia, he cannot manage to find a way out of this dilemma. Soroush's explicit reference to Sharia on some occasions jeopardises the whole project of his religious democracy. Without Sharia law, he says, "the construction of a democratic government will be incomplete and fails".<sup>31</sup> He continues to say that "Sharia and its laws, without any doubt, will strengthen the religious democracy and if a religious democracy (contrary to the views of its opponents) is theoretically and

practically possible, this cannot take place without respect for Sharia law".<sup>32</sup>

Soroush considers the religious democracy based on Sharia as a system based on the rule of law and finds an analogy between a jurisprudential system and democracy. One of the specificities of democracy is that it is based on the rule of law, and since a religious democracy is run by the rule of Sharia law it is identical to other democracies. He is aware that religious and jurisprudential laws are based on duties rather than rights and they are adopted to regulate society according to the will of jurists derived from the sacred religious sources.<sup>33</sup> The rule of law also exists in a dictatorship since dictators do not act in a vacuum and implement their will through their laws. The difference between the rule of law in a dictatorship and a democracy is the content of law and how the law is provided: in a democracy the law is provided by the people or elected representatives of the people based on the equal individual rights of the citizens, but in a dictatorship, the law is provided by the will of the dictator and the dictatorship apparatus; certainly the rule of law in a dictatorship is not identical to democracy.

The jurisprudential laws that Soroush treats on the same footing as the laws in democracies, are, as Soroush himself believes, provided to define Muslims' duties and not their rights. Muslims do not have the right to make those laws and change or eliminate them; they, according to Soroush, look to their duties to find their rights and not vice versa.<sup>34</sup> Putting duties before rights is a violation of the basic principle of democracy that concerns individual rights. It is evident that, based on the fundamental elements of Soroush's theory and beliefs, his project of democratic religious government lacks the very basic elements of a democracy, which are: recognition of rights for people, not duties only; application of civil laws sourced in the collective consensus of the people rather than Sharia law; 'satisfaction of the people' without the need for the 'approval of God'; and the primary principle of democracy – that is, the rule of the people as the citizens of a country without ideological commitments.

Despite the clashing points between religious duties and individual rights, in other words,

religious opposition to human rights or modern discourse on human rights, we can notice a great deal of evolution in the religious discourse in favour of human rights. We can see this evolution and shifting from strict religious principles to a human rights approach in the lifetime of Soroush and in his thoughts. Another good example of this evolution can be noticed between the First Vatican Council in 1870 and the second in 1962-65 when an entire chapter of its constitution on the church in the modern world was devoted to human rights. John Paul II's whole preaching to the world was based on human rights.<sup>35</sup> However, the religious opposition to human rights as a discourse that is indifferent to religious duties needs to be acknowledged in the debate on religion and human rights. The Archbishop of Canterbury Dr Rowan Williams's sympathy and some degree of support for some Muslims in Britain, in his interview with BBC Radio 4, to have the option to adopt Sharia law instead of the British legal system is, in fact, recognition of religious opposition to human rights as a discourse. The complication that we notice in Soroush's thoughts and his insistence on religious duties on some occasions, and on individual rights on some other occasions, is a reflection of the nature of the debate on religion and human rights.

Soroush acknowledges that there cannot be a democracy without upholding individual rights.<sup>36</sup> This consideration of individual rights as one of the key elements of democracy remains restricted to isolated remarks by Soroush, and in principle, in his Islamic democracy these individual rights should always be reconciled with Muslim duties. These two notions have different sources and two opposite directions that are practically impossible to reconcile. Soroush offers no practical model for the reconciliation of individual rights and Muslim duties enshrined in the Sharia. He only proposes theoretical efforts to reconcile the two based on the fact that "Muslims look for their rights through their duties". According to Soroush, the individual rights he is preaching are different from the way this term is commonly understood in the secular and liberal world.<sup>37</sup>

Whatever the specificities of Soroush's religious democracy, his political theory is based on the notion that having an Islamic or secular democracy depends on the amalgamation of a society: if a society is religious, the government there will be religious too and if a society is secular, the government there will be secular; in other words, the political system is the natural product of the make-up of a society.<sup>38</sup> Soroush does not explain what he means by religious society. If he means that the majority of a society are from a particular religion, or that the majority of people believe in a religion and are faithful to that, then a political system based on the values and rights defined by that majority would not be able to accommodate the rights and values of the minority. Soroush may be right to assume that if the majority of people in a society believe in Islam, for instance, an Islamic government is the natural product of such a society. However, he cannot expect this government to be democratic as it has not occurred in the history of Islamic societies; the Islamic government was not democratic during the time of the Prophet Mohammed and there has not been a democratic Islamic government since.

Soroush's definition and reference to religious or nonreligious society seems very unscientific and ill thought through for three reasons. First of all, it sounds as if he considers society to be a unique and cohesive entity that can adopt an exclusive identity, whether religious or secular, as if no other individual, group, faith, and minority with opposite values and consideration of rights exist. In the history of Islamic governments, these minorities had existed but not been recognised as equal to Muslims simply because the Islamic governments were established on the basis of the will of the Muslim rulers claiming to have religious legitimacy; in other words, the Islamic governments were the natural products of Islamic societies.

Second, Soroush does not address who defines religion and which interpretation of religion can be accepted as the official and politically applicable reading of religion. Soroush gives religious politics in Iran as an example and says that "since the people in our own society, whether the ordinary or the elites, are faithful to Islam, their politics are religious and this will remain the same so far as the society remains religious".<sup>39</sup> The politics and government in Iran are religious but is Iran democratic too? Do the moderates, the Bahai sect, the Christians and Jews, the Sunni Muslims and other

minorities have a voice in the Iranian system? If not, is it because of the political culture and unreadiness of the Iranian people for democracy or religious politics having a role in that?

Third, in a democratic secular society, religion and the religiosity of the communities are recognised and protected, always alongside the rights of those who do not believe in any religion. In other words, the diversity of faith, race, gender and the rule of law that is derived from collective reasoning and consensus is applied equally to everybody. However, in a society dominated by a religious majority, there is no recognition for equal rights of those who do not only adhere to the dominant religious values and rights but also actively struggle for their democratic rights and justice. Soroush's argument is that religious knowledge is a historical phenomenon that can be adapted to accommodate the differences. Nonetheless, even if we accept the historical aspects of religiosity and the fact that religion is constantly transforming and, therefore, we can provide interpretations of Islam that can accommodate democracy, due to the diversity of interpretations of Islam in Soroush's 'religious society' practically Muslims cannot agree on a single interpretation of Islam. Thus, the establishment of an Islamic democracy faces practical challenges to the extent that it becomes practically impossible, while, in the meantime, compatible interpretations of Islam will remain alien to the core orthodox Islamic establishments in the Islamic societies. The problem with Soroush's theory of democratic religious government is that he believes that, since he has managed to draw a theoretical model, this means that such a model has been translated into practical political reality.

There are grave discrepancies in Soroush's theory in terms of the religiosity of his society. The most important of all is that he assumes that in his religious society everybody is faithful and religious and everyone has chosen their faith with knowledge and without coercion.<sup>40</sup> A society in which everybody is religious and has chosen their faith voluntarily is a utopian society that has not existed and highly unlikely to become a reality.

It is valid to argue that in a secular society a democratic religious government is impossible because religious governments are not answerable to people. In such a society, the best form of government would be a secular democratic regime. However, it is not valid to argue that nowhere and under no circumstances may one perceive the desirability of a religious democracy, even in a religious society. The truth of the matter is that a religious government can be an appropriate reflection of a religious society. Indeed, in such a society any purely secular government would be undemocratic.<sup>41</sup>

Soroush is adamant that religious societies like the Iranian society do exist and, in these societies, politics will be religious and, if not, the government will not be democratic.

Soroush is strict about his religious society, where the faithful are not allowed to try everything in order to find the advantages and disadvantages of their practice and then to choose the best. For example:

In religious thought, trying everything is not allowed. The faithful must not try everything to see what the result will be. For instance, allow free relations between men and women or legitimise drinking alcohol to see whether they are good for them or not. But in a liberal society education takes place through constant and gradual trial and practice. In a liberal system there are no ultimate perfect role models to be followed forever throughout history; there are temporary role models who get corrected in practice. Unlike religious societies, there are no unique eternal role models there so that people can follow them and be like them forever.<sup>42</sup>

In Soroush's religious society, the faithful were allowed only once to choose their religion freely but they are denied this freedom once they have chosen. Soroush does not compromise with freedom of choice and liberalism, since liberal discourse and dialogue are not limited to religious boundaries and could undermine the authenticity of religion.

He preaches a certain type of freedom authorised and legitimised under the scope of religion and clearly says that he has problems with liberalism, and, in his religious democracy, undermining the sheer existence and authority of religion is not accepted.<sup>43</sup> He acknowledges that in a liberal democracy a human being is considered, by nature, to be free and diverse and all should respect this diversity; neither can they eliminate these differences and diversity, nor it is desirable to remove diversity from society. The potential and need for diversity in a religious society, according to Soroush, is "a thousand times" more than in a secular society.<sup>44</sup> This diversity has existed in the Muslim world, in his view, and his evidence for this diversity is the various Islamic schools of thought. Soroush does not pause for a moment to see that he is denying human beings the very basic characteristic of humanity – that is, the fluidity and unpredictability of every individual's potential choice and state of mind, which cannot remain religious or secular or anything else in perpetuity.

#### **Conflict Between Faith and Jurisprudence**

Soroush does not remain loyal to the specificities of his religious society and, in order to justify his democratic religious project, he presents religious faith as a driving force for the enforcement of his religious democracy. He knows that a religious democracy cannot be founded on Sharia and that Sharia law cannot be democratic and, therefore, he tries to diminish fear of the autocratic nature of Sharia law through highlighting the significance of religious faith in Islam rather than Sharia. He constantly refers to the message of the Qur'an verse that says, "there is no compulsion in religion"<sup>45</sup>, and Soroush concludes that, since the essence of religion is to choose your faith without compulsion, a society formed of those who have chosen their faith freely cannot be undemocratic. This conclusion is, indeed, not representing the views of the conservative and orthodox Muslim scholars, who do not see this verse as making it a matter of choice for people to be believer or non-believer. In addition, this is just the first part of the verse and it continues; "the Right Path has been distinct from the wrong path ... and believers have grasped the most trustworthy handhold that will never break". Even a liberal

interpretation entails that you can choose, but if you choose the wrong path, you will see the consequences of that, according to the subsequent verses.

If religion is a matter of free choice and believers have chosen their faith without any compulsion, then the religious government, first and foremost, according to Soroush, is governing over hearts and minds; it is not a jurisprudential government that by nature is governing over bodies and can take place in a religious as well as unreligious society, though a religious government too can only take place in a religious society.<sup>46</sup> In other words, a religious government is different from a jurisprudential government. The craft that teaches us the course of action and laws and regulations is the craft of jurisprudence. But what represents beliefs and faiths are theology and mysticism. Therefore, the religious government, due to its religiosity, will be based on people's faith and religious experiences more than regulations and the religious government's foundation is religious faith and not jurisprudence and religious regulations; in other words, the religious government is other than the jurisprudential government.<sup>47</sup>

Yet at the same time, Sharia law is deep in the heart of Soroush's political theory. He believes that, although the religious democratic government is to observe the content of religion and should be based on the spiritual messages of religion, in practice, these contents cannot be sustained and survive without the application of Sharia law that Soroush calls 'the skin':

[...] the nucleus (Islamic faith) cannot survive without its shield (Sharia law). It is true that one is less valued than the other, but it is the first one that protects the second one. Therefore, if we want the nucleus, we should have it in its shield. Breaking this shield and throwing it away and considering it unnecessary, will gradually deprive us of the nucleus ... In fact if we do not protect the shield and society just looks for the nucleus, that society will not remain religious ... If you see those who are indifferent to the religious shields, do not trust them.<sup>48</sup>

The Messengers are sent for some concrete truths, according to Soroush, and these truths should be implemented. For the implementation of these truths, we should be mindful of the above two aspects of religion; without one, the other cannot exist.

The dominant perception among the mystical and, nowadays, the secular Muslims has been that religion is formed of personal spiritual inspirations and experiences that touch your heart without necessarily observing any rituals or binding rituals. Religion does not need to interfere in your social life and define the status of personal conduct in society. Human beings are rational beings and can rationally organise and manage their social and political life. In other words, there is no need for a system of law and duties that are not sourced in human beings' collective reason and historical experiences but are said to be divine and derived from divine sources to determine how society should be managed. Soroush believes that this approach is dangerous for religion, since it ignores the role of Sharia law that is the structural and institutional aspect of religion, without which those spiritual inspirations and experiences cannot be sustained.

Jurisprudence and religious decrees that are inspired by theology and expand and contract along with changing material needs, worldly considerations, and human knowledge are the laws of the religious society and, as such, play a pivotal role in consolidating and calibrating the scales of religious democracy. Without them, the design of a democratic government would be incomplete and unrealised.<sup>49</sup>

Treating religion as personal spiritual experiences without social ritual and legal systems will inevitably end up in a secular system, which Soroush does not wish to happen.

Soroush is well aware that even if it is possible to have a society where all the faithful choose their faith with free will, it is impossible to keep it that way, since people tend to become relaxed about their faith and adopt different sets of faith or ways of life if religion

is not materialised in social contexts. One of the ways that Sharia, according to Soroush, can help the establishment of a religious democracy is to maintain society as religious through applying sociopolitical measures so that, on the one hand, the faithful cannot become relaxed about their faith and are persuaded to remain committed to their faith and, on the other, they stay exposed to the symbols and presence of religion in society as a reminder to remain faithful.

It is true that a majority of the religious people seem to care more about ritual obligations (such as ablutions, prayers, and pilgrimage) than about ethical duties (such as truthfulness, patience, and abstinence from derision, intrusion, and avarice) or about the principles of the faith (such as the attributes of the almighty, the nature of evil, and the wisdom of the Prophet). They perceive the glory of religion in meticulous observance of its ritual minutiae and seldom inquire about the origins and principles of religiosity. They fancy the husk of religiosity as the master rather than the servant of the core. Thus, they gauge religiosity according to the degree of compliance with the religious rituals. Still, it is also true of all religious societies that, if the husk of religiosity deteriorates, the core will sooner or later perish and religion will wither away, except in rare circles of the wise.<sup>50</sup>

Despite the fact that Soroush does not want to bind his religious democracy to Sharia, and articulates the role of faith in order to bypass Sharia law and insists that a religious democracy is different from a jurisprudential government, he fails to substantiate his religious democracy without Sharia. It is in this dichotomy of producing a religious democracy based on faith and a democracy based on faith and Sharia that the democratic nature of Soroush's whole religious democracy project is determined.

Soroush believes that the mission of a religious democracy is to create the conditions for freedom of faith, where the faithful can choose their faith freely.<sup>51</sup> This cannot be a unique specificity of Soroush's religious democracy, since the condition of freedom of

faith is available in any other democratic system. What is the difference between a religious and nonreligious democracy? Soroush's answer is that there is no difference. The religious government deals with the worldly affairs of the religious people and "opens the chains from the feet of their souls to fly".<sup>52</sup> This government has the same function as in other societies, though it is called religious because it serves the religious people. In other words, "a religious government is religious only ostensibly and not in content".<sup>53</sup> It is obvious that so far there is no contradiction between this definition of a religious and a secular democracy. However, Soroush knows the danger of such a theory and senses the liberalisation and secularisation of his religious society if religion is not permitted to meddle with power and step in to prevent liberalisation. He believes in the directionality of history and therefore his attempt at pioneering a theory for democratic religious government might not seem to be supported by his view of history.

One of the realities of history for Soroush is the battle between religion and science, in which religion has been the loser.<sup>54</sup> The implication of this view is that religion has been a naturally evolved feature of history based on supernatural or nonhuman sources but it has relinquished the space to human reason and scientific knowledge. Humans have not resorted to sources beyond their reason and scientific knowledge where this evolution has taken place. Soroush's struggle seems to be a premodern or pre-evolutionary attempt to prevent human beings' sociopolitical evolution and rationalisation. It mainly applies to Islamic societies, where religion still has a current grip on people's intellectual life. It sounds as if Soroush has taken two hypotheses for granted: the first is the idea that democracy is the best political system and inevitable and, therefore, religion should adjust itself to this political system. The second is that religion is an ever-constant factor in human life and, as a result, he has pioneered a theory in order to accommodate Islam in the constant evolving realities of human political life.

Soroush sees history, mainly in the West, as the ground for rivalry and the battle between science and religion, in which science has become victorious. Religion has also lost the battle on the political front and the establishment of secular democratic systems has

grown naturally without any coercion and bloodshed.<sup>55</sup> Soroush explains that Christianity was sidelined by science that paved the way for separation of religion and politics. Separation of religion from politics was not dictated from the top by elites or through a constitution; it occurred simply because religion did not have the grip on power anymore.<sup>56</sup>

This view implies that history has a direction, in which, as human beings become equipped with scientific knowledge, other forms of pre-scientific knowledge faiths and beliefs become insignificant in the sociopolitical lives of human beings and, ultimately, shelter more and more in private and personal circles. Soroush's attempt to reconcile religion and democracy and find a role for religion in public life does not seem to fit into this historical evolution. Although this historical transformation has taken place only in the West and cannot happen in the Muslim world, on numerous occasions Soroush emphasises how Muslims should welcome the modern rational and democratic achievements of rational people:

The fact of the matter is that we should not expect that the religious government should necessarily be obviously different in form from other governments. The religious people are not supposed to walk on their head if the rational people of this world walk on their feet...Why should we think that when we discover the components of the religious government, they should be different from those that the rational people have discovered through reasoning and debate?<sup>57</sup>

Nonetheless, if this historical transformation is unavoidable and can spread worldwide, it could discredit the whole project of Soroush's theory of democratic religious government. The dominant theme in his political views is that he does recognise this transformation and does not try to adjust democratic values such as human rights to religion; on the contrary, he believes that it is religion that needs to rationalise and adjust itself to democracy.

Whether we consider democracy a successful method for limiting power and providing justice and human rights or principles that guarantee these values, in both cases it is the religious understanding that needs to adjust itself to that, not democracy to religion because justice cannot be religious.<sup>58</sup>

However, Soroush makes no effort to provide evidence in Islamic history and literature in support of democracy. As he endeavours in his religious theory to rationalise religion in order to open the space for a discourse on Islam and democracy, he enters into the debate on democratic religious government through extrareligious means and 'nonreligious rights' of the faithful such as justice, human rights and limitation of power.<sup>59</sup> This methodology gives Soroush the opportunity to sketch and define the specificities of his democratic government, which is, in fact, identical to modern secular and liberal democracies, and call it democratic religious government or, rather, invite religion to adjust to it to make it religious.

However, despite all the references that exist in his writings regarding the growing favourability of democracy and the trend of secularisation even in Muslim countries, Soroush believes that the idea of religion becoming weaker is proven to be false. "Everywhere religions are becoming stronger and the theory of secularism as being the destiny of history is a whitewashed conjecture."<sup>60</sup> Soroush even predicts that the religious governments of the past will re-emerge. Moreover, despite his efforts to found his democracy on religious faith, he ultimately accepts that the crown of faith cannot survive without the shield of Sharia. It is in this acknowledgement of the role of Sharia that the fate of his religious democracy is determined and it becomes evident that, despite all that he preaches regarding the differences of a government is not necessarily a religious government, he sacrifices democracy for the benefit of Sharia. Soroush says "the faithful have surrendered their legislation rights to God and this is exactly what religiosity and the rights of the faithful are and that is why the laws of the religious

society come from the sky".<sup>61</sup>

If we accept that there are three main centres of power in a democracy that are the executive, the judiciary and the legislative, a religious and especially an Islamic government has serious issues with the legislative power, according to Soroush.<sup>62</sup> He believes that parliaments in Islamic societies cannot have the real function of a parliament, since legislation should be approved by the jurists before becoming law.<sup>63</sup> Laws in democratic societies are the reflection of the people's will through a majority consensus that is adopted to regulate their social life and is conditional on their efficiency and susceptible to changes and amendments, according to the evolving demands of the people and emerging challenges. The laws are legislated by the representatives of the people and generated by the free will of the people. People observe the laws not because they are said to have come from the sky or they are sacred and derived from sacred sources; they observe them because they are rooted in their independent rational decisions – in other words, they observe their own pledges and social contracts. What would happen if people, or at least those who do not believe in any religion or have a different perception of the dominant religion, are denied this right and a few masterminds, like the Council of Guardian in the Islamic system in Iran, filter the laws and approve only those that do not contradict Sharia laws?

The contradiction of democracy with Sharia law is the very obvious and immediate contradiction that even an ordinary person can notice, and Muslim scholars like Soroush put forward theories to bypass this contradiction. However, whatever the sophistication of Soroush's theory, the contradiction of Islam and democracy surfaces as soon as he tries to address the role of Sharia law in his religious democracy. Soroush says:

[...] it is as if the power and law that do not come from the people, and are not changed and interpreted by them to suit their purposes, and the details and implications are not known to them, will be an autocratic power and law and will not leave any room for democracy.<sup>64</sup>

Perhaps Soroush ignores the fact that one of the fundamental dilemmas of democracy with Islam is exactly this understanding of law and power. In a democracy the legitimacy of power must come from the people and people should know why laws are passed or why some laws should be abolished.

The argument that Soroush puts forward for addressing jurisprudence is that jurisprudence and the Sharia system are not a rigid and inflexible system. He applies the same methodology that he uses for understanding religion. Soroush believes that what we have in the name of religion is nothing more than our knowledge of religion that is exposed to our critical analysis and can be approached like any other knowledge. Jurisprudence is the same as religion that, despite coming from the sky, has earthly application and, therefore, becomes a historical phenomenon that evolves and changes, over time.<sup>65</sup> Jurisprudence is part of religion and as religion can become rationalised, jurisprudence can follow suit and work better than a secular legal system in a religious society.<sup>66</sup> He tries to combine religious laws with democratic principles and under the influence of Ghazali's view that, were there no conflict among people, jurists would be out of work, and given the fact that these laws are not sacred and eternal, Soroush believes that they can be adjusted with democratic principles. The limit of jurisprudence, in his view, is "the history of jurisprudence", where even if you could find a single jurisprudential decree amongst the Shia or Sunni jurists that could justify a law, that law could be ratified in a democratic religious government.<sup>67</sup> Soroush does not explain. though, what happens if a law is passed by the representative of the people and supported by the people but the jurists cannot find any instance in the history of jurisprudence to ratify it.

Soroush's ideal model is the Council of Guardians in the Islamic Republic of Iran; however, he thinks the institution has gone astray and, instead of looking for references in the history of jurisprudence to ratify laws, applies strict measures and interpretations of Islam and Sharia to infringe the democratic rights of the Iranian people. The Council of Guardians was not meant to be the way it is today, according to Soroush.<sup>68</sup> However, whatever the conduct of the institution, the fact of the matter is that ratification of all laws is bound to Sharia justification. He says that the scope of jurisprudence is wide enough to the extent that even the theory of caliph system in Islam can be eliminated, "but not to say everything and achieve all desires; Sharia prevents us from doing some things at the end of the day".<sup>69</sup> The Islamic civilisation, as Soroush puts it:

is a jurisprudential civilisation and jurists, really, have the first priority and say the first word. In a democratic government, the legislator is the people but in a religious government, Sharia is the legislator.<sup>70</sup>

Whatever the interpretations of religion and emphasis on the Islamic faith rather than Sharia law in Soroush's theory of democratic religious government, he, in fact, does not move a step further than those like the clerical establishment in Iran, who advocate for an Islamic government and do not believe in compatibility between Islam and democracy. Soroush enjoys the freedom and space he creates through secular interpretations of Islam. However, Sharia is an integral part of Islam and regardless of his ability to theologically manoeuvre and provide democratic interpretations of the Islamic faith, sooner or later, he finds himself trapped in the boundaries of Sharia law. Soroush provides no convincing argument to demonstrate how democracy and Sharia can absorb each other and his reference to the view that Sharia law is not only incompatible with democracy, but also supports democracy, is a literal confession of the contradiction between Islam and democracy.

### The Ideology of Soroush's Democratic Religious Government

Soroush believes that the debate on religious democracy is not a religious but rather an extrareligious debate. He does not investigate Islamic literature to find the theoretical basis and political examples such as advisory assemblies (*Shora*), consensus (*Ejmaa*) and allegiance (*Baiaat*). His position on the debate concerning democracy is parallel to that of

a secular nonreligious person who borrows the principles for his theory from modern liberal democracies. He believes that you do not need to be secular to make a democracy, since a democracy, whether religious or nonreligious, needs to be based on the same principles of justice, human rights, limitation of power and collective reason.<sup>71</sup> Once you have a clear vision of democracy, then you need to make efforts to adjust your understanding of religion to that; in other words, it is not religion that is the foundation of a religious democracy but, rather, it is democracy itself that is the basis of a religious democracy.

Soroush argues that government is a nonreligious institution and has come into being as a result of collective living and human needs for social order, prevention of crime and protection of the people's rights. Government is a human need like any other needs, such as food, shelter and partnership .<sup>72</sup> Religion does not create this need; it arises as a natural product of human social life for provision of the very basic needs of human beings such as security. Soroush maintains that the Prophet established a government because he was admired by the people for doing so, not because it was a religious requirement. He quotes Imam Ali as saying that the Imam did not make any attempt to become the leader of the Muslim community after the Prophet because, despite the fact that it was his right to be the next leader, the time was not right, since the people did not want him. He accepted the people's demand to be their leader when they rushed to him after the death of the third Caliph, Uthman.<sup>73</sup>

Thus, there is no difference between a religious and nonreligious government, and theoretically it is understandable to expect people, in a normal situation, to manage their collective sociopolitical life in a way that provides a better life for everybody. Government in this sense is there just to serve the people and it will be democratic if the people are the sources of power and legitimacy and have the right to observe the function of the government, not because they are religious, but because they are human beings.<sup>74</sup> Soroush explains that governments, including religious governments, will not be

democratic if they are not run on the basis of collective reason. Collective reasoning, however, is not a religious phenomenon and a democratic government based on collective reason cannot be religious in form or in content. The outcome of such a theory will eventually end up in a secular and even liberal political system and Soroush defends his position by saying that "the fact of the matter is that the religious people are not supposed to walk on their heads if the rational people of the world walk on their feet"<sup>75</sup>, which means that Muslims should not oppose the good achievements of rational people of the world simply because they are not created by Muslims.

Nevertheless, Soroush does not apply the same logic in his theory and becomes ideological when he defines the specificities of his democratic religious government. If we recognise the legitimacy and arbitration of collective reason, then it is impossible to impose some specificity in the name of religion on the formation of the government, since collective reason has its own principles and constraints and will not be compromised by religious principles and Sharia law. We are also aware that Soroush makes every effort to imprint religious legitimacy on collective reason and deploy religion as a means for justifying democracy and call the result a religious democracy. On numerous occasions he says that there are no differences between a religious and nonreligious democracy in form and in content and yet he says that a nonreligious government in a religious society is undemocratic. In other words, even a secular democracy in a religious society is undemocratic because government, to him, is like the fruit of a tree; the fruit of the tree of a religious society is a religious government, or religious democracy.

It is rather a logical deduction that since there are societies that are religious, the governments in those societies must represent the will of religious peoples and should be religious too. If they are not religious, then it is not democratic even if it is a democracy. But, what would a religious democracy do that a secular democracy infringes? If a nonreligious government in a religious society is undemocratic because it limits religious freedom, then it is undemocratic everywhere, and if it advocates for a particular

interpretation of a religion, it will not be democratic, by Soroush's standard, even in his religious society. He says that the duty of the religious government is to provide the atmosphere for free choice.<sup>76</sup> This applies to all democratic governments and is already provided in liberal and secular societies and yet, if we respect free choice for people, there might be no room for a defined set of beliefs and law in the name of Sharia.

Nonetheless, the secular and democratic Soroush advocates for no less than a secular liberal society. He says that whether a religious government is democratic or not depends on two specificities, which are the extent to which it upholds collective reason and respect for human rights.<sup>77</sup> It is now evident that despite Soroush's references to religious definitions of the above concepts, his understanding of the concepts is in line with the common understanding of people in democratic societies. Soroush is apologetic for the fact that Islam is not fit for purpose and cannot uphold collective reason and respect for human rights. However, he does not consider Islam as contradicting the above concepts and introduces a new version of Islam that can uphold some elements of Islam and does not contradict collective reason or human rights.

Soroush is in constant struggle between two aspects of his beliefs and thoughts. One aspect that makes him revolt against Islam is its Sharia law and he expects it to become rationalised and respectful of human rights if it is to continue to be viable. The other aspect of his belief is his concerns about the existence of religious spirituality in society. He probably knows that the ideal society, where people are free and enjoy freedom of choice and, in the meantime, all are practising religious people, is highly unlikely. He is a liberal when he is tired of religiosity and he is a Muslim when he cannot stand liberalism. He enters into the debate on Islam and democracy but he seems to be encountering grave challenges coming out of it.

By putting Soroush's religious and political beliefs into perspective, one can find out that his problem with democracy is epistemological and deeply embedded in his understanding of humanity. He says, "I am a student of Balkhi (Rumi) and cannot accept this world without God and a house owner".<sup>78</sup> To put it in simple words, he believes in a God that has sent truths through the Prophet and those truths must be implemented. His role and that of thinkers like him are to reconcile those truths with modern human beings' demands and translate them into sociopolitical systems. It is Soroush's fundamental and inextricable belief in religion and the presence of God in society that make him ideological. Therefore, to whatever extent he widens the scope of religion in order to accommodate democracy, he fails to contemplate the independent and man-made nature of democracy.

It seems that Soroush finds it difficult to come to terms with the notion of free and independent human beings, as we see in liberal societies, and in this sense he is in line with the clerical understanding of freedom in Islam. Ayatollah Motahari, who was one of the leading clerical theologians of the Islamic revolution, explains that in Islam the human is respected and free to choose only if that freedom is in line with humanity and all his rights and freedoms are respected in so far as they do not contradict humanity. Human beings are not free to choose whatever they want and if they choose something that is not compatible with humanity, then they should be helped to become truly free, in line with the balanced view of humanity, and if they don't, they should be removed from the way of others.<sup>79</sup> In a speech to university students, Soroush says: "clarify the lines between the dogmas and non-dogmas. Enter into the arena of non-dogmas and be brave enough to discuss and research and transfer the courage to others."80 He highlights on another occasion that the conditions to be religious and faithful are twofold: first, to refer to the Prophet for judgement and second, to accept the verdict.<sup>81</sup> In other words, the debate is about the faithful and the freedom of debate is in the non-dogma arena, and one can easily sense where Soroush is heading as the ideological aspects of his religious democracy unfold.

# Soroush's Political Theory on Trial

The interference of religion in politics was the norm in the premodern history of the

world and it is still the norm in the Muslim world. There is no developed Muslim country in the world and poverty and lack of higher education, economic prosperity and civil society have contributed to maintenance of the Islamic countries as undeveloped in the premodern era. The dominance of religion on politics has crippled political development in these countries and Islam has become a political instrument for dominant tribes, religious groups and clerical establishments to perpetuate their supremacy on Muslims. No serious debate has ever taken place among Muslims to reassess the political literature in the Islamic world and depoliticise Islam. There are sporadic failed and unconfident attempts by scholars like Soroush to break the strong bond between religion and politics, but none has ever either fully believed they can break this bond or dared to devote their intellectual life to drawing a clear distinction between religion and politics.

For example, in the following assertion, Soroush demonstrates a revolutionary step in tackling religion's authority on all aspects of Muslim life. He says that:

once the status of reason, particularly the dynamic collective reason, is established; once the theoretical, practical, and historical advances of humanity are applied to the understanding and acceptance of religion; once extrareligious factors find an echo within the religious domain; and finally, once religion is rationalised, then the way to epistemological pluralism – the centrepiece of democratic action – will be paved.<sup>82</sup>

This is the highest peak that Soroush can climb to weaken the role of religion in politics, but, because he strongly believes in religious politics, he provides a religious political theory and constantly rehearses it to prove the relevance and validity of a religious political system.

Soroush has a significant place in the debate on Islam and democracy, but his epistemological position of binding democracy to be conditional to religious regulations, namely Sharia law, has complicated and misdirected the debate. The dominant theme in Iran during the past decade has been one of debating on the compatibility of Islam and democracy without considering that democracy without the interference of religion or any other forms of collective beliefs and ideologies can be a subject for debate; I assert that Soroush, as one of the leading figures in the debate on Islam and democracy, is partly to blame. What Soroush fails to recognise is that a serious debate on democracy can only begin when we can open a space for the debate beyond religious contexts with the very proposition that he negates; that is, to put human beings with their rights in the centre, and we ask God, whom Soroush insists on having in the centre too, to stay away temporarily, while we form a political system based on the human rights of individuals. Individual rights include religious rights as well, and the right that people can bring God to the centre of their individual life, act based on their Gods' recommendations, vote according to their Gods' satisfaction, and so forth. The fact of the matter is that democracy has problems with the collective beliefs, collective orders and collective obedience that are the prevalent understanding of Islam.

The problem with a conservative Muslim human being is that not only is his/her individual space his/her area of influence and manipulation, but also the spaces of other individuals and society are the realm where he/she should interfere and enforce or prevent things from happening. In other words, not only should he/she be a certain type of person and believe in certain things, but, also, others should be the same type of people, wear the same kind of clothes and behave in a way that is acceptable to him/her and his/her understanding of religion. There is no private and individual sphere recognised for others and the religious person can take the law into his/her hand at any moment to exert religious standards. For example, if a woman uncovers her hair in Iran, she will be stopped or dealt with by religious men and women in the street before the law enforcement authorities get involved. These types of actions are not taking place without theoretical support and encouragement of Islamic beliefs.

One of the methods of religious practice mentioned in the Qur'an, though propagated for different purposes by Muslims, and considered to be helpful to democracy by Soroush, is

the idea of spreading good deeds and preventing wrongdoing.<sup>83</sup> This religious principle is mostly interpreted as a social responsibility for Muslims and a permission to interfere in the affairs of others. In other words, the rights of the individual are an inseparable part of the rights of society, and individual rights are respected to the extent that is compatible with the religious understanding of good deeds or else the individual will be harassed. The political complication in Soroush's thoughts and mind, in terms of coming to terms with democracy without the interference of religion, is not just a theoretical miscalculation; it is deeply seated in the religious politics with the manner of a religious person in society who considers the individual and private sphere of others an area for manipulation and interference. To this degree Soroush argues that Islamic jurisprudence is compatible with democracy and provides laws for our social and private life.<sup>84</sup>

The craft, which provides a base for action and teaches us the relevant rules and regulations, is the craft of jurisprudence, and what provides us with the insight of faith and belief is theological philosophy (*kalam*) or mysticism. Therefore the religious government as a result of its religious nature is based on the people's faith and religious experience rather than practical duties and therefore the religious government is not founded on jurisprudence and practical duties – it is based on faith; in other words, the religious government is other than a jurisprudential one.<sup>85</sup>

However, Sourosh does not find jurisprudence helpful to his democratic religious government project and tries to isolate the contradictions between Islam and democracy to the jurisprudential aspects of Islam. He negates the jurisprudential government in Islam and claims the Islamic government should be founded on the Islamic faith not jurisprudence.

Soroush operates in a society with a despotic political tradition and lack of freedom of speech and part of the reason that his theory is full of contradictions, to the extent that it

cannot be called a theory and each aspects of his theory looks like sporadic intellectual assertions of conflicting figures on politics, is that he likes to talk indistinctly to avoid confrontation with the conservative religious establishment in power and his religious constituency. However, he fails to hide himself behind his theory and the hermeneutic approach of interpreting religion also does not bear him any results but, rather, diminishes his credibility as a scholar, as his theory lacks rational sequence and cohesion. For instance, here Soroush tries to assure his religious audience that his religious democratic government will not be a secular government that will treat all religions, believers and non-believers the same:

if religious democracy is (despite its detractors) feasible and reasonable at all, it would be unattainable without respect for religious regulations. The protection of religious ordinances [Sharia] strengthens religious democracy.<sup>86</sup>

He even goes further and makes it absolutely clear that in a democratic religious government nobody can question the authority of religion.<sup>87</sup> On other occasions he says that Islamic civilisation is in crisis because it is not rational and he proposes that, in order to rescue this civilisation from annihilation, Muslims should exert independent reason in Islamic civilisation, or else the destruction of the civilisation is inevitable.<sup>88</sup>

However, Soroush should be well aware that exertion of independent reason in Islam is either not accepted in Islam, due to the fact that, at most, reason is considered to be an instrument to reflect the intention of the revelations, or it will render Islam as an object for study and secularise it; in other words, it will destroy the very existence of Islam as a religion and divine institution. Soroush knows the dangers that independent reason will pose to the existence of religion and he corrects himself by claiming that "We do not have independent reason in Islam".<sup>89</sup> He even goes further to say that reason is a monstrous being that needs to be contained by various means, including religions.<sup>90</sup> In this respect he is exactly in line with the clerical establishment in Iran who argue that reason can only be helpful if it truly reflects the intentions of revelation. Thus, despite his

assertions that religion should become 'rationalised' and that "a government is government be it in a religious or nonreligious society and has a similar nature and being religious or nonreligious does not change its form and conduct"<sup>91</sup>, he prescribes that his democratic religious government is to be based on both reason and Sharia law. "A combination of democracy and religion would entail the convergence of reason [`aql] and revelation [shar`]. Every theoretical achievement will have to become practically viable."<sup>92</sup> Soroush fails to prove that an Islamic democracy is possible.

In Soroush's theory of democratic religious government, the whole project of an Islamic democracy, and the attractive demonstration of the compatibility of Islam and democracy, is found to be neither theoretically sustainable nor practically possible. Soroush's endeavour does not only seem to be genuine and well thought out, but also changes based on the of type of audience, being religious with a religious audience and liberal with liberal, rather than having a truth-based philosophical approach; in other words, it does not add anything to human knowledge but, rather, deflects the course of debate on democracy to a religious debate on politics.

One of the contemporary challenges that the world at large, and the Islamic world in particular, has been facing, is the emergence of a resurgent political Islam. The responses to this challenge have been diverse. In Iran it established a political system and in other parts of the world, it is arguably at its climax. This can be a symptom of the crisis of identity in the Muslim world or a civil struggle for democracy. Scholars like Soroush are inspired by the wave of this Islamic resurgence and try to theorise this new phenomenon into modern contexts and introduce it to modern audiences as an alternative to democracy.

Whatever the resonance of the project to find compatibility between Islam and democracy, Soroush fails to provide a viable theory, regardless of the authenticity of the arguments he presents. Instead of a theory, one discovers some scattered, confused and contradictory arguments whose different elements seem hard to join. Despite the attractions that his theory and arguments have received in the West, he is the counterpart of the conservative clerics in his country and a religious man who cannot come to terms with freedom and open society. His mission is no less than the mission of the clerical factions in power for the endurance of the Islamic system in Iran, against the wishes of the Iranian people who are fighting for democracy.

The debate on democracy in the Islamic world can only become serious when scholars seriously challenge the collective aspects of their beliefs, or else change the discourse of the debate from a religious context to a secular one. This is going to be imposed on the street, as we have experienced in Iran after the presidential elections of 2009. The events after the elections in Iran have also highlighted the end of the debate on Islam and democracy that was championed and perpetuated by Soroush and the religious discourse that endeavoured to find out whether the government gets its legitimacy directly from God or the Muslim people. The debate is not relevant anymore, at least in the case of Iran. Soroush's reactions to the events have been in line with his usual religious and occasionally liberal approach. He lives in exile and has been in a position to demonstrate some genuine thoughts regarding the project of a religious government. He does not talk about a religious democracy anymore and even challenges the plausibility of a religious government.

Soroush said in an interview with the BBC Persian Service that:

It can be mentioned that a religious government cannot be established for two reasons; one is that you cannot create faith and love through power, and second, a religious government is based on religious duties while our time is the era of rights.<sup>93</sup>

He clearly finds a sharp contradiction between a religious government and the needs and requirements of modern human beings. The time that people could become content with their religious duties has passed and now is the time of the people who want to live based on their rights; in other words, living under the authority of religious duties is not relevant anymore. He says that:

the modern man is the man of rights, who look for their rights. Basically the Universal Declaration of Human Rights is written during this time that has opened the eyes and it is the foundation of all constitutions, while the religious thought in all religions, especially in Islam, is based on religious duties.<sup>94</sup>

Soroush does not hide his delight in the events after the election in Iran and expresses his pleasure for the movement for Iranian rights against the official position of the government of imposing religious duties. In an open letter to Ayatollah Khomenei, the supreme leader of Iran, he states "we will celebrate the disintegration of the religious tyranny. An ethical society and an extra religious (nonreligious) government are eminent for our green people."<sup>95</sup>

He negates the application of Sharia law by the government, unlike his previous positions of defending the role of Sharia law in his religious democracy, and says:

when you raise the volume of the lights of some of these laws, the lantern of religion become smoggy and puts the whole of the house on fire. Therefore, in a multireligious (where all forms of religious people and even those who do not believe in religion exist) we must lessen this light so that everybody can breathe.<sup>96</sup>

By denying any role for Sharia law in government, Soroush refutes the basic principle of his democratic religious theory that makes his form of government a religious democracy.

However, despite some indications of revolt against his prior understanding of the role of religion and Sharia law in politics and his theory of democratic religious government, Soroush takes the mainstream line in his intellectual career and cannot draw a clear line between politics and religion. Along with the above remarks he has made after the elections, he highlights the role of religious duties.

I do not say that we should put aside the religious duties or they are meaningless. But sometimes we interpret rights in light of the religious duties and sometimes the religious duties in lights of rights. Sometimes the priority is with duties and sometimes with rights. In a religious government, the priority is with religious duties.<sup>97</sup>

Soroush does not distance himself from the dominant political discourse among the conservative clerical circles and still debates in the context of whether the government's legitimacy comes from God or from the people. In spite of the fact that "the lantern of religion will become smoggy" if Sharia law is applied by a government and can set the whole society on fire, he does not come clean and still insists that "I do not say that we should put aside the religious duties"<sup>98</sup>. Soroush is, perhaps, facing the question, after the emergence of the Iranian green movement in the aftermath of the presidential election, as to what is his legacy and where does he stand on the discourse and literature he has created on Islam and politics and, specifically, the discourse on Islam and democracy? It seems that he is missing the opportunity to catch up with the time and demands of "modern man", who is "the man of rights", as he puts it, and not the human of religious duties.

# Conclusion

The debate on Islam and democracy is very complex for a variety of reasons and this research could not contend with all of them. There are those like Soroush who think that Islam is compatible with democracy and others like the conservative clerics in Iran and Sayyid Al-Qotb in Egypt who believe that it is not. Whatever the resonances of the arguments on either side, what is at stake is that Islam as a unique religion with a sociopolitical model is facing grave challenges: a religion that has dominated Muslims spiritually and politically is now in a position of having to compete with other forms of life, schools of thought, and political systems on its own territory. The debate on Islam and democracy is in fact a reaction to this fundamental transformation in Muslim societies and a struggle by the religious to reform their political system and political philosophy.

The political experience of Muslims until the late twentieth century had been that of rule by caliphs, kings and authoritarian states that sought their legitimacy from Islam. The political debate had been centred mainly on how the rulers should rule; for example, rulers should be just, wise and so forth and the ruled were to obey "God, the Prophet and those who represent him".<sup>1</sup> There is no trace of the notion of the people, in its modern sense, in Islamic literature, and the references to Muslims have been in the name of Islamic Ummah which is a religious concept that signifies a community of believers. The Islamic countries that emerged after the disintegration of the Islamic empires had either been colonised by the Western powers or ruled by authoritarian regimes, kings and ethnic dynasties. Modernity and modern social movements have not been generated inside these societies, and the movements for some form of democracy are not older than a hundred years, and are not as social movements but, rather, sporadic political struggles among intellectuals inspired by Western civilisation. In Europe, however, the raw ingredients of the concept of the people, in its modern sense, were initially created by liberal movements. The independent individuals whose freedoms were to be respected and protected by the state and the organic relation between these individuals have provided the very essence of the concept of the people. The state is not there to impose its will on the people; it is, rather, created by individuals to guarantee and protect individual freedoms and rights. In other words, the state is instrumental to the welfare and interests of the individual and has no mission other than protection of the interests of the individual, and, even if the state holds a mission, as John Stuart Mill believed, it is for the sake of the very individual whose freedoms are hampered by unintended hurdles beyond his or her will.<sup>2</sup> It is the individual that is principal and considered to be rational and capable of distinguishing his or her interests. The collective demonstration of the will of these individuals and their organic existence in society has made the concept of the people.

Muslims have not experienced any such liberal movements and, therefore, the state has been the principal and sacred entity that had been created to govern Muslims in the name of Islamic Ummah, bypassing their ethnic and religious diversities. This community of believers collapses as soon as it becomes the community of believers and non-believers or the community of different religious and ethnicgroups. The people, in its political sense, is a modern concept and democracy will not work in a society where the people is not formed. For example, in a tribal society, it is not the individual member of the tribe who can choose or vote; he is part of a bigger entity called the 'tribe' that has a head and it is, rather, the tribal leader who decides for everybody. One cannot have a dream of democracy in a society like Saudi Arabia in the near future, where one tribe holds the whole power and wealth of the country. The people, in its modern sense, do not exist there to have a political system based on the rule of the people. People and an individual or, rather, an independent human being, who can have his or her own rights, vote and opinion, is yet to emerge in such a society. A tribal society can be a good analogy of a society run by religious institutions, where human rights and individual freedoms of those against the institutions are to be sacrificed.

In a society run by religious institutions, the people cannot exist either, since it is the religious establishment that determines who can run for power. The Iranian Islamic system is typical in this regard. The challenges that the Islamic government of Iran is facing in Iran is that people do exist and, despite the democratic rights already recognised by the constitution, Iranian people are troubled by the religious elements in the Republic. The Iranian Islamic system is the only model where elements of democracy and Islam come together: recognition of universal suffrage, constitution, an elected president, and parliament are democratic elements coexisting with Islamic concepts such as the Supreme Leadership and Council of Guardians. There is a constitution sketching the power structure and rights of the people, which is a civil contract and has no precedence in Islamic history. However, this civil contract and the democratic contents in it have, in fact, been curtailed by the religious elements.

The ideal of an Islamic democracy encompasses two different notions: Islam as a religion and democracy as a political system. Islam is widely understood to be based on the direct words of God enshrined in the Qur'an and, despite manoeuvring hermeneutically to provide liberal interpretations of Islam, one cannot cross red lines. Logically it is not possible for Muslims to agree upon a single interpretation of Islam, especially a liberal one. In addition, an innovative interpretation by a scholar like Soroush that could possibly accommodate democracy, at least in theory, can only be a theory among others and even success in theory does not necessarily mean success in practice. Essentially, in order to have a comprehensive understanding of the debate on Islam and democracy and whether they are compatible or not, we need to follow at least the following steps:

I. A thorough and critical investigation of Islam's principles that are not reconcilable with democracy and can be considered the jurisprudential red lines that a political system based on the fluid rule of people cannot observe. Consider the following verses of the Qur'an: And fight them until there is no more *Fitnah* (disbelief and worshipping of others along with Allah) and (all and every kind of) worship is for Allah (alone). But if they cease, let there be no transgression except against *Az-Zalimun* (the polytheists, and wrong-doers). (V.2: 193)

And whoever seeks a religion other than Islam, it will never be accepted of him, and in the Hereafter he will be one of the losers. (V.3: 85)

- II. A comparative analysis and understanding of democracy and democratic principles that cannot compromise with anything less than the rule of people and the liberal foundations of democracy that entail respect for human rights, individual freedom, and equality of people before the law regardless of their faith.
- III. A good understanding of the position of those advocating for an Islamic democracy and whether they are genuine efforts or desperate attempts to demonstrate their discontent with political Islam and political tradition in Islam in the Islamic world and the fear of democracy with its liberal philosophy.

Those who believe that there are no contradictions between Islam and democracy mainly refer to verses in the Qur'an and favourable views in the Islamic literature that can support their theories. There are several verses in the Qur'an, for instance, that can be the basis of religious tolerance and even a liberal democracy. For instance, verse 99 of Younus, where God asks the prophet if he was forcing people to become faithful and says that all people would have been faithful if God wanted. The implication of this verse is that God himself did not want to make everybody faithful. There are several other verses like verse 29 of Kahf, 28 of Hood and 25 of Baqarah that imply that it is a matter of choice for everybody to be a Muslim or not and nobody including the Prophet is allowed to force anybody to become a Muslim.

However, there are a great number of verses in the Qur'an, like verse 32 of Younus that are not compatible with democracy and certainly cannot be bypassed by pro-religious democracy scholars. Perhaps, as Soroush believes, the religious intellectuals' movement should have their own jurists and new jurists, and intellectual or jurisprudential movements are needed to speak out and to deal with the dogmas that are not compatible with democracy and human rights. Unless this transformation takes place or sound interpretations of Islam are provided to justify a secular democracy, democracy will all the time face challenges coexisting with Islam.

Dealing with the above principles and providing tolerant interpretations of those principles together with removing sacredness from Sharia law and adopting laws by human collective rational consensus will secularise Islam. Only then can democracy function. This can be an analogy of the experiences of Christianity in Europe and North America, where the scientific and rational interpretation of politics found support over the divine interpretations of the church among the people, partly because of the transformation in biblical scholarship through the reformation movement and lack of a rigid religious legal system in the form of Sharia law.

One of the troubling effects of pro-religious democracy theories on the process of democratisation in the Muslim countries is that they obscure the visibility and irrefutability of the contradictions between reason and religious dogmas by attempting to rationally justify religious dogmas. The contradiction between Sharia law and human rights, science and religion and between a mechanical social model prescribed by religion and an organic social system built upon human collective rational consensus is easily noticed before coming across theories that argue they are compatible. The scientific revolution in the seventeenth century in Europe put Christianity in a defensive position and the church punished those scientists who undermined the holiness of Christianity and authority of the church.<sup>3</sup> In Islamic history, however, Muslims have not experienced a scientific revolution and the clash of science and religion. All the time throughout their

history there has been something in the middle that has prevented this clash, either in the form of Sharia law, on the legal front, or Islamic philosophy, or the modern face of this tradition in the form of pro-religious democracy theories. In other words, the modern religious scholars are rephrasing religious concepts in order to make them hard to refute, at least in the eyes of Muslims, and to harness scientific methodology and modern political systems to apply religious authority in sociopolitical life. As Rached Al Gannochi, the Tunisian scholar, argues, we need the structural aspects of democracy to fill with Islamic content.<sup>4</sup>

Despite the positive aspects of the pro-religious democracy theories that can help reconcile democracy with religion and traditional values in a transitional period, it is necessary to highlight the points of tension between democratic values and religious ideological principles. These are pinpointed in human rights such as freedom of speech, individual freedom and freedom of faith and their compatibility with religion and Sharia law. The content of secular democracy in an Islamic state will not differ from the social values of an Islamic country, though the application of religious politics by a religious government will entail some form of coercion and imposing a set of values on people who might disagree with them. Soroush claims that:

you can manoeuvre with jurisprudence to the extent even of dismantling the Islamic caliphate but not so far as to say anything and do whatever you desire; at the end of the day Sharia and religion prevent you from doing some things.<sup>5</sup>

Sharia and religion in power will prevent those who would openly refute the authenticity of religion from doing so and, like the Christian church that set Bruno on fire in 1600; the guardians of Sharia law could execute anybody who came with scientific evidence to refute the Qur'an's teachings about life and the universe. In a secular system, religious domains are respected and protected whatever their arguments and the spiritual aspects of religion will function without being manipulated by the state for political reasons.

However, the idea of a religious democracy can neither keep religion in the public domain, nor can it help religion to function spiritually. In the meantime, establishment of a government that is to be democratic and religious will put religion in the spotlight of contradiction and confrontation with science and emerging challenges that religion cannot handle.

The second point to be made is the articulation of the democratic principles that will be sacrificed in any political system that is not based on collective rational consensus of the people. Democracy is secular by nature because it is not an ideological system and has no commitment to any particular faith, and it is liberal by destiny because it respects individual freedoms that will end up in some form of liberal society. The basic presupposition of democracy is that everybody is right in their faith; or at least it does not judge who is right and who is wrong, and there is no recognition for superiority or inferiority of any particular people and faith. Most religions are not tolerant, per se, since each one claims to hold the absolute truth and, as Soroush himself believes, the prophets were not and could not be pluralist because they had one product to offer and it was the only product ever that was available to mankind.<sup>6</sup>

As Soroush claims, a religious or Islamic democracy is possible only if the people are religious. This will mean that they do not choose, vote or act based on their rational judgements but rather according to their religious duties. The dilemma is that such a religious society is utopian and impossible: a society where all people act on the basis of their religious obligations and agree upon a single interpretation of Islam has never been witnessed. Even if a government is possible, based on the religiosity of society, it will be a religious government and not a democracy, since diversity and the recognition of differences and tolerance of diversities, including respect for the rights of minorities, other faiths and equal rights and opportunities for all citizens are the core values and requirements of a democracy. Either the Islamic democracy recognises equal rights and opportunities for those who disagree with the religiosity of the government, or the religious society is so free of diversity that no opposition party or individual exists there.

Soroush and scholars like him do not explain how the rationality of humans works in a religious society and whether people choose and judge their rulers on their merit to manage their society and economy or how well they apply the religious laws. Even if we accept that a society is religious, do the religious people in such a society reason differently or does the society operate mechanically to the extent that the majority decide based on their religious duties rather than considering their religious duties a personal affair and acting politically to deal with their worldly and daily challenges?

The precondition of democracy is tolerance - tolerance of other faiths, cultures and political opinions. Islam's movement towards democracy is the first step to acknowledgement of the fact that it does not possess the absolute truth and other faiths have equal rights to exist and, therefore, a democratic government cannot claim to have the mission of observing and protecting a particular faith. This highlights the paradox in the thoughts and minds of the advocates of a religious democracy, such as Soroush, who believe that religious government has a mission to protect religion.<sup>7</sup> The Islamic literature and political experiences, including the pro-Islamic democracy scholars' intellectual accounts, are full of arguments and instances that negate the above views and do not compromise on the monopoly of possession of truth by Islam. In spite of some verses in the Qur'an that demonstrate some understanding to other faiths, the dominant notion in the Qur'an and other Islamic literature is that no other faith is acceptable to God other than Islam.<sup>8</sup> The translation of this notion into political reality in Islamic political history has been that people of other faiths have not been treated as equal citizens. If Islam is going to remain political and, in the meantime, endeavour to become compatible with democracy, it has to grow to be more tolerant toward other faiths and non-believers.

Despite the positive approach of the pro-Islamic democracy scholars trying to neutralise Islam to ensure it is compatible with democracy, nobody has the jurisdiction to remove the dominant features of Islam for the sake of political purposes. My argument is that the only option left to Muslims is following in the footsteps and political experience of people of other faiths, especially in the West; that is, the separation of religion from politics and building political and legal institutions based on collective rational consensus. This might happen through a time-consuming gradual evolutionary process but the irony is that the pro-Islamic democracy scholars are attempting to theorise the emergence of Islam into politics in the form of religious democracy. They are well aware that religions demand collective compliance and conformity with their principles once in power, whatever the interpretations of the religion; in other words, they will not tolerate individual freedom and freedom of expression and scientific challenges of the authenticity of the religion.

In addition, people do not vote or make choices based on their religious beliefs only. There are a variety of incentives that drive an individual to act politically, such as selfinterest, political and philosophical opinion, ethnicity, economy, respect for human rights and freedom and so forth. The pro-Islamic scholars not only expect an individual to choose and vote within the limits of Sharia law, but also anticipate that people act the same way and decide based on their religious faith within the boundaries of religious principles. The fact of the matter is that if these expectations are not met, the political system will not be Islamic and as soon as these expectations are enforced by the religious democracy, they will clash with democratic principles and human rights. In effect, in a democratic system, religion can survive but a religious political system will entail some form of coercion and violation of human rights.

It is hard to understand the incentive behind the efforts of the pro-Islamic democracy scholars occurring despite abundant evidence in the Qur'an and in Islamic literature as well as the political experiences of Islamic governments in the past refuting the notion of an Islamic democracy. What is wrong with religious governments that the scholars endeavour to replace them with religious democracy? What is good in democracy that these scholars attempt to find compatibility between their religion and this political system? If democracy is good, why it is not good in its own right rather than filling it with Islamic content, as Gannochi believes?<sup>9</sup> Why have Islam and Muslims failed to offer a political system that is acceptable to Muslims? If Islam's and Muslims' political

experiences are failed ventures, then why are the pro-Islamic democracy scholars not brave enough to acknowledge their failure and step in the direction of those who have already fought against the religious and ideological models and established democratic political systems? What is superior about Muslims that democracy is not fit for their purposes and needs to be Islamised, while they have not been able to generate a Shariabased political system to respect their human rights? Clearly there is something wrong with their Sharia-based Islamic governments and the Islamic political experiences for democracy, which is not an Islamic concept, to have some attraction for the prodemocracy Muslim scholars to the extent that Soroush recommends that his religion, Islam, should become rational and adjust itself to democracy and not vice versa.<sup>10</sup>

There is no doubt that scholars are aware of the social contexts in which democracies have flourished and that they exist based on the fluidity of human nature, constant trial and error and desire for change. People in a democracy and, in fact, in any political system are not making solid choices; or, as Soroush claims, religious people live in a society that is formed in the aftermath of choice. In other words, religious people have already made their choice and have found the answer and chosen their religion and, therefore, do not live on the basis of trial and error like a liberal society; their trial and error will occur in the areas where religion can find the answers and do not reach beyond the areas designated by religion.<sup>11</sup>

It is evident, however, that the theory of a religious democracy is formed on the basis of essentialist predicaments that humans choose once and for ever before closing the chapter of trial and error in their lives and reaching the dreamed-of era of certainty. The fact of the matter is that human beings are unlikely to reach the final answer collectively, especially in their daily political life with constant emerging challenges; founding a political theory on such a perception of human beings cannot materialise into political reality. The pro-Islamic democracy scholars inevitably recognise the fact that human beings cannot be contained in one preference made in a particular moment of time. Soroush specifically resorts to this argument to combat liberalisation of Islamic societies.

He explains that Muslims are not supposed to try to find the answers through trial and error; for example, Muslims should not try free relations between men and women to see how it works and find the advantages and disadvantages and then decide whether free relations between men and women are good for society or not. In certain areas, Islam has offered the answers and Muslims should obey their religion rather than taking the matter into their own hands.<sup>12</sup>

Inevitably, there will be some form of prevention, containment and coercion involved in preventing people from trying other forms of life. Consequently, the political system will have a mechanism in place to prevent those who do not want to stay committed to their first choice and punish those who try other ways of life. Education in certain areas is not allowed and there are no-go zones where Muslims are permitted only to consume prepackaged divine products provided by religion. Sharia law is there to ensure that nobody is avoiding heading to heaven, therefore the religious democracy, in order to remain religious, should enforce Sharia law. Ironically, Soroush does not find any contradiction between democracy and Sharia law, since democracy is a system based on the rule of law, and Sharia is a legal system that provides regulations even for the personal life of Muslims. Application of Sharia is therefore not in contradiction to the establishment of a democracy.<sup>13</sup>

It is evident that religious democracy will not be immune from the constraints of Sharia law and, whatever the interpretation of Sharia law, a level of compulsion will be required for the application of the law. Soroush does not find this contradictory to his religious democracy, since democracy in itself cannot deliver religious aspirations. A secular democracy will, ultimately, end up in a liberal society where there are no permanent role models for people to follow. In a liberal society, people choose temporary role models and constantly change for the better, but in a religious system people have permanent role models like the Prophet.<sup>14</sup> Disputing the validity of the religious role models can have grave consequences. It has precedence in the Islamic system of Iran when Ayatollah Khomeini ordered the death penalty for the broadcaster of a radio programme about

Fatima Zahra, the daughter of the prophet and wife of Ali, after a female member of the audience claimed to have preferred Oshein, a Japanese film star, as her role model.

When we accept Sharia law as the arbiter, then those who are qualified in that law will determine the terms and conditions, rather than the secular pro-Islamic democracy scholars. Clearly, one can trace the seeds of religious coercion in the pro-Islamic democracy discourse and, however far it could go to rationalise religion, it will not be able to do so without Sharia law. It is crystal clear that the project of religious democracy is a failure, even in theory, and therefore we should see what other factors are involved to convince the pro-Islamic democracy scholars advocating for the project. Given the compelling arguments against the possibility of a religious democracy, there are two reasons left: either the scholars, especially Soroush, do not really believe in the compatibility of Islam and democracy but are too mindful of their social positions to openly promote a secular democracy; or they truly believe in a religious system but find it difficult to see it established for modern Muslims and, therefore, upload it onto a democratic structure. This research has highlighted that Soroush, the ideologue of this discourse in Iran, has failed to offer even a successful theoretical model and, depending on the occasion, he is pulled into one of two opposite directions: he is secular and liberal when he defines the specificities of democracy, and a religious Muslim when he illuminates the religiosity of his religious democracy. This is very ill thought through and, while it seems attractive to modern Muslims, it will institutionalise the role of religion in politics. Democracy cannot operate with a religious content and advocating for a religious democracy can only postpone the establishment of fair democratic systems in the Muslim countries.

It is fairly easy to understand that the pro-democracy Muslim scholars and even the reformists in contemporary Islamic history have been in a delicate position in terms of mirroring themselves in the lights of the modern world and witnessing the significance of reason and rational human beings. Surely they sense that rational human and modern products like democracy did not emerge from the rubble of the traditional religious God-

centred world to undergo yet another phase of subjecting humans to political and legal systems sourced other than from the collective reasoning of people? The appeal for democracy is in recognition of the fact that Islamic political systems are not viable anymore and also that Muslims have not yet been able to pioneer viable political systems based on their religion and Sharia law. The fact of the matter is that those who believe in the centrality of God in sociopolitical life cannot come to terms with democracy for a variety of reasons. First, because democracy is a human-centred political system. Second, the belief that upholds an absolute position, lacks the necessary tolerance needed for a democracy, not with regard to other faiths and beliefs, but also for different interpretations of the same belief. Third, this form of religiosity does not contain any self-critique mechanism. The line of scientific communication and debate is blocked and the very open spirit and relativist condition of a democratic society is restricted.

The pro-democracy Muslim scholars are inspired by democracy and cannot wait to see it applied in their own societies. They are fully aware of the political stagnation of the Muslim societies and know that, if Islam is to continue existing in the modern era, it should seek some form of compatibility with democracy. Soroush's assertions that "Muslims are not supposed to walk on their heads if the rational people of the world walk on their feet" – in other words, Muslims should not irrationally oppose achievements of rational people of the world because they are not religious, or, the collapse of the Islamic civilisation is inevitable if Muslims do not resort to reason ("not religious reason", "not jurisprudential reason" but "independent reason") – are examples of the above awareness in this discourse.<sup>15</sup> The question, despite a sense of urgency and despite understanding the fact that democracy is the only political system that offers a fair representation and political participation of the people and recognition of equal rights for each individual, is on what basis do these scholars insist, against the abundant historical evidences, on deconstructing democracy to fit their divine principles knowing that it will hamper the functioning of democracy as a political system?

The scholars are either concerned about their religion and want it to have a role in

shaping their political systems and, therefore, do not believe fully in democracy and suffer a lack of understanding of the true nature of democracy as a man-made, unholy political system; or, due to their social constraints and fear of their position in their communities, cannot advocate for a nonreligious democracy. One can understand their position, since the level of tolerance in their societies is not greater than that of nineteenth century Europe and transition from a God-centred world to a human-centred and manmade world needs transitional political theories. However, the pro-religious democracy scholars do not consider their theories as transitional efforts towards the actual rule of the people. They have issues with liberal societies and liberal ways of life and, therefore, honestly believe in the role of religion in politics. Soroush is one of these scholars who, on the one hand, struggle against the clerical establishment of Iran for not taking modern democratic achievements on board and advocate for an intellectual movement in Iran, separate from the clerics.<sup>16</sup> On the other hand, Soroush is resentful of liberalism and the inevitable liberal consequences of democracy, though he does not think that a religious democracy faces the ethical consequences of a liberal democracy. Whether the scholars believe in a religious democracy or they are mindful of their positions in their societies, the political model they offer is practically impossible and it can only become practically achievable with violation of democratic values and human rights.

The fact of the matter is that a secular democracy is not made in one generation, especially in the Islamic countries, where a transition from authoritarian, religious and tribal governments to a secular democracy will not be easily achieved. Religion has all the time been a factor in politics in Muslim countries. But the contemporary challenges show that religion's role in politics can be reduced to accommodate diversity and that the emergence of humans' desire to manage their affairs is serious; offering abstract theoretical solutions will not tackle these challenges.

The question is that if a religious democracy model is not viable, then what is the way forward for Muslims? Certainly religion is there, especially in the current climate where religion is an ideology, an identity, a force for justice and democratic rights of the people. If religion is there with all its institutions and in the meantime the people's demand for political participation is on the rise, what kind of political system can reconcile these political forces? The idea of a religious democracy seems attractive since it gives the puzzle a quick solution and can reconcile the conflicting forces and offers a system that can contain some elements from religion and the rest from democracy to satisfy both the religious and the democrats. On the one side we have the democratic demands that are evolving and, on the other, we have religion that has a shield that cannot be broken and, therefore, the evolution of democratic rights will collide with the unbreakable shield of the religious rights, without recognising the shield that would hinder the evolution of those democratic rights. It is this challenge that the scholars in the Islamic world need to find resolutions for, and they need to offer the political models that do not close avenues for further democratisation.

There is no magic solution for the challenge and there are two fundamental principles that need to be preserved in order to find the answer through a long process: guarantee of and respect for democratic process; and a balanced approach towards religion and traditions and the democratic rights of the people, though it is extremely hard to find that balance. A good example of such a system could be the Afghan Constitution after the removal of the Taliban from power, where the religious and the secularists have some of their demands met according to the capacity of the traditional society of Afghanistan. The constitution forbids any law that is against Islam and in the meantime it recognises the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and equality of men and women. Certainly no anti-religious law can pass in parliament and the society at large will not allow the parliament to contemplate a law that would be openly contradictory to Islam. However, there is no recognition for the implementation of Sharia law as well, and the secular can find enough legal basis in the constitution for there to be debates and constant campaigns for democratisation of the country, while the Islamists can oppose that using the same constitution with the support of their religious constituency. The most important point is that in the context of the constitution the debate and dialogue as a process can take place.

This research project has unwrapped numerous challenges that Islam and Islamists are facing in terms of compelling demands for democratisation and the threat to Islam as a set of dominant beliefs throughout the history of Islam on Muslims by modern secular, liberal and scientific interpretations of life and human rights. The research has revealed that Muslim theologians like Soroush who feel the pain of their religious discourses not coping with the democratic aspirations of Muslims are in fact the transitional elements and bridges from closed societies to secular democratic countries. In other words, these scholars are making this transition painless and gradual from within the discourse without intending to be a force for secularisation. This research has also shown that there is a grave vacuity of an active scholarly movement from within the Islamic societies for secular interpretations of religion and politics.

#### Notes

# **Introduction:**

- Esposito, John L. Voll, John O. (1996). *Islam and Democracy*. New York/Oxford: Oxford University Press, p. 64.
- <u>http://www.iranian.com/Opinion/2003/August/Khomeini/</u>, Accessed November 2011.
- 3) http://www.drsoroush.com/Lectures-89.htm, Accessed June 2008.
- Keane, John. (2009). *The Life and Death of Democracy*. London: Simon & Schuster UK Ltd, p. xviii.
- 5) <u>http://www.seraj.org/biog.htm</u>, Accessed June 2008.
- 6) <u>http://www.seraj.org/biog.htm</u>, Accessed July 2008.
- 7) <u>http://www.seraj.org/biog.htm</u>, Accessed July 2008.
- Roy, Olivier. (2007). Secularism confronts Islam. Translated by George Holoch. New York: Colombia University Press, p. 7–8.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. (September 2007). 'The Antagonist Secularism'. A speech given in Paris. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 10) http://www.drsoroush.com/Lectures-89.htm, Accessed June 2008.
- 11) Roy, Olivier. (1994). *The Failure of Political Islam, (Adminstration and Tolerance)*. Translated by Carol Volk. London: I.B. Tauris Publishers, p. 176.
- 12) Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1997). *Modara va Moderiat, (Adminstration and Tolerance)*. Tehran: Serat Cultural Institute, p. 374.
- 13) Jamieson, Alexander. (1819). *Grammar of Logic and Intellectual Philosophy*. Prinston University, p. 150.

- 14) <u>http://www.bbc.co.uk/religion/religions/atheism/types/rationalism.shtml</u>, Accessed May 2010.
- 15) Fisher, George Park. (1879). Faith and Rationalism. New York: Charles Scribners Sons, p. 20.
- 16) Lahori, Iqbal Mohammed. (1967). *The Revival of Religious Thought in Islam*. Translated by Ahmed Aram. Tehran: Nashr-e-Qalam, p. 5.
- 17) Intan, Benyamin Fleming. (2006–8). "Public Religion" and the Pancasila-Based State of Indonesia. New York: Peter Lang, p. 10.
- 18) Ibid., p. 10.
- 19) Ibid., p. 11.
- 20) www.bbcpersian.com, Accessed February 2010.

### Chapter 1:

- 1. Hofmann, Steven Ryan. (2004). Islam and Democracy: Micro-Level Indications of Compatibility. *Comparative Political Studies*. Volume 37, p. 652.
- 2. Fukuyama, Francis. (1992). *The end of history and the last man*. New York: Avon, p. 45.
- Hofmann, Steven Ryan. (2004). Islam and Democracy: Micro-Level Indications of Compatibility. Comparative Political Studies. Volume 37, p. 652.
- Esposito, John L. Voll, John O. (1996). *Islam and Democracy*. New York/Oxford: Oxford University Press, p. 30.
- Takeyh, R. (November/December 2001). Faith-based initiatives: Can Islam bring democracy to the Middle East? *Foreign Policy*, p. 68–70.
- 6. Fukuyama, Francis. (1992). *The End of History and The Last Man*. London: Penguin Books, p. 121.
- Held, David. (2001). *Models of Democracy*. Second Edition. Cambridge: Polity Press, p. 1.
- 8. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1997). *Modara va Moderiat (Adminstration and Tolerance)*. Tehran: Serat Cultural Institute, p. 378.
- 9. Held, David. (1996). Models of Democracy. Stanford, California: Stanford

University Press, p. 16.

- 10. Huntington, Samuel. (1993). *The Third Wave*. Oklahoma: University of Oklahoma Press, p. 6.
- 11. Ibid., p. 7.
- 12. Ibid., p. 7.
- 13. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1997). *Modara va Moderiat (Adminstration and Tolerance)*. Tehran: Serat Cultural Institute, p. 378.
- Gould, Carol C. (2004). *Globalising Democracy and Human Rights*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, p. 14.
- 15. Held, David. (1996). *Models of Democracy*. Stanford, California: Stanford University Press, p. 16.
- 16. Ibid., p. xii.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. (29 December 2006). Mawlana Balkhi and the Qur'an. A Speech at Kanoon Towhid. London.
- 18. <u>http://kadivar.com/?p=1276</u>, Accessed November 2011.
- Connolly, William E. (2008). Democracy, Pluralism and Political Theory. Abingdon, Oxon: Routledge, p. 15.
- 20. Ibid., p. 16.
- (1973) The New Caxton Encyclopaedia, Volume Six, London: The Caxton Publishing Company, p. 1858.
- 22. Fukuyama, Francis. (1992). *The End of History and The Last Man*. London: Penguin Books, p. xvii.
- 23. Ibid., p. 202.
- 24. Keane, John. (2009). *The Life and Death of Democracy*. London: Simon & Schuster UK Ltd, p. Xii.
- 25. Ibid., p. xxii–xxiii.
- 26. Ibid., p. xii.
- 27. Ibid., p. 841.
- 28. Ibid., p. 845.

- 29. Basheriah, Dr Hossein. (1995). *Dawlate Aql: Ten Chapters on Philosophy and Political Sociology*. Tehran: Moasesa Nashre Nawin, p. 212.
- 30. Ibid., pp. 211, 214.
- 31. The Qur'an, V.2:137, V.3:58.
- 32. Ibid., V.41:17, V.34:9, V.43:55, V.46:25.
- 33. Ibid., V.4:59.
- 34. *The Bible, Romans*, 13; 1–2.
- 35. Ledewitz, Bruce. (2007). American Religious Democracy: Coming to Terms with the End of Secular Politics. Westport, USA: Praeger Publisher, p. 49.
- 36. Ibid., p. 50.
- (November 1992) The Annals of The American Academy of Political and Social Science. SAGE Journals, Vol. 524, p. 27.
- 38. Hegel, George Wilhelm Friedrich. (1956–1965). Samtliche Werke, Jubilaumsausgabe in zwanzig Banden. Stuttgart-Bad Canstatt; here, XI 519. Cited as Werek.
- Weber, Max. (1958). The Protestant Ethic and the Spirit of Capitalism. New York: Published by Charles Scribner's Sons, p. 35.
- Lewis, Bernard. (1996). Islam and Democracy: A Historical Overview. *Journal of Democracy*. 7.2, p. 57.
- 41. Ibid., p. 57.
- 42. Tamimi, Azzam S. (1998). Islam and The Transition to Democracy: Prospects and Obstacles, A Study of The Political Thought of Rachid Ghannouchi. Thesis Submitted For The Degree of Doctor of Philosophy. The University of Westminster, p. 109.
- 43. Pazargod, Dr Baha`deen. (1969). *The History of Philosophy*, First Volume. Tehran: Zawwar Publications, p. 74.
- 44. Mernissi, Fatima. (1993). *Islam and Democracy: Fear of The Modern World*. Translated by Mary Jo Lakeland. London: Virago Press Limited, p. 45.
- 45. Ibid., p. 52.
- 46. Ibid., p. 43.

- 47. Ibid., pp. 85–87.
- Corcoran, Paul E. (1983). The Limits of Democratic Theory. In: Duncan, Graeme, (ed.) *Democratic Theory and Practice*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 13, 15.
- 49. Popper, Karl. (1966). *The Open Society and its Enemies*, Vols 1&2. London: Routledge & Kegan Paul, p. 1.
- 50. Corcoran, Paul E. (1983). *Democratic Theory and Practice*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, p. 15.
- 51. Lahori, Iqbal Mohammed. (1967). The Revival of Religious Thought in Islam. Translated by Ahmed Aram. Tehran: Nashr-e-Qalam, p. 169.

## **Chapter 2:**

- Roy, Olivier. (1994). *The Failure of Political Islam*. Translated by Carol Volk. London: I.B. Tauris Publishers, p. 174.
- Kurzman, Charles. (1998). *Liberal Islam*. New York/Oxford: Oxford University Press, p. 77.
- Esposito, John L. (1998). *Islam and Politics*. Syracuse/New York: Syracuse University Press, p. 128.
- 4. Halliday, Fred. (2003). *Islam and the Myth of Confrontation*. London/New York: I.B. Tauris Publishers, p. 62.
- (1983) Imam and the Clerics, A Collection of Imam Khomeini about the Clergies. Authored by the Political Office Revolutionary Guard. Tehran. p. 225–252.
- Esposito, John L. (1998). *Islam and Politics*. Syracuse, New York: Syracuse University Press, p. 83.
- Roy, Olivier. (1994). *The Failure of Political Islam*. Translated by Carol Volk. London: I.B. Tauris Publishers, p. 174.
- 8. Shariati, Ali. Writings Collection 22. p. 304. Writings Collection 9. p. 261.

- Roy, Olivier. (1994). *The Failure of Political Islam*. Translated by Carol Volk. London: I.B. Tauris Publishers, p. 174.
- Shariati, Ali. Writings Collections 12. p. 229. Shariati, Ali. Ommat Va Imamat, p. 200.
- Heart, Gary. (14 March 2007). Speech on World Security. British Library, London.
- 12. Ayatollah Montazeri. (1988). *The Jurisprudential Foundations of the Islamic Government*. Tehran. p. 93.
- 13. Ibid., p. 58-9.
- 14. Ledeen, Micheal A. and Lewis, William H. (1982). Carter and and the Fall of the Shah: The Inside Story. Translated by Naser Irani. Tehran: Institute of Amir Kabir Publications, p. 55.
- 15. Ibid., p. 34.
- 16. Ibid., pp. 54, 55.
- 17. Ibid., p. 66.
- 18. Ibid., pp. 63, 64.
- 19. Roy, Olivier. (1994). *The Failure of Political Islam*. Translated by Carol Volk. London: I.B. Tauris Publishers, p. 175.
- 20. Esposito, John L. (1998). *Islam and Politics*. Syracuse, New York: Syracuse University Press, p. 125.
- 21. http://www.iranchamber.com/, Accessed December 2008.
- 22. (June–July 1993) The Islamic World, Cultural Magazine, Vol. 6, Tehran.
- 23. Shariati Ali. (1980). Jehatgeiri Tabaghati Islam, Writing Collection 10, p. 87.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1997). Modara va Moderiat (Adminstration and Tolerance). Tehran: Published by Serat Cultural Institute, p. 23–47.
- 25. Menashri, David. (2001). *Post Revolutionary Politics in Iran*. London: Frank Cass Publisher, pp. 3, 13.
- 26. Ibid., pp. 14, 41
- 27. Roy, Olivier. (1994). *The Failure of Political Islam*. Translated by Carol Volk. London: I.B. Tauris Publishers, p. 176

- 28. Ibid., p. 177.
- 29. The Qur'an, V.4:62.
- Esposito, John L. (1992). *The Islamic Threat, Myth or Reality*? New York/Oxford: Oxford University Press, p. 107.
- Esposito, John L. Tamimi, Azam. (2000). Islam and Secularism in the Middle East. London: Hurst Company, p. 40.
- Roy, Olivier. (1994). *The Failure of Political Islam*. Translated by Carol Volk. London: I.B. Tauris Publishers, pp. 181, 199.
- 33. Popper, Karl. (1985). *The open Societies and its Enemies*. Translated in Farsi by Ezatullah Fuladwand, Tehran: Khwarazmi Publication, p. 11.
- Esposito, John L. Tamimi, Azam. (2000). Islam and Secularism in the Middle East. London: Hurst Company, p. 40.
- 35. Ibid., p. 41.
- 36. Ibid., p. 41.
- Roy, Olivier. (1994). *The Failure of Political Islam*. Translated by Carol Volk. London: I.B. Tauris Publishers, p. 177.
- Esposito, John L. and Voll, John O. (1996). *Islam and Democracy*. New York/Oxford. Oxford University Press, p. 64.
- Lewis, Bernard. (1993). *Islam and the West*. New York/Oxford: Oxford University Press, p. 155.
- 40. Roy, Olivier. (1994). *The Failure of Political Islam*. Translated by Carol Volk. London: I.B. Tauris Publishers, p. 171.
- 41. Menashri, David. (2000). *Post-Revolutionary Politics in Iran*. London: Frank Cass Publishers, p. 16.
- 42. Ibid., p. 22.
- 43. (May 2007). Islamic Republic of Iran Broadcast.
- 44. Roy, Olivier. (1994). *The Failure of Political Islam*. Translated by Carol Volk. London: I.B. Tauris Publishers, p. 179.
- 45. Halliday, Fred. (2003). *Islam and the Myth of Confrontation*. London/New York: I.B. Tauris & Co. Ltd, p. 45.

- 46. Ibid., p. 44.
- Oliver, Roy. (1994). *The Failure of Political Islam*. Translated by Carol Volk. London: I.B. Tauris Publishers, p. 199.
- 48. www.bbcpersian.com, Accessed 18 July 2009.

## **Chapter 3:**

- Soroush, Abdulkarim. Our Need of Religion. One of the Series of his Speeches on Religion. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1980). *In Which World Do We Live*. Tehran: Published by Toloe Azadi, p. 40.
- 3. Ibid., p. 40.
- 4. Ibid., p. 44.
- 5. Ibid., p. 45.
- 6. Ibid., p. 47.
- 7. Ibid., p. 48.
- 8. Ibid., p. 49.
- Soroush, Abdulkareem. (2000). *Reason, Freedom and Democracy in Islam*. Translated by Mahmoud & Ahmad Sadri. Oxford University Press, p. 122.
- 10. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1980). *In Which World Do We Live*. Tehran: Published by Toloe Azadi, p. 52.
- 11. The Qur'an, V.39:29, 49.
- 12. Shariati, Ali. Writings Collections 12, p. 229, Ommat Va Immamat, p. 200.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1980). In Which World Do We Live. Tehran: Published by Toloe Azadi, p. 59
- 14. Ibid., p. 66.
- 15. Soroush, Abdulkarim. Why We Need the Prophets. One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophets. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 16. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1997). *Modara va Moderiat (Adminstration and Tolerance)*. Tehran: Published by Serat Cultural Institute, p. 172.

- Soroush, Abdulkarim. Religion as a Human Subject. One of the Series of Speeches on Religion. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- Zarrincob, Abdulhussain. (1974). *The Value of Mystical Heritage*. Tehran: Amirkabir Publishing Institute, p. 34.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Expansion of Prophetic Experience (1). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophets. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 20. Ibid.
- 21. Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Expansion of Prophetic Experiences (2). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophets. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 22. The Qur'an, V.5:3.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. Religion and Reason. One of the Series of Speeches on Religion. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 24. Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Prophets, the Representatives of God, and The Emergence of the Prophet and Crisis of Identity, Series of Speeches on Religion. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 25. Soroush, Abdulkarim. Why We Need the Prophets. One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 26. Soroush Adulkarim. The Prophethood Finality, The Reasons for Welcoming the Prophets' Invitation (1). The Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 27. Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Reasons for Welcoming the Prophets' Invitation,(2). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. Prophethood, Educating, Healing, One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 29. Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Reasons for Welcoming the Prophets' Invitation,(2). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. Why We Need the Prophets (4). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

- 31. Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Reasons for Welcoming the Prophets' Invitation,(3). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 32. *The Qur'an*, V.3:85.
- 33. Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Reasons for Welcoming the Prophets' Invitation,(3). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 34. Ibid.
- 35. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2005). *Farbeh Tar Az Ideology (Bigger Than Ideology)*. Tehran: Serat Cultural Institute, p. 159.
- 36. Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Reasons for Welcoming the Prophets' Invitation,(9). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- Lahori, Iqbal Mohammed. (1967). *The Revival of Religious Thought in Islam*. Translated by Ahmed Aram. Tehran: Nashr-e-Qalam, p. 4.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1997). Modara va Moderiat (Adminstration and Tolerance). Tehran: Published by Serat Cultural Institute, p. 172–173.
- 39. Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Reasons for Welcoming the Prophets' Invitation,(5). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 40. Soroush, Abdulkarim. Following the Prophet. One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 41. Soroush, Abdulkarim. Prophethood, Educating, Healing. One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 42. The Qur'an, V.2:75, 85, V.451, 82.
- 43. Soroush, Abdulkarim. Prophethood, Educating, Healing, The Expansion of Prophetic Experience. Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 44. Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Reasons for Welcoming the Prophets' Invitation,(5). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural

Institute.

- 45. Soroush, Abdulkarim. Religion as a Human Subject. One of the Series of Speeches on Religion. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 46. Ibid.
- 47. Ibid.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1997). Modara va Moderiat (Adminstration and Tolerance). Tehran: Published by Serat Cultural Institute, p. 135–136, and Religion as a Human Subject. One of the Series of Speeches on Religion. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 49. Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Emergence of the Prophet and Crisis of Identity. One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 50. Lahori, Iqbal Mohammed. (1967). *The Revival of Religious Thought in Islam*. Translated by Ahmed Aram. Tehran: Nashr-e-Qalam, p. 8.
- 51. Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Expansion of Prophetic Experiences. (1). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Reasons for Welcoming the Prophets' Invitation, (10). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 53. Ibid.
- 54. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1997). *Modara va Moderiat (Adminstration and Tolerance)*. Tehran: Published by Serat Cultural Institute, p. 128.
- 55. Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Reasons for Welcoming the Prophets' Invitation,(8). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 56. Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Prophethood Finality. One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Prophethood Finality (2&3). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 58. YouTube.com, Accessed January 2009.

- 59. Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Prophets, the Representatives of God. One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. Religion as a Human Subject. One of the Series of Speeches on Religion. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. Our Need of Religion. One of the Series of Speeches on Religion. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- Zarrincob, Abdulhussain. (1974). *The Value of Mystical Heritage*. Tehran: Amirkabir Publishing Institute, p. 34–35.
- Carrincob, Abdulhussain. (1974). *The Value of Mystical Heritage*. Tehran: Amirkabir Publishing Institute, p. 70.
- 64. http://www.ghazali.org/articles/gz1.htm, Accessed February 2009.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1994). *Ghesseh-ye Arbāb-e Ma'refat* (The Story of the Lords of Wisdom). Tehran: Serat Cultural Institute, p. 104–5.
- 66. Ibid., pp. 102, 108, 127.
- 67. Ibid., p. 140-1.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1994). *Ghesseh-ye Arbāb-e Ma'refat* (The Story of the Lords of Wisdom). Tehran: Serat Cultural Institute, p. 142.
- 69. Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Emergence of the Prophet and Freedom. One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- Lahori, Iqbal Mohammed. (1967). *The Revival of Religious Thought in Islam*. Translated by Ahmed Aram. Tehran: Nashr-e-Qalam, p. 7.
- Zarrincob, Abdulhussain. (1974). *The Value of Mystical Heritage, The Value of Mystical Heritage*. Tehran: Amirkabir Publishing Institute, p. 34–35.
- 72. Ibid., p. 137.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. Religion and Reason. One of the Series of Speeches on Religion. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 74. Hafez, (2002). In four Languages, Farsi, English, French and German, Tehran: Farhangsaraie Meir Dashti Publisher, p. 9.
- Balkhi (Rumi), Mohammed Jalaluddin. (2000). *Masnawi Maanawi* Volume
  Provided by Reynold Nicholson. Tehran: Ghoghnos Publisher, p. 250–254.

- Balkhi (Rumi), Mohammed Jalaluddin. (2000). *Masnawi Manawi*. Provided by Reynold Nicholson. Tehran: Ghoghnos Publisher, p. 250–254.
- 77. Balkhi (Rumi), Mohammed Jalaluddin. (2000). *Masnawi Manawi*. Provided by Reynold Nicholson. Tehran: Ghoghnos Publisher, p. 250–254.
- 78. Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Emergence of the Prophet and Crisis of Identity. One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 79. Soroush, Abdulkarim. Why We Need the Prophets: Religion as a Human Subject. Series of Speeches on the Prophet and Religion. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- Mohagerani, Attaullah. Qur'an the Words of God. www.drsoroush.com. Accessed January 2010.
- 81. <u>http://www.seraj.org/montazer2.htm</u>, Accessed April 2009.
- Lahori, Iqbal Mohammed. (1967). *The Revival of Religious Thought in Islam*. Translated by Ahmed Aram. Tehran: Nashr-e-Qalam, p. 5.
- 83. Soroush, Abdulkarim. Religion and Reason, A speech on the Relation between Religion and Reason. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 84. Ibid.
- 85. Ibid.
- 86. Ibid.
- 87. Ibid.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. Our Need of Religion. A speech on the Relation between Religion and Reason. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. Islam as a Secular Religion. One of the Series of Speeches on Religion. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 90. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1992). Qabz va Bast-e Teoric Shari'at ya Nazariyehye Takāmol-e Ma'refat-e Dini (The Theory of Evolution of Religious Knowledge or- Text in Context). Tehran: Serat Cultural Institute, p. 85, & Religion as a Human Subject. A Speech on the Relation between Religion and Reason. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

- 91. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2005). *Farbeh Tar Az Ideology (Bigger Than Ideology)*. Tehran: Serat Cultural Institute, p. 371.
- 92. Ibid., p. 371.
- 93. Ibid., p. 375.
- 94. The Qur'an, V.15:9.
- 95. Fayaz, Ali. *Shariati Dictionary*. (1972). Tehran: Nashr Mehdi Publisher, p. 28.
- 96. Soroush, Abdulkarim. Why We Need the Prophets (4). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2005). Farbeh Tar Az Ideology (Bigger Than Ideology). Tehran: Serat Cultural Institute, p. 376.
- 98. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1997). *Modara va Moderiat (Adminstration and Tolerance)*. Tehran: Published by Serat Cultural Institute, p. 128.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2007). In Search of Unity between Shia and Sunn. A speech given in London. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 100.Soroush, Abdulkarim. In Search of Unity between Shia and Sunn. A speech given in London. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 101.Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2005). *Farbeh Tar Az Ideology (Bigger Than Ideology)*. Tehran: Serat Cultural Institute, p. 350.
- 102.Ibid., p. 351.
- 103.Ibid., p. 352.
- 104.Ibid., p. 356.
- 105.Ibid., p. 350–364.
- 106.Ibid., p. 350-364.
- 107.Ibid., p. 362.
- 108.Ibid., p. 363–4.

#### Chapter 4:

 Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2000). *Reason, Freedom and Democracy in Islam*. Translated by Mahmoud & Ahmad Sadri. Oxford University Press, p. 135.

- Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1997). Modara va Moderiat (Adminstration and Tolerance). Tehran: Published by Serat Cultural Institute, p. 209.
- 3. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1997). *Modara va Moderiat (Adminstration and Tolerance)*. Tehran: Published by Serat Cultural Institute, p. 373.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2000). *Reason, Freedom and Democracy in Islam*. Translated by Mahmoud & Ahmad Sadri. Oxford University Press, p. 122.
- 5. Ibid., p. 122.
- 6. Ibid., p. 122.
- 7. Aljazera English TV Channel, 27<sup>th</sup> June 2009.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2000). Reason, Freedom and Democracy in Islam. Translated by Mahmoud & Ahmad Sadri. Oxford University Press, p. 123– 125.
- 9. Ibid., p. 125.
- 10. Ibid., p. 125.
- 11. Ibid., p. 126.
- 12. Ibid., p. 128.
- Ibid., p. 128. Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Emergence of the Prophet and Crisis of Identity. One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1997). *Modara va Moderiat* (*Adminstration and Tolerance*). Tehran: Published by Serat Cultural Institute, p. 301–303.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Performance of the Religious Intellectuals and its Future. A Speech on Religious Intellectualism, Tehran, 26 October 2006. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 15. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1997). *Modara va Moderiat (Adminstration and Tolerance)*. Tehran: Published by Serat Cultural Institute, p. 18.
- 16. Ibid., p.70–79.
- 17. Ibid., p. 79–80.
- 18. Ibid., p. 135.
- 19. Ibid., p. 71.

- 20. Ibid., pp. 128, 149.
- 21. Ibid., pp. 140, 196–7.
- 22. Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Emergence of the Prophet and Crisis of Identity. One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 23. Soroush, Abdulkarim. Religion and Reason. One of the Series of Speeches on Religion. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute. Soroush, Abdulkarim. Religion as a Human Subject. One of the Series of Speeches on Religion. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. Religion and Reason. One of the Series of Speeches on Religion. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 25. <u>http://www.seraj.org/montazer2.htm</u>, Accessed May 2009.
- 26. <u>www.drsoroush.com</u>, Accessed June 2009.
- 27. Soroush, Abdulkarim. Religion as a Human Subject. One of the Series of Speeches on Religion. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 28. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (August–October 1994). 'A deliberation on the Relation between Religion and Democracy'. *Keyan Magazine*. Tehran: Volume 21.
- 29. Ibid.
- 30. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1997). *Modara va Moderiat (Adminstration and Tolerance)*. Tehran: Published by Serat Cultural Institute, p. 206.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim, (August–October 1994). Keyan Magazine. Tehran: Volume 21.
- 32. Ibid.
- 33. Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Prophethood Finality. One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute. The Reasons for Welcoming the Prophets' Invitation, (8). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 34. Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Reasons for Welcoming the Prophets' Invitation,(8). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural

Institute.

- 35. http://www.thetablet.co.uk/article/6569, Accessed June 2009.
- 36. دموکر اسي، عدالت، بنیادگر ایی و روشنفکری دینی در گفت و گو با سروش .36 drsoroush.com, Accessed June 2009.
- 37. دموكراسي، عدالت، بنيادگرايي و روشنفكري ديني در گفت و گو با سروش drsoroush.com, Accessed June 2009.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1997). Modara va Moderiat (Adminstration and Tolerance). Tehran: Published by Serat Cultural Institute, pp. 63, 151, 152, 209, 211, 298, 302.
- 39. Ibid., p. 299.
- 40. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (September 1994). *Keyan Magazine*. Tehran: Volume 21.
- 41. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2000). *Reason, Freedom and Democracy in Islam*. Translated by Mahmoud & Ahmad Sadri. Oxford University Press, p. 126.
- 42. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1990). Wisdom, Intellectualism and Religious Conviction. Tehran: Serat Cultural Institute, p. 155–156.
- 43. Ibid., p. 153–154.
- 44. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (September 1994). *Keyan Magazine*. Tehran: Volume 21.
- 45. The Qur'an, V.2:25.
- 46. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (September 1994). *Keyan Magazine*. Tehran: Volume 21.
- 47. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1997). *Modara va Moderiat (Adminstration and Tolerance)*. Tehran: Published by Serat Cultural Institute, p. 355
- 48. Ibid., pp. 10, 18, 19.
- 49. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2000). *Reason, Freedom and Democracy in Islam*. Translated by Mahmoud & Ahmad Sadri. Oxford University Press, p. 148.
- 50. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (September 1994). *Keyan Magazine*. Tehran: Volume 21 & Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2000). Reason, Freedom and Democracy in

Islam. Translated by Mahmoud & Ahmad Sadri. Oxford University Press, p. 146–7.

- 51. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1997). *Modara va Moderiat (Adminstration and Tolerance)*. Tehran: Published by Serat Cultural Institute, p. 356.
- 52. Ibid., p. 379.
- 53. Ibid., pp. 205, 372–3.
- 54. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (September 2007). The Antagonist Secularism. A speech given in Paris. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 55. Ibid.
- 56. Ibid.
- 57. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1997). *Modara va Moderiat (Adminstration and Tolerance)*. Tehran: Published by Serat Cultural Institute, p. 374.
- 58. Ibid., p. 301.
- 59. Ibid., p. 302.
- 60. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (September 2007). The Antagonist Secularism. A speech given in Paris. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 61. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (September 1994). *Keyan Magazine*. Tehran: Volume 21.
- 62. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2005). Islam and the Challenges of Democracy. A Speech given at Sorbonne University, Paris: MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 63. Ibid.
- 64. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (September 1994). *Keyan Magazine*. Tehran: Volume 21.
- 65. Ibid.
- 66. Ibid.
- 67. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2007). In Search of Unity between the Shia and Sunni. A speech given in London. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2002). Democracy (1). A speech given on November. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

- 68. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2005). Islam and the Challenges of Democracy. A Speech given at Sorbonne University, Paris: MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 69. Ibid.
- 70. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2002). Democracy (1). One of the Series of Speeches on Democracy. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 71. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (September 1994). *Keyan Magazine*. Tehran: Volume 21.
- 72. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1997). *Modara va Moderiat (Adminstration and Tolerance)*. Tehran: Published by Serat Cultural Institute, p. 207–8.
- 73. Ibid., pp. 205, 208, 209, 212, 213.
- 74. Ibid., p. 360–1.
- 75. Ibid., p. 374.
- 76. Ibid., p. 370.
- 77. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2000). *Reason, Freedom and Democracy in Islam*. Translated by Mahmoud & Ahmad Sadri. Oxford University Press, p. 126.
- 78. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2005). Islam and the Challenges of Democracy. A Speech given at Sorbonne University, Paris: MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 79. Motahari, Morteza, (1998). *Familiarity with Qur'an, Third Edition*. Tehran: Sadra Publisher, p. 228.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1994). Farbeh Tar Az Ideology (Bigger Than Ideology). Tehran: Serat Cultural Institute, p. 9.
- 81. Ibid., p. 75.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2000). *Reason, Freedom and Democracy in Islam*.
  Translated by Mahmoud & Ahmad Sadri. Oxford University Press, p. 135.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2002). Democracy (1). One of the Series of Speeches on Democracy. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 84. Ibid.
- 85. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1997). *Modara Va Moderiat (Adminstration and Tolerance)*. Tehran: Published by Serat Cultural Institute, p. 355.

- 86. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2000). *Reason, Freedom and Democracy in Islam*. Translated by Mahmoud & Ahmad Sadri. Oxford University Press, p. 146.
- 87. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1990). Wisdom, Intellectualism and Religious Conviction. Tehran: Serat Cultural Institute, p. 153–4.
- 88. Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Emergence of the Prophet and Crisis of Identity. One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 89. Soroush, Abdulkarim. Religion and Reason. A speech on the Relation between Religion and Reason. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 90. Ibid.
- 91. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1997). *Modara Va Moderiat (Adminstration and Tolerance)*. Tehran: Published by Serat Cultural Institute, p. 373.
- 92. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2000). *Reason, Freedom and Democracy in Islam*. Translated by Mahmoud & Ahmad Sadri. Oxford University Press, p. 126.
- 93. www.bbcpersian.co.uk, Accessed January 2010.
- 94. Ibid., Accessed January 2010.
- 95. www.drsoroush.com, Accessed January 2010.
- 96. www.bbcpersian.co.uk, Accessed January 2010.
- 97. Ibid., Accessed January 2010.
- 98. Ibid., Accessed January 2010.

### Conclusion

- 1. *The Qur'an*, V.4:59.
- Bashiria, Hussein. (1999). Liberalism and Conservatism, The History of Political Thought in the 20<sup>th</sup> Century. Volume 2, Tehran: Ney Publisher, p. 19.
- God and the Scientists, Christianity: A History Series 1 Episode 7, (Sunday 22 February 2009). A Programme on Channel 4.

- Al Ghannochi, Rachid. (19 Jan. 1992). 'Islam and Freedom can be Friends'. *The Observer*, p.18.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2005). Islam and the Challenges of Democracy. A Speech given at Sorbonne University, Paris. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. (29 December 2006). Mawlana Balkhi and the Qur'an. A speech given at Kanoon Towhid, London. <u>www.drsoroush.com</u>, Accessed December 2009.
- 7. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1997). *Modara va Moderiat (Adminstration and Tolerance)*. Tehran: Published by Serat Cultural Institute, p. 378.
- 8. *The Qur'an*, V.3:85.
- Al Ghannochi, Rachid. (19 Jan. 1992). 'Islam and Freedom can be Friends'. *The Observer*, p.18.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. (August-October 1994). 'A Deliberation on the Relation Between Religion and Democracy' *Keyan Magazine*. Tehran: Volume 21.
- 11. Ibid.
- 12. Ibid.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. (November 2002). Islam and the Challenges of Democracy. A Speech on Islam and Democracy. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. Why We Need the Prophets. One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophets. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- 15. Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1997). Modara va Moderiat (Adminstration and Tolerance). Tehran: Published by Serat Cultural Institute, p. 374. & Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Emergence of the Prophet and Crisis of Identity. One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.
- Soroush, Abdulkarim. (26<sup>th</sup> October 2006). The Record of the Religious Intellectuals and their Future. A Speech Given on Religious Intellectualism. <u>http://www.drsoroush.com/Lectures-85.htm</u>. Accessed June 2010.

# **Bibliography**

# **Books:**

Balkhi (Rumi), Mohammed Jalaluddin. (2000). *Masnawi Manawi*. Provided by Reynold Nicholson. Tehran: Ghoghnos Publisher.

Basheriah, Dr Hossein. (1995). *Dawlate Aql: Ten Chapters on Philosophy and Political Sociology*. Tehran: Published by Moasesa Nashre Nawin.

Bashiria, Hussein. (1999). Liberalism and Conservatism, The History of Political Thought in the 20<sup>th</sup> Century. Volume 2. Tehran: Ney Publisher.

Benyamin, Fleming Intan. (2006-8). "Public Religion" and the Pancasila-Based State of Indonesia. New York: Peter Lang Publisher.

The Bible, Romans.

Connolly, William E. (2008). *Democracy, Pluralism and Political Theory*. Abingdon, Oxon: Published by Routledge.

Esposito, John L. and Voll, John O. (1996). *Islam and Democracy*. New York/Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Esposito, John L. and Voll, John O. (2001). *Makers of Contemporary Islam*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Esposito, John L. and Voll, John O. (1996). *Islam and Democracy*. New York/Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Esposito, John L. & Tamimi, Azam. (2000). *Islam and Secularism in the Middle East*. London: Hurst Company.

Esposito, John L. (1998). *Islam and Politics*. Syracuse, New York: Syracuse University Press.

Esposito, John L. (1992). *The Islamic Threat, Myth or Reality?* New York/Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Fayaz, Ali. (1972). Shariati Dictionary. Tehran: Nashr Mehdi Publisher.

Fisher, George Park. (1879). Faith and Rationalism. New York: Charles Scribners Sons,

Fukuyama, Francis. (1992). *The End of History and The Last Man*. London: Penguin Books.

Ghannochi, Rachid Al. (1992). Islam and Freedom can be Friends. The Observer.

Gould, Carol C. (2004). *Globalising Democracy and Human Rights*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Halliday, Fred. (2003). *Islam and the Myth of Confrontation*. London/New York: I.B. Tauris & Co. Ltd.,

Hegel, George Wilhelm Friedrich. (1956-1965). *Samtliche Werke, Jubilaumsausgabe in zwanzig Banden*. Stuttgart-Bad Canstatt.

Held, David. (2000). Models of Democracy. Second Edition. Cambridge: Polity Press.

Held, David. (1996). *Models of Democracy*. Stanford, California: Stanford University Press.

Huntington, Samuel. (1993). The Third Wave. Oklahoma: University of Oklahoma Press.

*Imam and the Clerics*, (1983). A Collection of Imam Khomeini about the Clergies. Authored by the Political Office Revolutionary Guard, Tehran.

Jamieson, Alexander. (1819). Grammar of Logic and Intellectual Philosophy. Prinston University,

Keane, John. (2009). *The Life and Death of Democracy*. London: Simon & Schuster UK Ltd.

Kurzman, Charles. (1998). Liberal Islam. New York/Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Lahori, Iqbal Mohammed. (1967). *The Revival of Religious Thought in Islam*. Translated by Ahmed Aram. Tehran: Nashr-e-Qalam.

Ledewitz, Bruce. (2007). American Religious Democracy, Coming to Terms with the End of Secular Politics. Westport, USA: Praeger Publisher.

Lewis, Bernard. (1996). Islam and Democracy. A Historical Overview. Journal of Democracy 7.2.

Lewis, Bernard. (1993). Islam and the West. New York/Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Lewis, Michel Ludin-William. (1982). *Carter and Fall of Shah*, A First Hand Report. Tehran: Translated by Naser Irani. Institute of Amir Kabir Publication.

Menashri, David. (2001). Post-Revolutionary Politics in Iran. London: Frank Cass Publisher.

Menashri, David. (2000). Post-Revolutionary Politics in Iran. London: Frank Cass Publishers.

Mernissi, Fatima. (1993). *Islam and Democracy; Fear of The Modern World*. Translated by Mary Jo Lakeland. London: Virago Press Limited.

Ayatollah Montazeri. (1988). The Jurisprudential Foundations of the Islamic Government, Tehran.

Motahari, Morteza. (1998). Familiarity with Qur'an, Third Edition. Tehran: Sadra Publisher.

Corcoran, Paul E. (1983). "The Limits of Democratic Theory," in Graeme Duncan, ed. *Democratic Theory and Practice*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Pazargod, Dr Baha'deen. (1969). The History of Philosophy. First Volume. Tehran:

Zawwar Publication.

Popper, Karl. (1966). *The Open Society and its Enemies*, Vols 1&2. London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.

Popper, Karl. (1985). *The Open Societies and its Enemies*. Tehran: Translated into Farsi by Ezatullah Fuladwand.

The Qur'an.

Roy, Olivier. (1994). *The Failure of Political Islam*. Translated by Carol Volk, London: I.B. Tauris Publishers.

Roy, Olivier. (2007). *Secularism confronts Islam*. Translated by George Holoch. New York: Colombia University Press.

Shariati, Ali. (1980). Jehatgeiri Tabaghati Islam, Majmoa Asare 10.

Shariati, Ali. Ommat Va Immamat.

Shariati, Ali. Writings Collection 22.

Shariati, Ali. Writings Collection 9.

Shariati, Ali. Writings Collections 12.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2000). *Reason, Freedom and Democracy In Islam*. Translated by Mahmoud & Ahmad Sadri. Oxford University Press.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. (August-October 1994). A deliberation on the Relation between Religion and Democracy. Keyan Magazine, Tehran: Volume 21.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2005). *Farbeh Tar Az Ideology (Bigger Than Ideology)*. Tehran: Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1994). *Ghesseh-ye Arbāb-e Ma'refat\_(The Story of the Lords of Wisdom)*. Tehran: Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1980). In Which World Do We Live. Tehran: Published by Toloe

Azadi.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1997). *Modara va Moderiat (Adminstration and Tolerance)*. Tehran: Published by Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1992). *Qabz va Bast-e Teoric Shari'at - ya Nazariyeh-ye Takāmol-e Ma'refat-e Dini (The Theory of Evolution of Religious Knowledge or- Text in Context)*. Tehran: Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. (1990). *Wisdom, Intellectualism and Religious Conviction*. Tehran: Serat Cultural Institute.

Tamimi Azzam S. (1998). Islam and The Transition to Democracy Prospects and Obstacles, A Study of The Political Thought of Rachid Ghannouchi, Thesis Submitted For The Degree of Doctor of Philosophy. The University of Westminster.

The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, Vol. 524, November 1992

The Islamic World, Cultural Magazine, Vol. 6, (June–July 1993). Tehran.

*The New Caxton Encyclopaedia*, Volume Six. (1973). London: The Caxton Publishing Company.

Weber, Max. (1958). Protestant Ethic and the Spirit of Capitalism. New York.

Zarrincob Abdulhussain. (1974). *The Value of Mystical Heritage*. Tehran: Amirkabir Publishing Institute.

## **Speeches**

Soroush, Abdulkarim. Our Need of Religion. One of the Series of his Speeches on Religion. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. Why We Need the Prophets. One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophets. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. Why We Need the Prophets (4). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophets. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. Religion as a Human Subject. One of the Series of Speeches on Religion. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Expansion of Prophetic Experience (1). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophets. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Expansion of Prophetic Experiences (2). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophets. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. Religion and Reason. One of the Series of Speeches on Religion. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Prophets, the Representatives of God. One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophets. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Emergence of the Prophet and Crisis of Identity. One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophets. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Prophethood Finality. One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophets. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Reasons for Welcoming the Prophets' Invitation. One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophets. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Reasons for Welcoming the Prophets' Invitation (2). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophets. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. Prophethood, Educating, Healing. One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Reasons for Welcoming the Prophets' Invitation (3). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Reasons for Welcoming the Prophets' Invitation (5). One of

the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Reasons for Welcoming the Prophets' Invitation (8). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Reasons for Welcoming the Prophets' Invitation (9). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Reasons for Welcoming the Prophets' Invitation (10). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. Following the Prophet. One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Expansion of Prophetic Experiences (1). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Prophethood Finality (2). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. The Prophethood Finality (3). One of the Series of Speeches on the Prophet. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. Religion and Reason. A speech on the Relation between Religion and Reason. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. Islam as a Secular Religion. One of the Series of Speeches on Religion. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2007). In Search of Unity Between Shia and Sunn, A speech given in London. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. (26 October 2006). The Performance of the Religious Intellectuals and its Future. Tehran: A Speech on Religious Intellectualism. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. (September 2007). The Antagonist Secularism. A Speech Given in Paris. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. (2005). Islam and the Challenges of Democracy. A Speech Given at Sorbonne University, Paris. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. (November 2002). Democracy (1). A Speech Given on Democracy. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. Religion and Reason. A Speech on the Relation between Religion and Reason. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

Soroush, Abdulkarim. (29 December 2006). Mawlana Balkhi and the Qur'an. Kanoon Towhid, London. MP3 CD, Serat Cultural Institute.

# Websites

http://www.seraj.org/biog.htm

http://www.iranchamber.com/

YouTube.com

http://www.ghazali.org/articles/gz1.htm

http://www.seraj.org/montazer2.htm

www.drsoroush.com

http://www.bbc.co.uk/religion/religions/atheism/types/rationalism.shtml

http://kadivar.com/?p=1276

# Miscellaneous

Aljazera English TV Channel, 27<sup>th</sup> June 2009.

God and the Scientists, Christianity: A History Series 1 Episode 7, a Programme on Channel 4, Sunday 22 February 2009.

Hofmann, Steven Ryan. Islam and Democracy: Micro-Level Indications of Compatibility. *Comparative Political Studies*, 2004.

Islamic Republic of Iran Broadcast, May 2007.

Heart, Gary. (14 March 2007). Speech on the World Security. British Library. London.

aban 1386, drsoroush.com. دموکر اسي، عدالت، بنیادگر ایی و روشنفکری دینی در گفت و گو با سروش

aban 1386, drsoroush.com. دموکر اسی، عدالت، بنیادگر ایی و روشنفکری دینی در گفت و گو با سروش

Takeyh, R. (November/December 2001). Faith-based initiatives: Can Islam bring democracy to the Middle East? *Foreign Policy*.